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tCl Communication technology Holdings 
limited (the “tCl Communication” or the 
“Company”) together with its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group”) designs, manufactures 
and markets an expanding portfolio of mobile 
and internet products worldwide under two key 
brands - AlCAtel one touCH and tCl. the 
Group’s portfolio of products is currently sold 
in China and over 120 countries throughout 
the Americas, europe, the Middle east, Africa 
and Asia. tCl Communication operates its 
highly efficient manufacturing plants and r&D 
centres in various provinces of China with 
headquarters in Shenzhen, China. Currently, 
tCl Corporation (the “tCl Corp.”) is the Group’s 
largest shareholder.
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For more information, please visit the Group’s website: http://tclcom.tcl.com
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Revenue
(HK$ Million)

2011 2012

12,031

+13%10,653
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Financial 
Highlights

FinAnCiAl SuMMArY
(HK’000) 2012 2011 Change

revenue 12,031,212 10,653,020 13%

Gross profit 2,096,575 2,328,231 -10%

Gross profit margin(%) 17% 22% -5%

(loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent (207,840) 799,934 n/A

Basic (loss)/earning per share (HK cents) (18.49) 72.83 n/A

FinAnCiAl poSition
(HK’000) 2012 2011 Change

property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments 773,943 682,576 13%

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits 5,190,914 7,279,048 -29%

net current assets 606,360 938,661 -35%

total liabilities 10,998,207 11,353,748 -3%

interest bearing bank and other borrowings 6,468,788 7,532,216 -14%

net assets 2,322,626 2,673,071 -13%

KeY FinAnCiAl inDiCAtorS
  2012 2011 Change

inventory turnover (days) * 30 26 15%

trade receivable turnover (days) ** 87 89 -2%

Current ratio (times)*** 1.07 1.12 -4%

* only including factory materials and goods
** excluding factored trade receivables
*** excluding renminbi (“rMB”) foreign exchange program 

Financial 
Highlights
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2012
year in review

T C L  C O M M U N I C A T I O N  T E C H N O L O G Y  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

JANUARY
tCl e906 smartphone had 
been successfully bid in 
China Mobile’s 2012 first G3 
smart terminal centralized 
procurement. the Group 
participated CeS in las 
Vegas.

FEBRUARY
the Group launched its first 
3.5-inch QQ smartphone 
tCl A966 and cooporated 
Sohu to launch tCl A998 
smartphone. the Group 
participated MWC in 
Barcelona.
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MAY
the Group sponsored le 
tour de France for the 
second year.

SEPTEMBER
unveiled tCl S500 at the 
China unicom’s launching 
ceremony for new 3G 
dual-core smartphones in 
Xi’an. the Group participated 
iFA 2012 in Berlin, and 
sponsored la Vuelta 2012 in 
September for the second 
consecutive year.

DECEMBER
tCl Branding event was 
held in D.park, Beijing on 
4 December 2012.

MARCH
AlCAtel one touCH 916 
won the ‘red Dot Award: 
product Design 2012’ in 
Germany, marking the 
second consecutive year in 
which the Group won this 
internationally recognized 
award.
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Mr. LI Dongsheng

Dear Shareholders,

in 2012, we were in the transition period and faced a lot of challenges, including the 
unfavourable global economic environment, the fast and dynamic technology upgrade 
of the handset industry, and the intensified competition in the market and so forth. these 
factors adversely affected our sales and gross profit margin on one hand, and on the 
other hand we adhered to the well-proven ‘Step-up’ product strategy through steadily 
investing in our research and development (“r&D”), and expanded our effort in both brand 
building and product marketing. As a result, we recorded a net loss of HK$220 million in 
2012. However, i am very pleased to report that several breakthroughs in our smartphone 
business have been achieved during the previous year and i am still very confident that 
the company will persistently deliver value for the shareholders in the long run.

Significant Progress in Smartphone Business

During the year under review, the smartphone sector remained the focus of the handset 
industry as smartphones became increasingly popular in both the developing and mature 
markets. our “Step-up” strategy of focusing on smartphone business paid off as the total 
sales of smartphones and other smart devices rose by 375% year-on-year to 6.5 million 
units, accounting for 15% of the Group’s total shipment, up from the 3% in 2011. the 
increase in smart product shipments had effectively boosted the overall average selling 
price (“ASp”) per unit to uS$36.2 during the year under review, up from uS$31.3 in the 
previous year. As a result, the Group’s overall revenue in 2012 increased by 13% to HK$12 
billion, and the revenue contributed by smartphones and other smart devices reached 
43% of the Group’s total revenue, up from 12% in 2011.

Breakthroughs in Product Development

in 2012, the Group enriched its product mix by rolling out 26 new models of smartphones. 
these smartphones which are equipped with innovative features, together with other new 
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smart device products, effectively enhanced brand recognition and the Group’s market 
presence. A number of smartphone models were selected by global 1st-tier operators, and 
we have become a real global smartphone supplier. With a series of smartphones with 
excellent quality launched to the market, all of the key clients trust us as a qualified 3G 
smartphone manufacturer and set up strategic partnership with us.

in March 2012, our product AlCAtel one touCH 916 won the ‘red Dot Award: product 
Design 2012’ in Germany, marking the second consecutive year in which the Group won 
this internationally recognized award. in october 2012, we launched tCl S606, our first 
smartphone with Windows 7.5 operating System, which effectively supplemented the 
current product portfolio. in addition, we facilitated the users to enjoy better experience 
by equipping our products with liquid-repellent nano-coating technology, such as the 
popular models of tCl S800 and tCl S600. in 2013, we will stick to our mission: offering 
our customers innovation and quality in mobile technology at the best price. We promised 
to make our products technology simple and accessible, and enable users to do more.

Market Development with Robust Smartphone Growth

revenue in europe, the Middle east and Africa (“eMeA”) grew by 17% year-on-year (“yoy”) 
to HK$4.5 billion, although shipment decreased by 7% yoy to 15.2 million units. With our 
efforts in promoting the sales of smartphone products in the open market, shipment and 
revenue of smartphones and other smart devices accounted for 18% and 49% in this 
region, increased from 2% and 9% in 2011 respectively.

in Americas, both shipment and revenue slightly decreased by 1% yoy, to 19.1 million units 
and HK$5.1 billion respectively. Because feature phone market was gradually replaced 
by the entry-level smartphone, shipment and revenue of smartphones and other smart 
devices accounted for 7% and 25% in 2012 in this region, increased from 2% and 8% in 
2011 respectively.

During the year under review, the shipment of ApAC region reached 2.5 million units, 
down by 14% yoy. nevertheless, the revenue increased by 27% to HK$817 million. the 
significant growth of smartphone in ApAC region made up 28% of the ApAC’s total 
shipment and 53% of its revenue, up from 3% and 11% respectively.

China remained our fastest growing market in 2012. Sales volume grew by 13% to 5.8 
million units while the revenue surged 60% to HK$1.6 billion due to the successful launch 
of new products and the expansion of our distribution network. the shipment and revenue 
of smartphones respectively accounted for 31% and 80% of the total shipment and revenue 
in the region, increased from 8% and 34% in 2011 respectively.
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Growth Drivers in the Future

With the future economic uncertainty, unfavourable business environment and fierce 
competition, the year of 2013 will remain challenging for us in both China and overseas 
markets. We are poised to focus on optimizing product structure and r&D processes, 
elevating the efficiency of product r&D in order to speed up the product time-to-market, 
improving the product quality and users’ satisfaction.

While focusing our efforts on product development, we will also foster growth drivers. 
For instance, we will boost the smartphone shipment in various markets and upgrade 
our smartphones from entry-level to mid-end. With the increased sales volume and 
ASp of mid-end products, we are expecting a healthier gross margin to be seen in the 
foreseeable future.

in 2013, we have geared up to further strengthen cooperation with major component 
suppliers, improve our operation efficiency, and exercise a more cautious control on cost 
and expenditure with a major focus on the development of key products, in order to tap 
emerging opportunities in the telecommunication market for business growth with a view 
to generate better returns to the shareholders.

on behalf of the Board of Directors, i would like to express my gratitude to our 
shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners for their unwavering support. 
Also, i would like to thank the Board, management and staff for their wholehearted 
commitment.

LI Dongsheng

Chairman

26 February 2013
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

•	 Sales	 volume	 of	 handsets	 and	 accessories	 in	 2012	 totaled	 42.6	 million	 units,	 down	 2%	 year-on-year	 (YoY);	 the	
fourth quarter sales volume up 2% YoY to 13.4 million units.

•	 Revenue	in	2012	increased	by	13%	YoY	to	HK$	12	billion;	gross	profit	margin	decreased	by	5%	to	17%.

•	 Sales	volume	of	smartphones	and	other	smart	devices	in	2012	increased	by	375%	to	6.5	million	units.

•	 Overall	average	selling	price	(“ASP”)	increased	from	US$	31.3	in	2011	to	US$	36.2	in	2012.

•	 Net	loss	of	HK$	220	million	was	recorded	in	2012.	Basic	loss	per	share	in	2012	was	18.49	HK	cents.

INDUSTRY OvERvIEw

throughout 2012 the european debt crises, economic slowdown in emerging markets and uncertainty in the recovery of 
the economy in the united States continued to affect the global economy. these challenging macroeconomic conditions 
undermined the overall growth of the global handset market, creating an unfavorable environment for the handset 
manufacturing industry. At the same time, more competitors emerged in the market, which intensified the competition 
and downward pressure on the average selling prices and margins of handset products.

Although the handset industry was adversely affected by many unfavorable factors, smartphone sales remained strong 
throughout the year under review, as it became increasingly popular in both the developing and mature markets. 
According to the latest research by Gartner, China accounted for 26% of the world’s smartphone shipments in 2012, 
compared to 17% from the united States. in 2012, the aggregate number of 3G service subscribers for China’s three major 
telecommunication operators reached 234 million, up 79% year-on-year. the rapidly growing 3G community boosted 
the development of smartphone industry, which made the smartphones affordable, bringing about a surging demand 
for both entry-level and mid-market models. in other emerging markets, entry-level users consistently upgraded their 
handsets, which contributed to stable growth there.

Whilst the smartphone market continued to grow at a good rate in China and other emerging markets, the global 
smartphone market grew at a slower pace in 2012, mainly due to the uncertain economic environment and intensifying 
competition. A surge in the number of smartphone products available on the market further restricted the pricing power 
of manufacturers.

BUSINESS REvIEw

in 2012, tCl Communication technology Holdings limited (“tCl Communication” or “the Group”) faced many challenges 
caused by the uncertain global economy, product transition and intensified competition in the handset market. to 
cope with this industry trend, the Group continued to focus on developing its smartphone business and stepped up 
its investment and efforts in research and development (“r&D”), brand building and marketing. As a result the group 
successfully recorded steady and healthy growth in the sales volume of smartphones and other smart devices.

in total sales of smartphones and other smart devices rose by 375% to 6.5 million units in 2012, accounting for 15.3% 
of the Group’s total shipment, compared to 3.2% in the previous year. the increase in smartphone shipment had the 
additional effect of boosting the overall average selling price (“ASp”) per unit to uS$36.2 during the year under review, up 
from uS$31.3 in the previous year, which increased the Group’s overall revenue in 2012 by 13% to HK$12 billion.

However, as the majority of Group’s smartphone and other smart devices at present consist of entry-level smartphones, 
a market segment where competition is extremely fierce, selling prices are currently under extraordinary pressure. in 
addition, the sales volume of the Group’s smartphones has not yet reached an economy of scale, which has resulted in 
lower gross profit margins for smartphones. At the same time, due to the global trend of feature phones being replaced 
by entry-level smartphones, both the ASp and gross margin for feature phones have also decreased dramatically. 
Affected by the above, the Group’s overall gross margin dropped by 5% from 22% to 17%.

to capture the opportunities in the growing smartphone market, and especially those in emerging markets where the 
demand for low-to-medium priced smartphones is strong, the Group has been persistently implementing its “Step-
up” product strategy. this consists predominantly of stepping up investment in r&D to upgrade its r&D capabilities and 
to speed up the time-to-market for product development. in 2012, the Group’s smartphone products were launched in 
various markets and operators with highly customized software and user interfaces. these smartphones succeeded in 
meeting the highest quality standard of the industry. As a result, r&D expenses increased by 61% to HK$740 million.
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the Group also expanded its efforts in brand building, product marketing and promotional activities to facilitate the 
expansion of its smartphone business in both China and overseas markets. numerous marketing events were carried out 
to enhance brand awareness. For example, the Group sponsored the world famous cycling event “tour de France” during 
the summer of 2012 for the second consecutive year, and received great response for this. Besides, the number of points 
of sales in China increased from 3,000 as at the end of 2011 to over 8,000 by the end of 2012. therefore, the Group’s 
sales and distribution expenses also rose by 33% to HK$1,154 million.

As a result of the above reasons, the Group recorded a net loss of HK$220 million attributable to owners of the parent 
company in 2012.

However, despite the unfavorable handset market, the Group ranked no.7 globally in terms of handset sales volume in 
2012, according to international research firm in the technology sector, Gartner. the Group’s close cooperation with the 
leading global telecommunication operators also proved the Group’s strong market position in the industry. During the 
year under review, the Group enriched its product mix by developing more smartphones, and a total of 26 models were 
launched in the market. these smartphones which were equipped with innovative features, together with other new 
feature phone products, effectively enhanced brand recognition and the Group’s market presence.

Geographical breakdown of revenue
 Sales of Handsets and Other Products
 For the year ended 31 December
(HK$ Million) 2012 2011 Change (%)
 

eMeA 4,482 3,823 +17%
Americas 5,116 5,179 –1%
ApAC 817 641 +27%
China 1,616 1,010 +60%
total 12,031 10,653 +13%
including: smartphones and other smart devices 5,191 1,182 +339%

Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”)
During the year under review, shipments of handsets and other products to eMeA totaled 15.2 million units, down by 7%. 
the weakened market demand was brought by the political instability in the Middle east and the european debt crisis. 
Yet the revenue from the Group’s sales in the region grew by 17% to HK$4.5 billion on the back of its efforts in to promote 
the sales of smartphone products in the open market, as well as the encouraging sales performance of the smartphones 
cooperated with first-tier operators in europe. the Group continued to facilitate the customers’ shift from feature phones 
to smartphones and significantly increased its penetration into the smartphone market with the launch of new products 
supported by various marketing campaigns. Sales volume of smartphones and other smart devices accounted for around 
18% of the Group’s sales in the region during the year under review, compared with 2% in 2011, while revenue of the 
smartphones and other smart devices accounted for 49% in 2012, increased from 9% in 2011.

the smartphone markets were gradually expanding, especially in Germany, France, italy and russia. in terms of sales 
volume, the Group ranked fourth in russia. Several smartphone models, such as those with 4”-4.3” displays were well-
received by the market. During the year, the Group also expanded into new markets like Angola, Kenya and romania. in 
addition to the operator market, the Group made great efforts to explore open market in eMeA, where a number of new 
customers were developed.
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in 2013, the Group will continue to develop open market for smartphones while sustaining a healthy growth with 
operators, and continue to increase its brand awareness through product improvement and participation in different 
trade fairs.

Americas
Shipment of handsets and other products to the Americas during the year under review dropped by 1% to 19.1 million 
units, while revenue decreased by 1% to HK$5.1 billion. Sales volume of smartphones and other smart devices accounted 
for around 7% of the Group’s sales in the region during the year under review, compared with 2% in 2011, while revenue 
of the smartphones and other smart devices accounted for 25% in 2012, increased from 8% in 2011.

the weaker performance in these markets is mainly attributable to the comparatively slow economic recovery and the 
aggressive pricing policy of competitors. Although feature phones are still very popular in the Americas region, the feature 
phone market was observed to be replaced by the entry-level smartphone market gradually.

AlCAtel one touCH was a leading handset brand in latin America and Caribbean area in 2012. it ranked second in 
Colombia and fourth in latin America. During the past year, the Group also increased its presence in markets such as 
Cuba, Colombia and Venezuela and started its first direct shipment to the first tier telecommunication operators in the uS.

to further penetrate into the Americas market, the Group launched a number of customized products in 2012, such as 
the QWertY keypad and 2.8”-3.5” display smartphones. At the same time, the Group continued to promote the brand 
awareness and popularity at the operator’s retail and service outlets.

Asia Pacific (“APAC”)
During the year under review, the Group’s sales volume of handsets and other products across the ApAC region reached 
2.5 million units, down by 14% year on year. nevertheless, the revenue increased by 27% to HK$817 million. the sustained 
momentum in growth can be attributed to the Group’s rising market share in smartphones, which made up 28% of the 
ApAC’s total shipment and 53% of its revenue in the ApAC region. in 2011, the shipment and revenue of smartphones and 
other smart devices accounted for 3% and 11% respectively of the total shipment and revenue in the region.

tCl Communication achieved a revenue growth of 616% in the philippines and 82% in india by extending its cooperation 
with leading telecommunication operators in the philippines and india, and it also achieved remarkable growth in 
smartphone sales, ranking number five in the philippines’s domestic smartphone market. the Group continued to 
strengthen its competitiveness by expanding the distribution channels in the developing markets such as Malaysia, 
Vietnam and Myanmar.

With the diversified mixture of products covering a wide range of attractive features and pricing points, the Group 
recorded higher sales in telecommunication operator markets. During the year under review, the Group launched a 
number of new models in the ApAC region and several customized products were very well-received.

in order to continue growing its market share in the region, the Group will increase its promotion of Android-based 
smartphones and continue its expansion into the telecommunication operator markets. in the near future, the Group 
plans to develop new sales channels in Cambodia, papua new Guinea and indonesia, while increasing its penetration in 
the key markets such as india, the philippines, and Vietnam.
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China
During the year under review, China remained the Group’s fastest growing market. Sales volume of handsets and 
other products in China grew by 13% to 5.8 million units while the revenue surged 60% to HK$1.6 billion, due to the 
successful launch of dual core products and the ongoing expansion of our nationwide distribution network. the sales of 
smartphones and other smart devices held a prominent position, accounting respectively for around 31% and 80% of the 
Group’s shipment and revenue in the region during the year under review, compared with 8% and 34% in 2011.

A number of new models were introduced in 2012. to deepen overall market penetration in China, the Group launched 
a variety of new products tailored for local consumers. As a case in point, the model which was designed specifically for 
China unicom, was strategically priced at an affordable level to attract a broad spectrum of consumers.

in october 2012, the Group launched two more colorful models which targeted the youth market. the smartphone with 
Windows 7.5 operating System offers a full set of office applications and supports various formats of video and music 
clips. the Group also launched a dual SiM smartphone boasting the p2i™ liquid repellent nano-coating technology. it 
provides comprehensive entertainment options and unprecedented interactive experiences to users. Apart from new 
product launch, the Group also strengthened its cooperation with the major three telecommunication operators in the 
country.

to seize the market opportunities in the smartphone market in China, the Group will continue to improve product designs 
and launch new products, mainly low-to-mid end smartphones with higher selling prices in 2013.

PRODUCT DEvELOPMENT

the Group continued to focus on r&D and launched a number of new products during the year 2012. these products 
proved highly popular and were all selected by major global telecommunication operators.

Among the new products, some dual-core and dual-SiM smartphones, featuring liquid-repellent nano-coating technology 
received positive feedback and achieved successful performance. After launching aggressive promotional campaigns, 
they both rapidly gained traction in the market. tCl S606 is the Group’s first smartphone with Windows 7.5 operating 
System, effectively supplemented its current product portfolio. in addition, the customized smartphone was launched 
in partnership with Baidu. the model offers seamless integration of cloud applications and file sharing creating a 
comprehensive cloud services portal for mobile internet cloud users.

Apart from the success of the products launched in the smartphone market, the Group also achieved a breakthrough in 
the development of Android-based tablets. During the year under review, the Group launched two Android-based tablets. 
the first shipment of the AlCAtel Android tablets to the eMeA, ApAC and latin America regions took place in the third 
quarter of 2012, heralding a positive start of the penetration into the tablet market.

MARKETING AND BRAND BUILDING

During the year under review, the Group continued to elevate its market position and strengthen market competitiveness 
in both overseas and China markets through targeted sponsorships, participation in various electronic product 
promotional events and through numerous brand building activities.
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At the beginning of the year, the Group participated in the international Consumer electronics Shows (CeS) 2012 in las 
Vagas and the Mobile World Congress (MWC) 2012 in Barcelona, unveiling its flagship products of the Group to the 
public, and was greeted with positive response in the overseas market. After sponsoring le tour de France 2012 in 
June, the Group sponsored la Vuelta 2012 in September in Spain for the second consecutive year through the “AlCAtel 
one touCH” brand. the eye-catching AlCAtel one touCH caravan and mascots attracted significant attention and 
successfully raised the Group’s popularity amongst the audience and cyclists who come to the event from all over the 
world. to generate further publicity, a Facebook fan page was created to provide up-to-date race information.

in emerging markets the Group actively promoted its products throughout the year. it participated in the eletrolar Show in 
July 2012, which is the largest trade fair of electrical appliances and electronics in Brazil, and in october 2012 it hosted the 
fourth AlCAtel one touCH 7K event, an innovative initiative for running enthusiasts and their families in Santiago, Chile.

the Group also hosted various promotional activities in the european market. in September 2012, it participated in iFA 
(internationale Funkausstellung Berlin) 2012, one of the world’s leading trade shows for consumer electronics and home 
appliances hosted in Berlin. Whilst in December, the Group sponsored Clothes Show live 2012, the largest global fashion 
and beauty event in the uK, in an effort to further increase awareness of the AlCAtel one touCH brand in european 
markets.

OUTLOOK

in 2012, the Group successfully carried out a product transition from feature phones to smartphones and consolidated 
its product portfolio, paving the way for further expansion and long term success. However, because of the current 
dismal global economic outlook, keen market competition and the prevailing unfavourable operating environment, the 
Group believes the overall handset market will remain challenging in 2013. in order to cope with the challenges, tCl 
Communication will improve its product competitiveness, strengthen the cooperation with major suppliers, enhance 
market position, raise operation efficiency and take a measured approach to the control of cost and expenditure by 
focusing resources on developing and marketing key products.

Product Development – Feature Phones and Smartphones
the rising popularity of low-to-mid-priced smartphones weakened the demand for feature phones in 2012 and this in 
turn led to fierce price competition and shrinking demand, putting stronger pressure on selling prices and margins for the 
feature phone business. the Group expects this pressure to continue in 2013 but will be less heavy than 2012. However, 
we are confident that our product transition will pay off and the steady growth in smartphone sales will offset the decline 
in feature phone sales in the coming year. it is expected that when the Group launches its new mid-end smartphones into 
the market in the first quarter of 2013, its smartphone business will achieve economies of scale gradually. in spite of the 
emerging demand for smartphone, the competition in the entry-level smartphone market is extremely fierce, so the selling 
prices and margins for the smartphone business will still be under huge pressure.

With its commitment to research and development, the Group achieved several breakthroughs in the development of new 
smartphone products and made good progress in increasing the overall smartphone sales volume in 2012. in 2013, it 
will continue to implement its “Step-up” product strategy by enriching and optimizing its product portfolio and upgrading 
its products from the entry-level models to ones targeted at the mid-end market. these moves are aimed at achieving 
economies of scale and maintaining a healthier gross profit margin for its smartphone business. According to our latest 
product roadmap, a new wave of advanced smartphone products will be launched in the first half of 2013, and we expect 
a positive reaction from the market. All these new models will have unique and outstanding features, including 4.5”-5” 
displays, quad-core, and ultra-slim appearance, etc..
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R&D and Operational Efficiency
product platforms and technology continue to change rapidly. the Group has always strived to maintain its product 
competency by enhancing r&D capability and improving product quality. in order to reinforce its market position, the 
Group will focus on optimizing product structure and r&D processes of the mid-end smartphones, elevating the efficiency 
of its product r&D and strengthening its cooperation with major component suppliers by actively involving in the selection 
process for core component. the Group expects to further improve product supply chain, seize the pace of market and 
speed up the time-to-market of new products.

in terms of operation efficiency, the Group will further optimize organizational structure and business processes, 
strengthen cooperation, improve overall executive efficiency and establish operational mechanisms designed to create a 
quick response to market demand.

in addition, while there is a constant increase in the costs relating to product r&D and brand building, the Group will 
exercise a more cautious control on cost and expenditure in general with a major focus on the development of key 
products and market promotion in order to realize maximum benefit.

Market Development and Expansion
in 2012, the Group successfully expanded into the biggest two handset markets in the world, the united States and China. 
in 2013, the Group will focus on enhancing the market position with a healthy gross margin in those markets which it 
entered into last year.

China
the Group will continue to implement its expansion strategy in the China market by collaborating with mainstream chain 
stores and distributors as well as the country’s three telecommunication operators. Following the success of the mega 
branding and product launch show in Beijing in December 2012, the Group has formally presented its 2013 product roadmap 
and debuted a total of twelve new smartphone models. these are clearly categorized into four series: “JoY, StAr, plAY and 
You”, each of which was created to target a different market segment to ensure increased penetration into all areas of the 
market. these new smartphones come with quad-core Cpus, ultra-slim appearance, large-screens and innovative designs.

it is anticipated that smartphone products and other smart devices will continue to drive the Group’s revenue growth 
in 2013 on the back of strong replacement demand as consumers continue to replace their feature phones with 
smartphones. the increasing popularity of the 3G services of the country’s three telecommunication operators will also 
add momentum to this trend. the Group intends to capitalize on the growing demand for smartphones by launching 
more mid-end smartphones models in China throughout the year of 2013. this move will raise the ASp of the Group’s 
products in the smartphone business, which will continue to account for a larger and growing percentage of sales in the 
coming year.

Overseas
overseas markets remain challenging as consumer confidence has been dented by the unfavorable macroeconomic 
environment, especially the european debt crisis and the slow recovery of the uS consumer market. the Group will 
continue to focus on boosting sales volume and revenue by achieving economies of scale and by launching new 
smartphones and feature phones covering different price ranges and functionalities. it also aims to gain further global 
market share for its smartphones and feature phones by stepping up existing cooperation with mainstream global 
telecommunication operators and distributors and by exploring new partnerships.
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the Group will deploy more marketing resources to increase brand awareness for AlCAtel one touCH worldwide. this 
will include exhibitions at major trade fairs, sponsorships, and targeted marketing programs in different countries to gain 
more market exposure and build brand recognition. in particular, the Group will maintain its leading position in existing 
markets such as France, russia, Brazil, Colombia and some pacific islands countries, while expanding its presence in 
emerging markets, including Malaysia and israel.

Overall
Year 2013 will be full of both opportunities and challenges. Given the unfavourable economic environment, weakened 
consumer demand and pressure from keen competition, there has been a slowdown in sales growth in the previous 
year and the factors which caused the loss in the year 2012 may still persist. Moreover, first quarter is the traditional 
slack season of the handset industry, and the Group still await complete launch of mid-end smartphones. As a result, the 
Group anticipates that losses will still be recorded for the three months ending 31 March 2013.

nevertheless, upon launching the full range of new products in the second quarter of 2013, the management expects 
the sales volume of smartphones and other smart devices to increase and the situation of the Group to be improved. 
Management remains confident about the Group’s business prospect and the smartphone industry in the long run, and 
targets an increase of 25% year-on-year on revenue in 2013. the Group will continue to boost sales and improve sales 
volume of smartphones in order to achieve optimal economies of scale and will continue to pursue its “Step-up” product 
strategy by leveraging its solid strengths in product development, reputable brands of tCl and AlCAtel one touCH 
and strong marketing capability. it will proactively, yet prudently address business challenges and create value for the 
shareholders in the long term.

FINANCIAL REvIEw

Results
For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group’s audited consolidated revenue amounted to HK$12,031 million (2011: 
HK$10,653 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 13% as compared to that of last year.

the Group’s gross profit margin dropped to 17% from 22% in last year.

lBitDA and loss attributable to owners of the parent were HK$72 million (2011: eBitDA of HK$835 million) and HK$208 
million (2011: profit attributable to owners of the parent of HK$800 million) respectively. Basic loss per share was 18.49 HK 
cents (2011: basic earning per share of 72.83 HK cents).

Inventory
the Group’s inventory (including factory inventory only) turnover period was 30 days (2011: 26 days).

Trade Receivables
Credit period was 30 to 180 days on average and the trade receivable (excluding factored trade receivables) turnover 
period was 87 days (2011: 89 days).

Significant Investments and Acquisition
there had been no significant investment and acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to the date of 
this announcement.

Fund Raising
there had been no fund raising for the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to the date of this announcement.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources
the Group maintained a healthy liquidity position during the year. the Group’s principal financial instruments comprise 
cash and cash equivalents, interest bearing bank and other borrowings, bank advances on factored trade receivables 
and loan from a related company. the cash and cash equivalents balances as at 31 December 2012 amounted to 
HK$970 million, of which 12% were in renminbi, 54% in uS dollars, 13% in euro and 21% in Hong Kong dollars and other 
currencies for the operations. the Group’s total interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2012 were HK$6,469 
million, in which the interest bearing bank and other borrowings were HK$5,921 million, bank advances on factored trade 
receivables were HK$432 million and loan from a related company was HK$116 million. the Group’s financial position 
remained healthy, with equity attributable to owners of the parent of HK$2,321 million (31 December 2011: HK$2,669 
million). the Group had a gearing ratio of 49% at the end of the year (31 December 2011: 54%). the gearing ratio is 
calculated based on the Group’s total interest-bearing borrowings over total assets.

Pledge Deposits
Deposit balance of HK$4,221 million (31 December 2011: HK$6,092 million) represented the pledged deposit for interest 
bearing borrowings, banking facilities and other financial instruments of HK$4,188 million (31 December 2011: HK$6,070 
million) and retention guarantee for factored trade receivables of HK$33 million (31 December 2011: HK$22 million).

Capital Commitment and Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2012, the capital commitments are as follows:
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

property, plant and equipment
 Contracted, but not provided for 106,885 4,311

As at 31 December 2012, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

 Group Company
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Guarantees given to banks in connection with
 facilities granted to subsidiaries – – 16,907,624 13,393,623

As at 31 December 2012, the banking facilities granted to the subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by the 
Company were utilised to the extent of HK$11,993,964,000 (31 December 2011: HK$8,531,097,000).
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Foreign Exchange Exposure
the Group has transactional currency exposures. these exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in 
currencies other than the units’ functional currency, where the revenue is predominated in euro, Brazilian real, russian 
rouble, uS dollar and rMB. the Group tends to accept foreign currency exchange risk avoidance or allocation terms when 
arriving at purchase and sales contracts. the Group takes rolling forecast on foreign currency revenue and expenses, 
matches the currency and amount incurred, so as to alleviate the impact to business due to exchange rate fluctuation. 
in line with the aim of prudent financial management, the Group does not engage in any high risk derivative trading or 
leveraged foreign exchange contracts.

Employees and Remuneration Policy
the Group had over 11,000 employees as at 31 December 2012. total staff costs for the year under review were HK$1,211 
million (2011: HK$941 million). the remuneration policy was in line with current legislation, market conditions and both 
individual and company performance.
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Mr. LI Dongsheng
aged 55, is the Chairman of the Board and executive 
Director of the Company and tCl Multimedia technology 
Holdings limited (the “tCl Multimedia”), the Chairman of 
the Board, Chief executive officer (the “Ceo”) and one of 
the founders of tCl Corp. As one of the most recognized 
business leaders in China, Mr. li has led tCl Corp. to 
stand out as a formidable player in the global consumer 
electronics sector and a pioneering Chinese company 
going global.

in 1982, Mr. li began his career as an engineer in ttK 
Home electronic Appliances Co. ltd, the predecessor of 
tCl. in 1985, he was appointed as General Manager of the 
newly established joint venture, telephone Communication 
limited and subsequently he created the tCl brand. He 
was then transferred to Huizhou industrial Development 
Company as the Director of Business Development 
Department. Mr. li was appointed as the Deputy General 
Manager of Huizhou Municipal electronic Communication 
Corporation in 1990. in 1993, Mr. li became the General 
Manager of tCl electronics Group. Since then, tCl launched 
its color tV business and quickly became an industry 
leader. Mr. li took the position of Chairman and president 
of tCl Corp. in 1996.

in 2003, Mr. li was appointed as the Chairman of the Board 
and Ceo of tCl Corp., which was listed on the Shenzhen 
Stock exchange afterwards. under his leadership, tCl 
Corp. accomplished two landmark acquisitions: thomson’s 
television business and Alcatel’s mobile phone business 
both in 2004. With years of efforts in global integration 
since 1998, tCl Corp. has become an international 
enterprise with 60,000 employees. in 2012, tCl Corp. has 
shipped 15.78 million lCD tV sets and 42.6 million mobile 
phones. the lCD tV actual production capacity leaped to 
the 3rd place and overall tCl brand market share rose to 
the 4th place globally.
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Mr. li was awarded “the most Socially responsible 
entrepreneur” by Xinhuanet in 2012 and “Chinese economic 
leader” by ifeng.com and 21st Century Business Herald in 
2011. He also received the “life Achievement Award of top 
25 influential Business leaders” from China entrepreneur 
Magazine in the same year. in 2009, Mr. li was awarded 
“Business leader of the Decade” by CCtV economy 
Channel, in addition to being listed as one of the “top 60 
Branding leaders of the past 60 Years” by Brand China 
industry union. in 2008, Mr. li received the Deloitte prize 
in Barcelona for entrepreneurship and was honored as 
an “economic Figure” in 30 years’ reform and opening up, 
and also named China’s “top ten outstanding Ceos” by 
China times, and awarded “Brand Founder over 30 years’ 
reform and opening up” by a new York brand consulting 
agency. in 2007, Mr. li received the Corporate leadership 
award from the uS-China Forum in Chicago. He was also 
named as “one of the most influential business leaders” 
by China entrepreneur Magazine in 2006 and 2005, “CCtV 
Man of the Year in the Chinese economy” in 2004, “Asia 
Businessman of the Year” by Fortune Magazine in 2004 
and one of the top 25 Global Business leaders by time 
Magazine and Cnn in 2004. Mr. li received a medal of 
oFFiCer De lA leGion D’Honneur (French national honor) 
from former president of France, Mr. Jacques Chirac in 
2004.

in 2013, Mr. li was elected as a deputy to the 12th national 
people’s Congress. He was also elected as a delegate 
to the 16th national Congress of the Communist party 
of China, and a deputy to the 10th and 11th national 
people’s Congress. Mr. li holds a number of prestigious 
positions including Chairman of China electronic imaging 
industry Association, Vice Chairman of China Chamber 
of international Commerce, Chairman of Guangdong 
Household electrical Appliances Chamber of Commerce, 
11th executive Committee member of All-China Federation 
of industry & Commerce and Vice Chairman of Guangdong 
Federation of industry & Commerce.

Mr. li is also an independent non-executive Director of 
tencent Holdings limited, a company listed on the Stock 
exchange.

Mr. li graduated from South China university of technology 
with a Bachelor degree in Department of radio technology.
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Mr. GUO Aiping
aged 50, is the Ceo and executive 
Director of the Company, and the Senior 
Vice president of tCl Corp. Mr. Guo 
joined the Group in July 2001 and he 
was appointed successively as the Chief 
operating officer, Vice president, Senior 
Vice president and president. Mr. Guo 
was also a Vice president of tCl Corp. 
He has extensive experience in overall 
management of multinational company, 
strategic planning and development, and 
merger and acquisition in the worldwide 
wireless industry. prior to joining tCl Corp., 
Mr. Guo held positions as Manager in SB 
Global, project Coordinator in iBM, Senior 
Business Consultant in Arthur Andersen 
and Chief technology officer in Zhaodaola 
internet Company. He graduated from 
Stanford university with a Doctor’s degree 
in Management Science and Master’s 
degree in engineering economics and 
System.

Mr. wANG Jiyang
aged 43, is the Chief operating officer 
and president of Sales & Marketing China 
of the Company, and Vice president of 
tCl Corp. He also serves management 
positions in a number of wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. 
WAnG has over 20 years’ experience of 
research, development and management 
in electronics industry. He joined the 
Company in 2001, and had been an 
engineer, project Manager, Deputy Chief 
technology officer, General Manager of 
Development Center and Vice president of 
r&D. Mr. WAnG graduated from university 
of electronic Science and technology of 
China with a phD in electrocircuit & System. 
He also holds a MBA degree from China 
europe international Business School.
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MR. BO Lianming
aged 50, is a non-executive Director of 
the Company, an executive Director of 
tCl Multimedia, an executive Director, 
president and Chief operating officer of 
tCl Corp., and the Ceo of Shenzhen China 
Star optoelectronics technology Co., ltd. 
since 24 December 2012. He previously 
served as the Vice Chairman of the board 
of tCl Multimedia and the Chairman 
of Huizhou tCl Home – Appliance 
Co., ltd. Mr. Bo also held a number of 
management positions including Vice 
president and Financial Director of tCl 
it industrial Group, Vice president of tCl 
Components Strategic Business unit, and 
executive Vice president of tte Corporation, 
as well as Human resources Director, Vice 
president and Senior Vice president of tCl 
Corp. He has over 12 years’ experience 
in the consumer electronics products 
industry. Before joining tCl Corp. in 2000, 
he was the Chief Accountant of Shenzhen 
Airlines ltd. Mr. Bo holds a Doctor’s 
degree in Business Administration from 
Xi’an Jiaotong university.

MR. HUANG Xubin
aged 47, is a non-executive Director of 
the Company, Chief Financial officer of 
tCl Corp., a non-executive Director and 
a member of the audit committee of tCl 
Multimedia. Mr. HuAnG joined tCl Corp. 
in March 2001 and served as an officer 
and General Manager of the Financial 
Settlement Centre of tCl Corp., the Chief 
economist of tCl Corp., General Manager 
of tCl Finance Co. ltd., and has been a 
member of the executive committee of tCl 
Corp. since July 2007, he was also Vice 
president of tCl Corp., Financial Director of 
tCl Corp. and has been Chairman of tCl 
Finance Co. ltd. since november 2009. At 
present he is also the director of Huizhou 
techne Corporation, Huizhou tCl Home 
Appliance Group Co. ltd and tCl real 
estate (Huizhou) Co., ltd. Before joining 
tCl Corp., Mr. HuAnG served as Head 
of Credit Facilities Department of China 
Construction Bank, Guangdong Branch, 
the Deputy Manager and Manager of 
Fund Management Division and Securities 
Division of Guotai Junan Securities Co. 
ltd., Guangdong Branch, and Senior 
Manager of the representative office of 
China Cinda Asset Management Co., ltd. 
in Guangzhou. Mr. HuAnG is a Senior 
economist. He graduated from Hunan 
university (formerly known as Hunan 
College of Finance and economics), and 
obtained a Master’s degree in economy 
at research institute for Fiscal Science, 
Ministry of Finance, the prC, and holds 
an eMBA degree from China europe 
international Business School.

MS. XU FANG
aged 50, is a non-executive Director 
of the Company, Vice president and 
Human resources Director of tCl Corp., 
an executive Director of tCl Multimedia 
and a member of the remuneration 
committee thereof. Ms. Xu joined tCl 
institute of training of tCl Corp. as the 
Dean in February 2004. Ms. Xu became 
the Deputy Dean of tCl institute of 
leadership Development of tCl Corp. in 
February 2006 and the Dean in April 2007. 
Ms. Xu has been the Human resources 
Director of tCl Corp. since September 
2007. From September 2007 to May 2010, 
Ms. Xu concurrently held the position of 
General Manager of the Human resources 
Management Centre of tCl Corp. Ms. Xu 
has been the Vice president of tCl Corp. 
since october 2010. From September 2010 
to June 2011, Ms. Xu concurrently held the 
position of Chief Human resources officer 
of the tCl Multimedia. Ms. Xu is also a 
part-time lecturer at Shenzhen Graduate 
School of peking university, a distinguished 
professor at Shantou university and a 
distinguished research fellow at Sun Yat-
Sen university. Ms. Xu was graduated 
from nanjing normal university in english 
linguistics, and a Master degree in 
Business Administration from new York 
institute of technology.
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MR. LAU Siu Ki
aged 54, is an independent non-executive 
Director of the Company. Mr. lAu joined 
the Company in April 2004 and save for 
his directorship in the Company, he does 
not hold any directorship in any member 
of the Group. Mr. lAu is a fellow member 
of both the Hong Kong institute of Certified 
public Accountants and the Association 
of Chartered Certified Accountants (the 
“ACCA”). He has over 30 years’ experience 
in corporate finance, financial advisory and 
management, accounting and auditing 
and had worked for an international 
accounting firm for over 15 years. Mr. lAu 
was a member of the ACCA worldwide 
Council from May 2002 to September 
2011, and was the Chairman of the Hong 
Kong branch of ACCA in 2000/2001. 
He is also a consultant in the financial 
advisory field and an independent non-
executive Director of Col Capital limited, 
Comba telecom Systems Holdings limited, 
Foxconn international Holdings limited, 
Samson Holding limited, embry Holdings 
limited and Binhai investment Company 
limited, all being companies listed on the 
Stock exchange. in the past three years, 
Mr. lAu had been an independent non-
executive Director of Carry Wealth Holdings 
limited, Greenfield Chemical Holdings 
limited and proview international Holdings 
limited, all being companies listed on the 
Stock exchange.

MR. LOOK Andrew
aged 48, is an independent non-executive 
Director of the Company. He has over 20 
years’ experience in the equity investment 
analysis of Hong Kong and China stock 
markets. From 2000 to 2008, Mr. looK 
served in union Bank of Switzerland (the 
“uBS”) as the head of Hong Kong research, 
strategy and product. prior to joining uBS, 
Mr. looK was the regional director of ppM 
Worldwide, the fund management arm of 
the prudential Corporation of the united 
Kingdom, where he managed pension and 
life insurance funds investing in Asia ex-
Japan markets. He was also a consultant 
of opes Asia Development limited, which 
shares are listed on the Stock exchange. 
Mr. looK is currently the Chief investment 
officer and Managing Director of look’s 
Asset Management limited, a SFC licensed 
asset management company which 
is based in Hong Kong and founded 
and solely owned by him. He is also an 
independent non-executive Director of Ka 
Shui international Holdings limited, which 
shares are listed on the Stock exchange. 
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
from the university of toronto.

Mr. KwOK Hoi Sing
aged 62, is the Chair professor of the 
Department of electronic & Computer 
engineering at the Hong Kong university of 
Science and technology (the “HKuSt”). He 
is also Dr. William Mong Chair professor 
of nanotechnology and Director of Center 
for Display research at HKuSt. Before 
joining HKuSt, he worked at the lawrence 
Berkeley laboratory from 1978 to 1980, he 
then taught at the Department of electrical 
and Computer engineering, State university 
of new York at Buffalo from 1980 to 1992, 
where he became a tenured Full professor 
in 1985. He joined HKuSt in 1992 with his 
research interests in display technologies 
and emitting thin film materials.

Mr. KWoK enjoys a good reputation in 
his professional area. He is a member of 
program committees of many international 
conferences and had been a Chairman. 
He was awarded a number of honors 
including the uS presidential Young 
investigator Award in 1984 and the new 
York State/uup excellence Award in 1991. 
He is a Fellow of the optical Society of 
America, a Fellow of institute of electrical 
and electronics engineers (the “ieee”) and 
a Fellow of Society for information Display. 
Mr. KWoK has over 500 publications 
in internationally renowned academic 
journals and also holds more than 50 
patents.

Mr. KWoK was an independent non-
executive director of Diguang international 
Development Co., ltd., a company listed 
on the nASDAQ exchange (Stock Code: 
DGnG.oB).

Mr. KWoK holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in electrical engineering from 
northwestern university in the united 
States in 1973. He then pursued further 
studies at Harvard university where 
he received his MSc and phD degrees 
in Applied physics in 1974 and 1978 
respectively.
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Mr. GUO Aiping
aged 50, is the Ceo and executive 
Director of the Company, and the Senior 
Vice president of tCl Corp. Mr. Guo 
joined the Group in July 2001 and he 
was appointed successively as the Chief 
operating officer, Vice president, Senior 
Vice president and president. Mr. Guo 
was also a Vice president of tCl Corp. 
He has extensive experience in overall 
management of multinational company, 
strategic planning and development, and 
merger and acquisition in the worldwide 
wireless industry. prior to joining tCl Corp., 
Mr. Guo held positions as Manager in SB 
Global, project Coordinator in iBM, Senior 
Business Consultant in Arthur Andersen 
and Chief technology officer in Zhaodaola 
internet Company. He graduated from 
Stanford university with a Doctor’s degree 
in Management Science and Master’s 
degree in engineering economics and 
System.

Mr. LIU Yuk Tung, Thomas
aged 50, is a Senior Vice president and 
Chief Financial officer of the Company, 
and a director of tCl Finance Co., ltd. 
since 20 February 2013. Mr. liu has 
about 27 years of experience in fields of 
audit, international finance and trading 
business. prior to joining the Company, 
he was the Asia pacific regional Financial 
Controller of Stratus Corporation in uS, 
Sales and Marketing Director and General 
Manager of neo-neon Holdings limited, a 
company with its shares listed on the Stock 
exchange. He is also a CpA of HKiCpA, 
Chartered Accountant of iCAeW and 
fellow member of ACCA. Mr. liu holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in economics from the 
university of Hong Kong, a MBA from the 
university of new South Wales, Australia 
and a Master’s Degree in Accounting from 
Jinan university, prC.

Mr. wANG Jiyang
aged 43, is the Chief operating officer and 
president of Sales & Marketing China of 
the Company, and Vice president of tCl 
Corporation. He also serves management 
positions in a number of wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. 
WAnG has over 20 years’ experience of 
research, development and management 
in electronics industry. He joined the 
Company in 2001, and had been an 
engineer, project Manager, Deputy Chief 
technology officer, General Manager of 
Development Center and Vice president of 
r&D. Mr. WAnG graduated from university 
of electronic Science and technology of 
China with a phD in electrocircuit & System. 
He also holds a MBA degree from China 
europe international Business School.
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Mr. wONG Kwok Chung, 
Albert
aged 41, is an executive 
Vice president and General 
Manager of Sales & Marketing 
(ApAC) of the Company. Mr. 
WonG joined the Company 
in 2005. He has 15 years of 
experience in computers and 
electronics industry in Hong 
Kong, Canada and Mainland 
China. He had been the 
Senior Software engineer of 
KeGo technology limited, 
Chief information officer of 
inmobo limited, Ceo and 
Chief operating officer of JCt 
Mobile. Mr. WonG graduated 
from the university of toronto 
with a Bachelor’s degree in 
Science and obtained his 
Master’s degree in electrical 
and electronics engineering at 
the Hong Kong university of 
Science & technology.

Mr. Yves MOREL
aged 52, is a Senior Vice 
president of the Company 
and General Manager of 
eMeA, responsible for the 
Company’s business in europe, 
Middle east and Africa. Mr. 
Morel has 28 years sales 
and marketing experience in 
telecommunication industries. 
Mr. Morel was a Sales Area 
Director for AlCAtel mobile 
phones from 2001 to 2005. He 
contributed to develop sales 
area such as russia, Central 
europe, Middle east, Africa 
and Western europe. prior to 
that he held several positions 
in sales at the private Mobile 
radio division for AlCAtel.

Mr. Nicolas ZIBELL
aged 45, is a Senior Vice 
president of the Company and 
General Manager of Americas, 
responsible for the Company’s 
business in the Americas. Mr. 
ZiBell has over 22 years of 
experience in sales, marketing, 
product strategy and 
management in automotive 
and telecommunications 
industries in europe and the 
Americas. He graduated from 
école Superieure de Commerce 
de lyon and eSADe Business 
School with an MBA in 1990.

Mr. Lv Xiaobin
aged 42, i s a Senior Vice 
president of the Company and 
General Manager of Global 
Manufacturing Center. Mr. lV 
joined tCl Communication 
equipment Co., ltd. in July 
1993 and joined the Company 
in March 2002 and was 
appointed successively as 
Department Head, Factory 
Director, Vice General 
Manager of Manufacturing 
Center, production Director and 
Vice president of the Company. 
Mr. lV has 19 years’ experience 
in communication terminal 
manufacturing industry, 
with rich and professional 
experience and skills in 
operation management fields 
including manufacturing 
engineering technologies and 
management, production 
management, quality 
management, supply chain 
management, and he also 
has been through a 8-year 
international baptism. Mr. lV 
graduated from university 
of electronic Science and 
technology of China with a 
Bachelor degree in Science, 
majoring in computer, 
minoring in applied 
mathematics, and also holds 
an eMBA degree from China 
europe international Business 
School.
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Mr. HUANG wanquan
aged 48, from 1990 to 2002, Mr. HuAnG 
served in tCl Multimedia, responsible 
for marketing management. He was one 
of the earliest pioneers of the tCl’s tV 
business marketing network. From 2002 
to 2003, he served as an international 
Business unit General Manager of the 
Company, responsible for developing the 
first overseas business. in november 2003, 
he was appointed as a Vice president of 
the Company, in charge of domestic sales 
and marketing operations management, 
and appointed as a Senior Vice president 
of the Company since november 2009. 
Mr. HuAnG holds a Master’s degree in 
inorganic non-metallic materials from 
Zhejiang university and an eMBA degree 
from South polytechnic university.
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through effective channels of information disclosure. the Board believes that good corporate governance is beneficial for 
maintaining close and trustful relationships with its employees, business partners, shareholders and investors.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOvERNANCE PRACTICES
the Board has adopted the code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance practises set out in Appendix 14 to the 
rules Governing the listing of Securities on the Stock exchange of Hong Kong limited (the “listing rules”) as the guidelines 
for corporate government of the Group, and has taken steps to comply with the Code wherever appropriate. Appendix 14 
to the listing rules was revised and renamed as “Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance report” (the 
“CG Code”) by the Stock exchange of Hong Kong in october 2011. in February 2012, the Company has adopted the code 
provisions (the “Code provisions”) on the latest CG Code as the guidelines for corporate governance of the Company.

throughout the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group complied fully with the CG Code with the exceptions as set out 
below.

under Code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend general 
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders.

Due to respective pre-arranged business commitments which must be attended to by certain directors, Mr. Bo lianming, 
Mr. HuAnG Xubin and Ms. Xu Fang, all being non-executive directors and Mr. looK Andrew, being an independent non-
executive director, were not present at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 May 2012.

under Code provision D.1.4, all directors should clearly understand delegation arrangements in place, and the Company 
should have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their appointment.

the Company has no formal letters of appointment for all directors as most of them have been serving as directors 
for a considerable period of time, a clear understanding of the terms and conditions of their appointment already 
exists between the Company and the directors, and so there is no written record of the same. in any event, all 
directors, including those without a letter of appointment and those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject 
to retirement by rotation in the manner prescribed under the articles of association of the Company, and on 
re-election of the retiring directors, shareholders are given information that is reasonably necessary for them to make an 
informed decision on the reappointment of the relevant directors.

under Code provision e.1.2, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting.

As abovementioned, due to other pre-arranged business commitments which must be attended by him, Mr. li 
Dongsheng, the Chairman, was not present at the annual general meeting held on 8 May 2012. However, Mr. Guo 
Aiping, being an executive director and Chief executive officer present at the annual general meeting, was elected as 
the chairman thereof pursuant of the Articles of Association to ensure an effective communication with the shareholders 
thereat.
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under Code provision F.1.1, the company secretary should be an employee of the Company and have the day-to-day 
knowledge of the Company’s affairs.

the company secretary of the Company, Ms. pAnG Siu Yin is a partner of the Company’s legal adviser, Cheung tong 
& rosa Solicitors. Ms. pAnG has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company since 2004. the Company 
has also assigned Mr. WAnG pui, Finance Director of the Company as the contact person with Ms. pAnG. information 
in relation to the performance, financial position and other major developments and affairs of the Group (including but 
not limited to the management monthly report to the Board) are speedily delivered to Ms. pAnG through the contact 
person assigned. Given the long-term relationship between Ms. pAnG and the Group, Ms. pAnG is very familiar with the 
operations of the Group and has an in depth knowledge of the management of the Group. Having in place a mechanism 
that she will get hold of the Group’s development promptly without material delay and with her expertise and experience, 
the Board is confident that having Ms. pAnG as the company secretary is beneficial to the Group’s compliance of the 
relevant board procedures, applicable laws, rules and regulations.

THE BOARD
(1) The Board of Directors

the Board currently comprises 9 directors, 3 of whom are executive directors, 3 are non-executive directors (the 
“neDs”) and 3 are independent non-executive directors (the “ineDs”). the composition of the Board is set out as 
follows:

executive Directors: li Dongsheng (Chairman)
 Guo Aiping (Chief executive officer)
 WAnG Jiyang (Chief operating officer)

non-executive Directors: Bo lianming
 HuAnG Xubin
 Xu Fang

independent non-executive Directors: lAu Siu Ki
 looK Andrew
 KWoK Hoi Sing

the biographies of the directors are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 30 to 37 of this 
Annual report.

the members of the Board, all being industry veterans, are responsible to the shareholders for formulating the 
overall business development targets and long-term company strategies, assessing results of management 
policies and monitoring performance of the management.



T C L  C O M M U N I C A T I O N  T E C H N O L O G Y  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

42

Co
rpo

rate G
o

vern
a

n
Ce repo

rt the non-executive directors play an important role on the Board. Accounting for more than half of the Board 
members, they are experienced professionals in their respective fields. they are responsible for ensuring that the 
Board maintains high standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks 
and balances for safeguarding the interest of shareholders and the Group as a whole. throughout the year of 
2012, the Board at all times met the requirements for having ineDs representing one-third of the Board and that 
at least one of them had appropriate professional qualifications of accounting or related financial management 
expertise. pursuant to rule 3.13 of the listing rules, the Group has received written confirmations from each ineD 
of his independence to the Group. the Group considers all of the ineDs to be independent in accordance with the 
listing rules.

there are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships) among 
members of the Board.

the directors meet regularly to review the Group’s financial and operational performance and to discuss and 
formulate future development plans. regular Board meetings are attended by a majority of the directors in person 
or through other electronic means of communication. the board also oversees the corporate governance policy 
and functions of the Company.

Besides the regular Board meetings, special Board meetings are convened from time to time for the Board to 
discuss major issues that require the Board’s timely attention and decisions. As the Board highly values the 
independent opinions and diversified perspectives from the ineDs, they, in addition to the executive directors, very 
often participate in the special Board meetings.

During 2012, the Board held 4 regular meetings at about quarterly intervals and 14 additional meetings (10 of 
which were held regarding special matters which required the Board’s decisions whereas the other 4 meetings 
were held regarding operational matters involving the attendance of executive directors only). Attendance of 
individual directors at the Board meetings in 2012 is as follows:
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  Additional
  Board Meetings Additional
  concerning Board Meetings
 Regular special matters concerning
 Board requiring the operational General
 Meetings Board’s decisions matters only Meetings

Executive Directors
li Dongsheng (Chairman)  1/4 5/10 2/4 0/1
Guo Aiping (Chief executive officer)  4/4 10/10 4/4 1/1
WAnG Jiyang (Chief operating officer) 3/4 10/10 4/4 0/1

Non-Executive Directors
Bo lianming 3/4 8/10 n/A 0/1
HuAnG Xubin 4/4 9/10 n/A 0/1
Xu Fang 4/4 7/10 n/A 0/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors
lAu Siu Ki 4/4 10/10 n/A 1/1
looK Andrew 4/4 8/10 n/A 0/1
KWoK Hoi Sing 3/4 9/10 n/A 1/1

on 24 February 2012, the Board has adopted a set of consolidated memorandum of duties, setting out its 
delegation policy, procedures for Directors seeking professional advice and reporting procedures and division of 
responsibility between the chairman and managing Director.

(2) Board Committees
the Board delegates its responsibilities to 4 committees, namely the remuneration Committee, the Audit 
Committee, the executive Committee of the Board and the nomination committee (the “nomination Committee”, 
which has been established on 24 February 2012), all with specific terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects 
of the Group’s affairs. Details of which are set out in the section headed “Board Committees” below.

(3) Management Functions
the types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board include those relating to:

•	 corporate	and	capital	structure;

•	 corporate	strategy;

•	 significant	policies	affecting	the	Group	as	a	whole;

•	 business	plan,	budgets	and	public	announcements;

•	 delegation	to	the	Chairman,	and	delegation	to	and	by	board	committees	(the	“Board	Committees”);

•	 key	financial	matters;

•	 appointment,	removal	or	reappointment	of	Board	members,	senior	management	and	auditors;

•	 remuneration	of	directors	and	senior	management;	and

•	 communication	with	key	stakeholders,	including	shareholders	and	regulatory	bodies.
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(4) Operation
to effectively manage the business affairs of the Group, the operation executive committee was set up for 
implementation of the objectives and strategic plans as approved by the Board or the executive Committee. 
Currently the operation executive committee comprises seven members, all of whom are senior executives from 
various units of the Company, and one secretary. the composition of the operation executive committee is set out 
as follows:

Members
Guo Aiping
liu Yuk tung, thomas
Yves Morel
WonG Kwok Chung, Albert
nicolas ZiBell
WAnG Jiyang
lV Xiaobin

Secretary
Sun Wubin

the operation executive committee is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the Group. normally, 
the operation executive committee meets once a month, and may convene additional meetings when necessary to 
handle urgent matters.

(5) Appointment, Re-election and Removal
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the listing rules, the Board has received a written confirmation from each ineD of his 
independence to the Company. the Board considers all of the ineDs to be independent in accordance with the 
Code provision A.4.3 and confirms that year of service of all ineDs is less than 9 years. However, it is expected 
that Mr. lAu Siu Ki, an ineD, who has been appointed as an ineD since April 2004, will have served the Company 
for more than 9 years at the AGM to be held in April 2013, his further appointment will therefore be subject 
to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders and reasons why the Board believes that he is still 
independent and should be re-elected will also be included in the circular containing the resolutions concerned.

one third (or such number nearest to and not less than one-third) of the directors are subject to retirement by 
rotation at the AGM each year, and the neDs are elected to hold office for a specific term until the next AGM.

under the Code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed for a term of three years, subject to 
re-election.

At the last AGM held on 8 May 2012, one-third of the directors (namely Mr. li Dongsheng, Mr. Guo Aiping and Mr. 
WAnG Jiyang) were subject to retirement by rotation and all of them were re-elected. Mr. WAnG Jiyang, whom 
was appointed by the Board as an executive Director effective from 9 May 2011, was also subject to election at the 
AGM. Mr. KWoK Hoi Sing, an ineD, was elected to hold office for a specific term until the AGM to be held in 2015.
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the position of the Chairman is held by Mr. li Dongsheng, while the position of the Chief executive officer is held 
by Mr. Guo Aiping. this ensures a clear distinction between the Chairman’s duty to manage the Board and the 
Chief executive officer’s duty to oversee the overall internal operation of the Group.

(7) Responsibilities of Directors
the Company officers work closely with the newly appointed directors both immediately before and after his/her 
appointment to acquaint the newly appointed directors with the duties and responsibilities as a director of the 
Company and the business operation of the Company.

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’s legal advisors setting out such duties and responsibilities 
under the listing rules, Companies ordinance and other related law and relevant regulatory requirements of 
Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed director. the directors are updated with the latest developments 
in laws, rules and regulations relating to the duties and responsibilities of directors from time to time. Guidelines 
for directors issued by the Companies registry of Hong Kong have been forwarded to each director for his/her 
information and ready reference.

the Board views that the non-executive directors have exercised their independent judgment and provided 
constructive and informed advice on the business strategy, policy, performance and management of the Company. 
they regularly review the financial information, monitor the operational performance of the Company and serve on 
the Audit, remuneration and nomination Committee.

the directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment, and in a timely manner for in 
respect of any change, the number and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other 
significant commitments. they have also informed the Company of the identity of other public companies or 
organisations they serve and the time involved in these public companies or organisations.

All directors have devoted their time and attention to the affairs of the Company with their hands-on knowledge 
and expertise in the areas and operation in which he/she is charged with. the extent of participation and 
contribution should be viewed both quantitatively and qualitatively. the contribution made by the directors to 
the affairs of the Company is measured in terms of time as well as quality of the attention and the ability of the 
directors with reference to his/her necessary knowledge and expertise. the satisfactory attendance of Board 
meetings, general meetings and board committee meetings indicates the constant participation of all directors, 
including executive, independent non-executive and other non-executive directors.

to fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it as necessary to obtain additional information other than that 
is provided by the management, the directors made inquiries during the Board meetings and board committee 
meetings. the queries raised by directors have received a prompt and full response.
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the directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory development, and the business and market 
changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board meetings, resolutions, memos 
and Board papers. According to the records maintained by the Company, the directors received the following 
training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with 
the requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional development during the period from 1 April 2012 to 31 
December 2012:

  Attend seminars/
Directors Read materials briefings

Executive Directors
li Dongsheng (Chairman) ✓ ✓

Guo Aiping (Chief executive officer) ✓ ✓

WAnG Jiyang (Chief operating officer) ✓ ✓

Non-Executive Directors
Bo lianming ✓ ✓

HuAnG Xubin ✓ ✓

Xu Fang ✓ ✓

Independent Non-Executive Directors
lAu Siu Ki ✓ ✓

looK Andrew ✓ ✓

KWoK Hoi Sing ✓ ✓

(8) Directors’ Securities Transactions
the Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transaction on terms no less exacting 
than the required standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities transactions by Directors of listed issuers 
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the listing rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all directors who have confirmed that throughout year 2012, they complied 
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ 
securities transactions.

the directors’ interests in shares of the Group as at 31 December 2012 are set out on pages 65 to 66 of this Annual 
report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
in 2012, the Board had four Board Committees. the four committees under the Board are the remuneration Committee, 
the Audit Committee, the executive Committee and nomination Committee, all with specific terms of reference, to oversee 
particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.

(1) Remuneration Committee
the remuneration Committee currently comprises three ineDs and one neD, namely Mr. lAu Siu Ki, who is 
also the Chairman of the remuneration Committee, Mr. looK Andrew, Mr. KWoK Hoi Sing and Ms. Xu Fang as 
members.

the remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been revised by the Board on 
24 February 2012 pursuant to the CG Code. the terms of reference are available on the Group’s website at 
http://tclcom.tcl.com and HKex’s website at www.hkex.com.hk.

the remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for 
all remuneration of directors and senior management, and on the establishment of a formal and transparent 
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration. the remuneration Committee also reviews and approves 
the performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from 
time to time, and determines, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive 
directors and senior management.

During 2012, the remuneration Committee met 3 times and accomplished the following:

•	 reviewed	the	Group’s	expenses	and	changes	on	staff	remuneration	in	2012;	and

•	 reviewed	the	levels	of	remuneration	and	bonus	plan	of	certain	executive	directors	and	senior	management	
of the Group.
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 Number of
 committee meeting
 attended/eligible
 to attend

lAu Siu Ki (Chairman) 3/3
looK Andrew 2/3
KWoK Hoi Sing 2/3
Xu Fang 3/3

Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan
the Group provides a competitive remuneration package to its directors to attract and retain talents. A large 
portion of the package for executive directors is linked to their performance, which in turn is aligned with 
the interests of the shareholders, so as to provide an incentive for the executive directors to achieve the best 
performance. part of the remuneration of executive directors may comprise of long-term incentive plan which 
comprises the share option scheme and the share award scheme. the emoluments payable to the directors 
are determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities with the Company and the market rate for the 
positions.

the purpose of the long-term incentive plan of the Group is to reward outstanding performance that is measured 
by achieved targets, and is closely linked with the performance of the Group. the benefit or award granted under 
the plan will only be vested over a period of time so as to provide an incentive for the executives or employees to 
consistently perform at a high standard and bring along long-term benefits to the Group.

the non-executive directors’ compensation relates to the time commitment and responsibilities. they receive fees 
which comprise the following components:

•	 directors’	fee;

•	 additional	fee	for	additional	responsibilities	such	as	directorship	in	Board	Committees;	and

•	 awarded	 shares	 or	 share	 options	 of	 the	 Group	 under	 the	 long	 term	 incentive	 plan,	 which	 are	 awarded	
subject to the discretion of the Board.

the details of the fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable to the directors are set out in details 
on note 11 to the financial statements.
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the Audit Committee currently comprises three ineDs and one neD, namely Mr. lAu Siu Ki, Mr. looK Andrew, Mr. 
KWoK Hoi Sing and Mr. HuAnG Xubin. Mr. lAu Siu Ki, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, is a professional 
accountant with profound financial and accounting expertise.

the Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been revised by the Board on 24 February 
2012 pursuant to the CG Code. the terms of reference are available on the Group’s website at http://tclcom.tcl.com 
and HKex’s website at www.hkex.com.hk.

the Audit Committee usually meets 4 times a year to review the truthfulness, completeness, and accuracy of the 
Group’s financial statements. it is accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities 
in ensuring an effective and adequate system of internal controls and for meeting its external financial reporting 
obligations and compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements. the Audit Committee also oversees the 
scope of work of external auditors.

the Audit Committee’s work in 2012 includes consideration of the following matters:

•	 the	completeness	and	accuracy	of	the	2011	annual	and	2012	quarterly	and	interim	financial	statements;

•	 the	Group’s	compliance	with	statutory	and	regulatory	requirements;

•	 developments	in	accounting	standards	and	their	effect	on	the	Group;

•	 the	 audit	 report	 submitted	 by	 the	 external	 auditors	 summarizing	 matters	 arising	 from	 their	 audit	 of	 the	
Group	for	the	previous	year;

•	 review	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	system	of	internal	control	of	the	Group;

•	 the	audit	fees	payable	to	external	auditors	for	year	2012;	and

•	 recommendations	 to	 the	Board,	 for	 the	approval	by	 shareholders,	 for	 the	 reappointment	of	 Ernst	&	Young	
as the external auditors, which the Board agreed and accepted.
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During 2012, the Audit Committee met 4 times and the attendance of each member at the Audit Committee 
meetings is as follows:

 Number of
 committee meetings
 attended/eligible
 to attend

lAu Siu Ki (Chairman)  4/4
looK Andrew 4/4
KWoK Hoi Sing 3/4
HuAnG Xubin 4/4

other attendees at the Audit Committee meetings include the Group’s chief financial officer and the external 
auditors (for discussion of the audit of the interim and annual results only).

For the year under review, the remuneration paid for service provided by the auditors is roughly as follows:

Audit services HK$6,127,000
non-audit services (which include mainly consultant and taxation services) HK$1,610,000

(3) Executive Committee
the executive Committee was established in April 2008 with specific written terms of reference. the Board has 
delegated responsibilities to the executive Committee for making certain decision for the management of the 
Group. the executive Committee currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr. li Dongsheng, Mr. Guo 
Aiping and Mr. WAnG Jiyang.

(4) Nomination Committee
the nomination Committee was established on 24 February 2012 in compliance with the CG Code. it currently 
comprises three ineDs and one neD, namely, Mr. KWoK Hoi Sing, Mr. lAu Siu Ki, Mr. looK Andrew and Ms. Xu 
Fang, with Mr. KWoK Hoi Sing as the Chairman of the nomination Committee.

the main duties of the nomination Committee include the following:

•	 review	and	supervise	the	structure,	size	and	composition	of	the	Board;

•	 identify	qualified	individuals	to	become	members	of	the	Board;

•	 assess	the	independence	of	the	INEDs;	and

•	 make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	the	appointment	or	re-appointment	of	directors.
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the nomination Committee considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment or re-appointment of 
director(s). the terms of reference of the nomination Committee, which are closely aligned with the CG Code, are 
available on the Group’s website at http://tclcom.tcl.com and HKex’s website at www.hkex.com.hk.

During 2012, the nomination Committee met once and the attendance of each member at the nomination 
Committee meetings is as follows:

 Number of
 committee meetings
 attended/eligible
 to attend

KWoK Hoi Sing (Chairman)  1/1
lAu Siu Ki 1/1
looK Andrew 1/1
Xu Fang 1/1

During the meeting, the nomination Committee considered and reviewed the structure, size and apposition of the 
board and its compatibility with the corporate strategy of the Company.



T C L  C O M M U N I C A T I O N  T E C H N O L O G Y  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

56

Co
rpo

rate G
o

vern
a

n
Ce repo

rt ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
the Board is responsible for the integrity of financial information. the directors acknowledge their responsibility for the 
preparation of the accounts for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and of the results and cash flows for that period.

(1) Financial Reporting
the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements for the year 2012.

the Management also provides all directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a 
whole and each director to discharge their duties under rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the listing rules.

(2) Internal Controls
the Board is responsible for ensuring that an effective internal control system is maintained within the Company. 
the Directors acknowledge their responsibility to establish, maintain and review from time to time the effectiveness 
of the Group’s system of internal controls. During the year under review, the directors, through the Audit 
Committee, have reviewed the effectiveness in all material aspects of the internal control system of the Group.

the Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to 
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial reporting, and to ensure compliance 
with relevant legislation and regulations.

Certain executive directors and senior management have been delegated with respective level of authorities and 
have specific responsibility for monitoring the performance of business operating units. Annual budgets of the 
Group and quarterly financial reports have been provided to the executive Committee of the Board.

each year, the Audit Committee of the Company reviews the findings made by the external auditors in respect 
of issues encountered by them in preparation of the audit report, which often cover issues relating to internal 
control. the Audit Committee also reviews the internal control report submitted by the Company’s internal 
audit department. the Audit Committee will then review the actions performed or the plans to be carried out 
by the management in addressing the issues. the issues identified and the corresponding remedial plans and 
recommendations are then submitted to the Board for consideration. During the year under review, the Company 
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. For the year of 2012, no critical 
internal control issues have been identified.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
the position of Company Secretary is held by Ms. pAnG Siu Yin, a practising solicitor of Hong Kong who is not an 
employee of the Company. the Company Secretary can contact the Company through the Finance Director of the 
Company, Mr. WAnG pui. the Company Secretary reported to the Board chairman from time to time. All directors have 
access to the advice and services of the company secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all applicable laws, 
rules and regulations are followed.

Since Ms. pAnG was appointed in 2004, she has to take no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the 
financing year commencing on or after 1 January 2013 and she has fulfiled the requirement during the year under review.

INvESTOR RELATIONS
(1) Communication with Shareholders and Procedures for putting forward proposals at general meetings

All published information, including all the statutory announcements, press releases and event calendars, is 
promptly posted on the Group’s website at http://tclcom.tcl.com. Viewers can also send enquiries and proposals 
putting forward for shareholders’ consideration at shareholder meetings to the Board or senior management by 
email at ir.tclcomm@tcl.com or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

(2) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid 
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have 
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general 
meeting	 to	 be	 called	 by	 the	 Board	 for	 the	 transaction	 of	 any	 business	 specified	 in	 such	 requisition;	 and	 such	
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. if within twenty-one (21) days of 
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionst(s) himself (themselves) may do 
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of 
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

(3) Constitutional Documents
in 2012, certain amendments to the articles of association of the Company have been made in light of the 
amendments made to the listing rules and the CG Code. Certain other amendments in relation to cosmetic 
changes have also been made. All these amendments are disclosed on pages 16 to 27 of the circular of the 
Company published on 30 March 2012.
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the Company has always regarded the employees as the most valuable asset. As at 31 December 2012, there were a 
total of over 11,000 employees in the Company. the Company is committed to the compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations, striving to provide the employees with a safe and pleasant working environment, continuously improving the 
working conditions, and offering competitive remuneration package.

the Company has been dedicated to perfecting the internal communication system and platform for equal dialogue. 
through setting up regular staff meeting, organizing family visiting days and dispatching internal periodicals and 
e-newsletter, the company shares operation performance and the big events in the development process with the staffs 
and their families and collect employees’ feedback. this has motivated and encouraged employees to share responsibility 
and grow up with the Company.

the Company has always been devoting effort and investment to talent development. over the years, it has systematically 
developed a hi-potential professional and management talent pool. the continuous investment and cultivation on talents 
makes a critical contribution to the talent development of the Company. every year it effectively attracts excellent students 
from well-known universities domestically or globally and offers them the systematic training through “eyas training 
Camp”. in addition, the Company chooses high performers from management level to join one of the “eaglet/elite/tercel 
Training	 Camps”;	 through	 various	 ways	 of	 training,	 including	 lectures,	 introduction	 of	 research	 topics	 by	 famous	 local	
and overseas professors, visits to model companies and organisations, these programs provide on-job training and 
leadership development for the participants. up to 2012, this program has provided opportunities for more than 2,000 
managers and professionals. in 2012, the Company selected excellent r&D managers to visit famous companies and 
universities in Singapore in order to broaden their perspective and widen international exposure. in 2012, the Company 
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started cooperation with a globally well-noted research organization, Sri international. the multi-phased program 
including a series of “tCl innovation Workshops” introduced the leading innovation and technology commercialization 
processes to more than 300 management personnel, product managers, designers, and researchers. the company 
strives to offer employees learning opportunities from the state of the art of the five leading innovation principles and 
approaches, which in turn improves the company’s innovation ability.

the Company started “leadership Development program” to its management team in 2010, with the purpose of 
developing and promoting more talented staffs. it has benefited over 260 key employees in the past two years. Also, the 
Company has sponsored top employees for continuing education such as MBA and eMBA program. the Company strives 
to build up itself as a learning organization. in 2012, the Company cooperated with tCl Corp. to develop and launched 
love learning System, an online learning platform, which enables employees to study online. in the fourth quarter of 2012, 
the Company designed and introduced more than 100 courses, which has achieved over 20,000 learning hours and 
facilitated the convenience for study and well received by the staffs.

the Company concerns about employees’ health and their families, it organises different kinds of clubs and funds their 
leisure activities. Currently, there are more than 30 various clubs in the Company globally. Also, the Company promotes 
employee sport games in different places annually. in addition, the Company sends postcards and gifts to employees’ 
families in traditional holidays, and invites employees children to join various activities.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Company strives to bear its social responsibilities while undertaking steady 
business operation. As such, the Company strictly complies with the business convention and the Code of ethics, 
dedicates to improve business environment and promote environmental protection as well as energy saving, and 
proactively participates in charity work.

As a primary member of tCl Group (tCl Corp. together with its subsidiaries, are collectively known as the “tCl Group”), 
the Company has actively participated in the tCl Group’s charitable work. We endeavor to make more contribution and 
show wider responsibility towards charitable education, assistance to the weak & poverty reduction, employee welfare 
and environment protection through sponsorship and donation. Since 1996, tCl Group and employees have donated 
cash and supplies equivalent to rMB100 million to society.

the Company has also been undertaking Corporate Social responsibility (CSr) initiatives with a focus on education. We 
actively founded and initiated cooperation with universities and institutions from China and overseas by way of joint 
project team, fund and talent support to scientific research projects, “Joint lab” established by donation from universities, 
“tCl innovation Club”, “internship Base” etc., invited from students of various Chinese universities to visit the Company 
and strived to become a leading development base for innovative and practical talents.

the Company promotes the Green office by applying an online meeting system which saves substantial cost. up to 31 
December 2012, more than 5,000 employees have used this system for distant meetings. the Company strives to enhance 
employees’ awareness in spreading the Green Consumption concept, encourage and organize staffs to participate 
in volunteers activities. in 2012 the Company organized a Children painting Competition with the theme of “Green 
Consumption, Healthy travel” among the children of the Company’s employees. over 50 children from different countries 
participated in the competition and shared their genuine belief and wishes toward the earth and environment protection.

in order to ensure the product quality to meet or surpass industrial standards, the Company has successfully passed the 
identification of iSo9001/iSo14001/QC080000/oHSAS18001/SA8000. in 2012, it has successfully applied the tl9000 Quality 
Management System, its product quality plays a leading role in the telecom industry.
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the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their annual report and the audited financial 
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIvITIES
the Company is an investment holding company. the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries comprise 
manufacturing and sale of mobile and internet products. there were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s 
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIvIDENDS
the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2012 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at that 
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 80 to 166.

An interim dividend of 3 HK cents per ordinary share was paid on 31 october 2012. the Directors did not recommend the 
payment of any final dividend in respect of the year 2012 to shareholders of the Company.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five 
financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 167. 
this summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in 
note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are disclosed in notes 35 and 36 
to the financial statements and “Directors’ and Chief executive’s interests and Short positions in Shares, underlying Shares 
and Debentures” in the report of the Directors respectively.

PRE-EMPTIvE RIGHTS
there is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman islands 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the year under review.

RESERvES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 38 to the financial 
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERvES
As at 31 December 2012, the Company had distributable reserves of HK$315,139,000 standing to credit of its share 
premium account and HK$669,907,000 standing to the credit of its contributed surplus account. the amount of share 
premium account and contributed surplus account would remain the same as aforesaid since the Directors did not 
recommend the payment of any final dividend out of its distributable reserves.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
in the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 22% of the total sales for the year 
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 9%. purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers 
accounted for 22% of the total purchases for the year and purchase from the largest supplier included therein amounted 
to 7%.

none of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own 
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or 
five largest suppliers, except that disclosed in note 42(a) to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS
the Directors during the year 2012 and up to the date of this annual report were:

EXECUTIvE DIRECTORS:
Mr. li Dongsheng (Chairman)
Mr. Guo Aiping (Chief executive officer)
Mr. WAnG Jiyang (Chief operating officer)

NON-EXECUTIvE DIRECTORS:
Mr. Bo lianming
Mr. HuAnG Xubin
Ms. Xu Fang

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIvE DIRECTORS:
Mr. lAu Siu Ki
Mr. looK Andrew
Mr. KWoK Hoi Sing

in accordance with article 87(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Bo lianming, Mr. lAu Siu Ki and Mr. looK 
Andrew will retire by rotation at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the Company. they will hold their office until the 
conclusion of the AGM and Mr. lAu Siu Ki and Mr. looK Andrew will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Mr. Bo 
lianming, being eligible, will not offer himself for re-election and shall retire from office at the AGM.

each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence to the Company pursuant to rule 3.13 
of the listing rules and the Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 30 to 37 of this 
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERvICE CONTRACTS
As at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors had any existing or proposed service contract with the Company or any 
of its subsidiaries which will not expire or is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIvE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
the Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meeting. other emoluments are determined by the 
Company’s Board of Directors with reference to director’s duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the 
Group.

particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees during the financial year are set out in note 
11 to the financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM INCENTIvE SCHEMES
Details of the Group’s emolument policy and long-term incentive schemes, as well as the basis for determining the 
emolument payable to the Directors are set out in “emolument policy and long-term incentive plan” of the Corporate 
Governance report.

PENSION SCHEME
particulars of the Group’s pension schemes are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements under the heading “related parties transactions”, no Director had 
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the 
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during or at the end of the 
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Group were entered into or in existence during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIvE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of part XV of the Securities and 
Futures ordinance (the “SFo”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 
of the SFo, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
transactions by Directors of listed issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the listing rules, were as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company – Long Positions
  Number of  Approximate
 Number of ordinary underlying  percentage of
 shares held shares held  issued share
 Personal Family under equity  capital of
Name of Director interests interests derivatives Total the Company
 (note i)  (note ii)

li Dongsheng 34,102,756 1,920,000 12,416,165 48,438,921 4.29%
Guo Aiping 3,713,293 – 15,218,086 18,931,379 1.68%
WAnG Jiyang 3,386,944 – 8,576,498 11,963,442 1.06%
Bo lianming 65,700 – 3,388,987 3,454,687 0.31%
HuAnG Xubin – – 2,767,906 2,767,906 0.25%
Xu Fang – – 2,511,467 2,511,467 0.22%
lAu Siu Ki 144,177 – 500,000 644,177 0.06%
looK Andrew – – 600,000 600,000 0.05%
KWoK Hoi Sing – – 500,000 500,000 0.04%

(B) Interests in Associated Corporation of the Company – Long Positions
tCl Corp. (note iii)
  Number of  Approximate
 Number of ordinary underlying  percentage of
 shares held shares held  issued share
 Personal Family under equity  capital of
Name of Director interests interests derivatives Total TCL Corp.
   (note iv)

li Dongsheng 494,838,400 – – 494,838,400 5.84%
WAnG Jiyang – – 1,190,400 1,190,400 0.01%
Bo lianming 802,340 – 6,871,400 7,673,740 0.09%
HuAnG Xubin – – 4,833,400 4,833,400 0.06%
Xu Fang – 40,000 3,383,400 3,423,400 0.04%
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(C) Interests in Associated Corporation of the Company – Long Positions
tCl Multimedia (note v)
  Number of  Approximate
 Number of ordinary underlying  percentage of
 shares held shares held  issued share
 Personal Family under equity  capital of TCL
Name of Director interests interests derivatives Total Multimedia
 (note vi)

li Dongsheng 30,809,848 2,538,000 5,372,954 38,720,802 2.93%
Bo lianming 98,727 – 1,434,054 1,532,781 0.12%
HuAnG Xubin 60,560 – 1,020,280 1,080,840 0.08%
Xu Fang 108,760 – 1,258,510 1,367,270 0.10%

notes:

i. the “personal interests” herein also includes awarded shares granted by the Company to the Directors as at 31 
December 2012. on 9 August 2011, the Board approved the grant of a total of 596,479 shares of the Company to be 
awarded to Mr. WAnG Jiyang under the Share Award Scheme B. Further details of the awarded shares during the year 
under review were set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

ii. on 4 June 2012, share options for subscribing for a total of 24,220,134 shares were granted to the Directors under the 
Share option Scheme of the Company. Further details of the share options during the year under review were set out in 
note 36 to the financial statements.

iii. tCl Corp., a company incorporated in the people’s republic of China with its shares listed on the Shenzhen Stock 
exchange (stock code: 000100), is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

iv. on 13 January 2012, new shares options were granted to the Directors under the stock option incentive plan of tCl Corp.

v. tCl Multimedia, a company incorporated in the Cayman islands with its shares listed on the Stock exchange (stock code: 
01070), controlled by tCl Corp. and is a subsidiary of tCl Corp.

vi. on 10 May 2012, a total of 748,240 awarded shares were granted to the Directors under the restricted share award 
scheme of tCl Multimedia.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their 
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFo) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFo (including interests or short positions which they were 
taken	or	deemed	to	have	under	such	provisions	of	the	SFO);	or	(ii)	pursuant	to	section	352	of	the	SFO,	to	be	entered	in	the	
register	referred	to	therein;	or	(iii)	pursuant	to	the	Model	Code,	to	be	notified	to	the	Company	and	the	Stock	Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above and in the “Share option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme” disclosed in notes 36 and 37 
to the financial statements respectively, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any Director, their respective spouse or children 
under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of shares or underlying shares in or debentures of 
the Company or its associated corporations.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the persons other than a Director or chief executive of the 
Company in shares and underlying shares as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company 
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFo were as follows:

  Interest in Approximate
  shares and percentage of
  underlying the issued
Name Type of interest shares held shares capital Notes

tCl Corp. interest of controlled corporation 572,933,000 50.78% i

Mr. WonG toe Yeung Beneficial owner/interest of 66,558,925 5.90% ii
  spouse/interest held jointly
  with his spouse/interest of
  controlled corporation

Ms. leunG lai Bing Beneficial owner/interest of 66,558,925 5.90% ii
  spouse/interest held jointly
  with her spouse/interest of
  controlled corporation

notes:

i. under the SFo, as at 31 December 2012, tCl Corp. was deemed to be interested in 572,933,000 shares of the Company held by 
t.C.l. industries Holdings (H.K.) limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of tCl Corp.

ii. As at 31 December 2012, each of Mr. WonG toe Yeung and Ms. leunG lai Bing as husband and wife is deemed to be interested 
in	 66,558,925	 shares	 of	 the	 Company,	 comprising	 (a)	 29,140,000	 shares	 which	 are	 held	 by	 Ms.	 LEUNG;	 (b)	 11,129,188	 shares	
which	 are	 jointly	 held	 by	Mr.	WONG	 and	Ms.	 LEUNG;	 (c)	 19,995,000	 shares	 which	 are	 held	 by	 Top	 Scale	 Co.	 Ltd.,	 a	 company	
ultimately	 owned	by	Mr.	WONG	and	Ms.	 LEUNG;	 and	 (d)	 share	 options	 of	 the	Company	 held	 by	Mr.	WONG	 for	 subscribing	 for	
6,294,737 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no person (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) known to the Directors or 
chief executive of the Company, who, as at 31 December 2012, had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short 
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of 
the SFo.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group entered into a number of connected transactions and continuing 
connected transactions with tCl Corp. (being the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(which are regarded as connected persons as defined in the listing rules).
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the Group carried out the following continuing connected transactions (other than continuing connected transactions that 
are exempted under rule 14A.33 of the listing rules) during the year ended 31 December 2012:

a) on 27 october 2006, a three-year term financial service framework agreement was entered into among the 
Company, tCl Corp. and tCl Finance Co., ltd. (the “Finance Company”, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of tCl 
Corp.), pursuant to which the Company may from time to time utilize the financial services provided by the Finance 
Company including deposit services, finance services and other financial services. As it wishes to continue the 
continuing connected transactions contemplated thereunder, the Company renewed the said agreement on 9 
September 2008 and 26 october 2011 successively. the terms of the said renewal agreements are substantially 
the same as their predecessors with some minor modifications.

the current master financial services agreement (the “Master Financial Services Agreement”), was entered into on 
26 october 2011, has a three-year term from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014. Further details of the Master 
Financial Services Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 26 october 2011 and the 
circular of the Company dated 13 December 2011.

the deposit services under the Master Financial Services Agreement and the proposed caps thereof were duly 
approved by the shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting held on 30 December 2011.

During the year under review, the maximum total outstanding daily ending balances of deposits (including interest 
receivables in respect of these deposits) due from the Finance Company was HK$562,962,000 and a fee and 
commission of HK$11,000 in respect of other financial services has been paid by the Group.

b) on 13 September 2004, a brand promotion agreement was entered into between the Company and tCl Corp., 
pursuant to which the Group agreed to contribute a certain percentage of the Group’s net sales (before value 
added tax) from the sale of mobile communication products bearing the “tCl” name and products sold for each 
of our financial quarters for a period of thirty-six calendar months to the tCl Brand Common Fund. As it wishes 
to continue the continuing connected transactions contemplated thereunder, the Company renewed the said 
agreement on 29 December 2006, 25 november 2009 and 17 December 2012 successively. the terms of the said 
renewal agreements are substantially the same as their predecessors with some minor modifications.

the current brand promotion (renewal 2012) agreement (the “Brand promotion (renewal 2012) Agreement”), which 
was entered into on 17 December 2012, has a three-year term from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2015. Further 
details of the Brand promotion (renewal 2012) Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company 
dated 17 December 2012.

During the year under review, the Group incurred an amount of HK$18,119,000 under the said agreement.

c) on 13 September 2004, a master supply agreement was entered into between the Company and tCl Corp. for a 
term of three years pursuant to which (i) tCl Corp., upon the request from any prC subsidiaries of the Company, 
shall purchase goods or raw materials manufactured overseas (the “overseas Goods”) and then resell the same 
to	the	relevant	PRC	subsidiary	of	the	Company;	and	(ii)	 the	Company	shall	procure	its	PRC	subsidiaries	to	consider	
purchasing goods or raw materials manufactured in prC (the “prC Goods”) from the tCl Corp. and its subsidiaries, 
excluding members comprising the Group for the purpose of this annual report (the “tCl Corp. Group”). As it 
wishes to continue the continuing connected transactions contemplated thereunder, the Company renewed the 
said agreement on 29 December 2006, 25 november 2009 and 17 December 2012 successively. the terms of the 
said renewal agreements are substantially the same as their predecessors with some minor modifications.
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the current master supply (renewal 2012) agreement (the “Master Supply (renewal 2012) Agreement”), which was 
entered into on 17 December 2012, has a three-year term from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2015. Further details 
of the Master Supply (renewal 2012) Agreement were set out in the announcement and circular of the Company 
dated 17 December 2012 and 10 January 2013 respectively.

the transactions under the Master Supply (renewal 2012) Agreement and its proposed revised caps were duly 
approved by the shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting held on 25 January 2013.

During the year under review, the Group paid HK$887,622,000 and HK$577,484,000 for the overseas Goods 
and the prC Goods respectively, of which the amount of HK$887,622,000 for the overseas Goods comprised 
the consideration for the purchase of overseas Goods amounting to HK$883,847,000 and the administration fee 
amounting to HK$3,775,000.

d) on 8 August 2011, a master supply (sale) agreement (the “Master Supply (Sale) Agreement”) was entered into 
between the Company as the seller and tCl Corp. as the purchaser for a term from 8 August 2011 to 31 December 
2013, which governed the existing and future sales contracts (both finished goods and materials) to be entered 
into between the Company and tCl Corp. Group (tCl Corp. and its subsidiaries and any entity that may become 
subsidiary of tCl Corp. from time to time during the term of the Master Supply (Sale) Agreement but does not 
include the Group).

Further details of the Master Supply (Sale) Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 8 
August 2011.

During the year under review, the consideration received by the Group for the transactions under the Master 
Supply (Sale) Agreement was HK$10,914,000.

e) on 8 August 2011, a master lease agreement (the “Master lease Agreement”) was entered into between the 
Company and tCl Corp. which governed the existing leases and leases to be entered into. the Master lease 
Agreement has a term from 8 August 2011 to 31 December 2013.

Further details of the Master lease Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 8 August 
2011.

During the year, the total rental borne by the Company under the Master lease Agreement (including all existing 
leases) amounted to HK$24,142,000.

f) on 17 December 2012, a master logistics service supply agreement (the “Master logistics Service Supply 
Agreement”) was entered into between the Company and Shenzhen Speed Distribution platform Co., ltd (the 
“Speed Distribution”, a wholly owned subsidiary of tCl Corp.), effective from 17 December 2012 to 31 December 
2014, pursuant to which Speed Distribution shall provide logistics services to the Company in consideration of the 
Company paying carriage fees for such services.

Further details of the Master logistics Service Supply Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company 
dated 17 December 2012.

During the year, the consideration paid by the Company under the Master logistics Service Supply Agreement 
amounted to HK$1,884,000.
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the Group entered into the following connected transactions (other than connected transactions that are exempted 
under rule 14A.31 of the listing rules) during the year ended 31 December 2012:

a) on 24 April 2012, a joint construction agreement (the “Joint Construction Agreement”) was entered into 
between Huizhou tCl Mobile Communication Co., ltd. (the “Huizhou tCl Mobile”, an indirect wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company) and tCl King electrical Appliances (Huizhou) Co., ltd. (the “tCl King”, an 
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of tCl Multimedia), whereby tCl King shall have the right to enter into the 
land owned by Huizhou tCl Mobile and situated in Sub-division 37, Zhong Kai High tech park, Huizhou, 
Guangdong province, the prC (the “land no. 37”) and to commence construction project thereon. the 
transfer of the land use rights of land no. 37 and the facilities buildings thereon would take place upon 
the satisfaction of relevant conditions as imposed by the relevant authorities in the prC. Details of the Joint 
Construction Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2012.

on 17 october 2012, a transfer agreement (the “transfer Agreement”) was entered into between Huizhou 
tCl Mobile and tCl King transferring the land use rights of land no. 37 together with the facilities buildings 
thereon. the total consideration of such transfer covered both the value of the land use rights in the sum 
of rMB3,701,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,515,000 with the exchange rate on the transaction 
date) and the value of the facilities buildings in the sum of rMB9,307,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$11,355,000 with the exchange rate on the transaction date), totaling a sum of rMB13,008,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$15,870,000 with the exchange rate on the transaction date). Further details of the 
transfer Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 17 october 2012.

During the year, Huizhou tCl Mobile paid HK$15,870,000 under the said transfer agreement.

b) on 9 August 2012, a construction management agreement (the “Construction Management Agreement”) 
was entered into between Huizhou tCl Mobile and tCl real estate (Huizhou) Co., ltd (the “tCl real estate 
(Huizhou)”, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of tCl Corp.), pursuant to which, Huizhou tCl Mobile appointed 
tCl real estate (Huizhou) as the construction manager for the construction project on land no. 37 to 
provide it with construction management services for the period from 9 August 2012 to the expiry of one-
year warranty period starting from the date of final acceptance of major construction work thereon, but in 
any event no later than April 2014. the Service Fees are preliminarily agreed at rMB5,000,000 (equivalent 
to HK$6,150,000), subject to subsequent adjustment of the actual costs reasonably incurred and the reward 
and punishment mechanism, and in any event will not exceed rMB 6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,380,000).

Further details of the Construction Management Agreement were set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 9 August 2012.

During the year, Huizhou tCl Mobile paid HK$2,703,000 under the said construction management 
agreement.
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c) on 17 october 2012, a tripartite construction agreement (the “tripartite Agreement”) was entered into 
among Huizhou tCl Mobile, tCl King and tCl technoly electronics (Huizhou) Co., ltd. (the “tCl technoly”, 
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of tCl Multimedia), pursuant to which (i) the land situated in Sub-
division 38, Zhong Kai High tech park, Huizhou, Guangdong province, the prC (the “land no. 38”) would 
first	be	severed	into	three	different	portions;	and	(ii)	Huizhou	TCL	Mobile,	as	the	owner	of	the	land	use	rights	
of land no. 38, shall execute various contracts in relation to the construction projects on land no. 38 on 
behalf of tCl King and tCl technoly. once those relevant conditions in relation to the relevant portion of 
land no. 38 of each of tCl King and tCl technoly have been satisfied, Huizhou tCl Mobile shall enter 
into a transfer agreement with each of them, pursuant to which Huizhou tCl Mobile would transfer the 
relevant portion of land no. 38 together with the buildings thereon to each of tCl King and tCl technoly 
according to the agreed proportion. the total consideration for the transfer is rMB72,921,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$88,964,000), comprising of rMB42,212,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$51,499,000) 
to be paid by tCl King and rMB30,709,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$37,465,000 to be paid by tCl 
technoly. the amount may be adjusted subject to actual construction costs incurred, but in any event, it will 
not exceed rMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$61,000,000) and rMB48,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$58,560,000) for tCl King and tCl technoly respectively.

Further details of the tripartite Agreement were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 17 
october 2012.

During the year, no consideration was paid by Huizhou tCl Mobile under the tripartite Agreement.

d) According to the tripartite Agreement, Huizhou tCl Mobile, as the owner of the land use rights of land no. 
38, shall execute various contracts on behalf of tCl King and tCl technoly in relation to the construction 
projects on land no. 38. As all of the parties intended to commence the construction projects as soon as 
possible and none of them had the expertise in construction management, on 17 December 2012, Huizhou 
tCl Mobile entered into three management agreements (collectively the “Management Agreements”) 
with tCl real estate (Huizhou) for itself and on behalf of tCl King and tCl technoly, whereby tCl real 
estate (Huizhou) shall provide management services in relation to the construction projects on the relevant 
portions of land no. 38 of each of them. under the Management Agreements, tCl real estate (Huizhou) 
shall provide management services for the period from 17 December 2012 until tCl King and tCl technoly 
have entered into their respective agreements in its respective own name in the capacity as the owners of 
the land use rights of their relevant portions of the land no. 38.

For better management and clearer delineation of the rights and obligations of the parties involved, 
all aforesaid parties entered into a quartet agreement (the “Quartet Agreement”) which sets out the 
basic principle and the framework under which the parties shall follow in relation to the Management 
Agreements.

the total consideration to be paid by Huizhou tCl Mobile under the Management Agreements amounts 
to rMB 8,610,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,590,000), subject to subsequent adjustment of the 
actual costs reasonably incurred and the reward and punishment mechanism, and in any event will not 
exceed rMB 11,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,530,000).

Further details of the Management Agreements and the Quartet Agreement were set out in the 
announcement of the Company dated 17 December 2012.

During the year, no consideration was paid by Huizhou tCl Mobile under the Management Agreements 
and the Quartet Agreement.
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the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out above and have 
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were:

(i)	 in	the	ordinary	and	usual	course	of	business	of	the	Group;

(ii) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they 
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as 
appropriate)	independent	third	parties;	and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the 
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance engagements 3000 “Assurance engagements other than Audits 
or reviews of Historical Financial information” and with reference to practice note 740 “Auditor’s letter on Continuing 
Connected transactions under the Hong Kong listing rules” issued by the Hong Kong institute of Certified public 
Accountants. ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the 
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with rule 14A.38 of the listing rules. A 
copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock exchange.

ernst & Young have confirmed to the Board that the above continuing connected transactions:

(i)	 have	been	approved	by	the	Board;

(ii) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group where the transactions involved provision of goods or 
services	by	the	Group;

(iii)	 have	been	entered	into	in	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	relevant	agreements	governing	the	transactions;	and

(iv) have not exceeded the relevant caps as disclosed in the relevant announcements and/or circulars of the Company 
(where applicable).

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE
Details of the Group’s governance practices can be found in the Corporate Governance report contained on pages 38 to 
57 in this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
the Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the 
required standard set out in the Model Code. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors who have confirmed 
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct 
regarding directors’ securities transactions during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year under review, no Directors are considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to 
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the listing rules.
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EvENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in note 47 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of 
the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
the Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision 
over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. the audited annual results have been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee established in compliance with rule 3.21 of the listing rules and the relevant Code provisions of the CG 
Code.

the Audit Committee comprises four members, including Mr. lAu Siu Ki (Chairman), Mr. looK Andrew and Mr. KWoK Hoi 
Sing, all being independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. HuAnG Xubin, a non-executive Director.

AUDITORS
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been audited by ernst & Young, who shall retire and, being 
eligible, shall offer themselves for re-appointment as auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

on behalf of the Board

LI Dongsheng
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 February 2013
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Independent
Auditors’
Report

To the shareholders of TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited 

(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 166, which comprise the 

consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the consolidated income 

statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report 

is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.
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To the shareholders of TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 

and of the Group as at 31 December 2012, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central

Hong Kong

26 February 2013
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Consolidated
Income
Statement 
Year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011

 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

REVENUE 8 12,031,212 10,653,020

Cost of sales  (9,934,637) (8,324,789)

Gross profit  2,096,575 2,328,231

Other income and gains 8 542,841 508,225

Research and development costs 9 (739,654) (459,223)

Selling and distribution expenses  (1,153,653) (866,262)

Administrative expenses  (657,535) (558,074)

Other operating expenses  (109,289) (28,116)

Finance costs 10 (166,009) (140,051)

Share of losses of associates  (1,753) (1,381)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9 (188,477) 783,349

Income tax 12 (31,551) 17,296

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  (220,028) 800,645

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent 13 (207,840) 799,934

 Non-controlling interests  (12,188) 711

  (220,028) 800,645

(LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (HK cents) 15

Basic  (18.49) 72.83

Diluted  (18.07) 70.40

Details of the dividends declared for the year are disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive 

Income
Year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011

 Note HK$’000 HK$’000
 

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  (220,028) 800,645

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME

Cash flow hedges:

 Effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging

  instruments arising during the year 30 (10,272) 41,346

 Reclassification adjustments for gains included in the

  consolidated income statement 30 (28,653) (31,131)

 Income tax effect 30 (3,847) (128)

  (42,772) 10,087

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (2,197) 89,441

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR,

 NET OF TAX  (44,969) 99,528

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (264,997) 900,173

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent  (252,809) 899,462

 Non-controlling interests  (12,188) 711

  (264,997) 900,173
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Consolidated 
Statement of 
Financial Position
31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 16 597,287 497,132
Prepaid land lease payments 17 176,656 185,444
Other intangible assets 18 920,536 702,215
Goodwill 19 253,954 253,954
Investment in an associate 21 3,502 2,352
Available-for-sale investments 22 26,272 26,272
Deferred tax assets 34 130,659 105,668

Total non-current assets  2,108,866 1,773,037

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 23 1,263,038 981,416
Trade receivables 24 2,842,494 2,584,768
Factored trade receivables 25 432,334 309,960
Notes receivable  39,220 53,470
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 26 1,246,325 870,488
Due from related companies 42(d) 29,512 13,678
Tax recoverable  22,236 12,261
Derivative financial instruments 30 145,894 148,693
Pledged deposits 27 4,221,125 6,092,411
Cash and cash equivalents 27 969,789 1,186,637

Total current assets  11,211,967 12,253,782

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest bearing bank and other borrowings 28 5,726,390 7,222,256
Trade and notes payables 29 2,428,661 1,952,129
Bank advances on factored trade receivables 25 432,334 309,960
Other payables and accruals  1,620,401 1,431,091
Derivative financial instruments 30 96,282 71,157
Provision for warranties 31 187,975 137,574
Due to related companies 42(d) 112,826 165,210
Tax payable  738 25,744

Total current liabilities  10,605,607 11,315,121

NET CURRENT ASSETS  606,360 938,661

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,715,226 2,711,698

   continued/...
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Consolidated 
Statement of 

Financial Position
31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,715,226 2,711,698

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Retirement indemnities 32 3,738 2,263

Long service medals 33 1,840 1,332

Interest bearing bank and other borrowings 28 193,790 –

Loan from a related company 28,42(d) 116,274 –

Deferred tax liabilities 34 76,958 35,032

Total non-current liabilities  392,600 38,627

Net assets  2,322,626 2,673,071

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Issued capital 35 1,128,290 1,114,193

Shares held for Share Award Scheme 37 (77,870) (80,708)

Reserves 38(a) 1,270,691 1,467,753

Proposed final dividend 14 – 167,384

  2,321,111 2,668,622

Non-controlling interests  1,515 4,449

Total equity  2,322,626 2,673,071

LI Dongsheng GUO Aiping

Director Director



T C L  C O M M U N I C A T I O N  T E C H N O L O G Y  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

84

Consolidated 
Statement of 
Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2012

 Attributable to owners of the parent
 

   Shares

   held for

 Issued Share Share Awarded Share     Exchange Proposed   Non–

 share premium Award shares option Hedging Contributed Statutory Other fluctuation final Retained  controlling Total

 capital account Scheme reserve reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve dividend profits Total interests equity

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

 (note 35) (note 35) (note 37) (note 37) (note 36) (note 30) (note 38(a)) (note 38(a)) (note 38 (a))

At 1 January 2011 1,097,528 232,602 (11,032) 1,499 56,653 47,935 232,555 191,425 – 131,870 184,805 52,606 2,218,446 3,738 2,222,184

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – – – 799,934 799,934 711 800,645

Other comprehensive income

 for the year:

 Cash flow hedges, net of tax – – – – – 10,087 – – – – – – 10,087 – 10,087

 Exchange differences on

  translation of foreign

  operations – – – – – – – – – 89,441 – – 89,441 – 89,441

Total comprehensive income

 for the year – – – – – 10,087 – – – 89,441 – 799,934 899,462 711 900,173

Acquisition of a new business

 under common control – – – – – – – – (130,232) – – – (130,232) – (130,232)

Exercise of share options 17,638 46,418 – – (20,169) – – – – – – – 43,887 – 43,887

Reclassification of lapsed

 share options – 116 – – (116) – – – – – – – – – –

Equity-settled share option

 arrangements – – – – 33,644 – – – – – – – 33,644 – 33,644

Share Award Scheme arrangements – – – 9,971 – – – – – – – – 9,971 – 9,971

Reclassification of vested awarded

 shares – (70) 1,580 (1,510) – – – – – – – – – – –

Shares purchased for Share Award

 Scheme – 7,615 (71,256) – – – – – – – – – (63,641) – (63,641)

Shares repurchased (973) (3,165) – – – – – – – – – – (4,138) – (4,138)

Transfer from retained profits – – – – – – – 29,497 – – – (29,497) – – –

2010 final dividend declared – (630) – – – – – – – – (184,805) – (185,435) – (185,435)

2011 interim dividend declared – – – – – – – – – – – (153,342) (153,342) – (153,342)

Proposed 2011 final dividend – – – – – – – – – – 167,384 (167,384) – – –

At 31 December 2011 1,114,193 282,886* (80,708) 9,960* 70,012* 58,022* 232,555* 220,922* (130,232)* 221,311* 167,384 502,317* 2,668,622 4,449 2,673,071

   continued/...
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Consolidated 
Statement of 

Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2012

 Attributable to owners of the parent
 

   Shares

   held for

 Issued Share Share Awarded Share     Exchange Proposed   Non–

 share premium Award shares option Hedging Contributed Statutory Other fluctuation final Retained  controlling Total

 capital account Scheme reserve reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve dividend profits Total interests equity

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

 (note 35) (note 35) (note 37) (note 37) (note 36) (note 30) (note 38(a)) (note 38(a)) (note 38 (a))

At 1 January 2012 1,114,193 282,886 (80,708) 9,960 70,012 58,022 232,555 220,922 (130,232) 221,311 167,384 502,317 2,668,622 4,449 2,673,071

Loss for the year – – – – – – – – – – – (207,840) (207,840) (12,188) (220,028)

Other comprehensive loss

 for the year:

 Cash flow hedges, net of tax – – – – – (42,772) – – – – – – (42,772) – (42,772)

 Exchange differences on

  translation of foreign

  operations – – – – – – – – – (2,197) – – (2,197) – (2,197)

Total comprehensive loss

 for the year – – – – – (42,772) – – – (2,197) – (207,840) (252,809) (12,188) (264,997)

Exercise of share options 12,894 29,284 – – (15,726) – – – – – – – 26,452 – 26,452

Issue of new shares under

 Share Award Scheme 1,203 5,435 – (6,638) – – – – – – – – – – –

Reclassification of lapsed

 share options – 2,498 – – (2,498) – – – – – – – – – –

Equity-settled share option

 arrangements – – – – 42,854 – – – – – – – 42,854 – 42,854

Share Award Scheme

 arrangements – – – 38,256 – – – – – – – – 38,256 – 38,256

Reclassification of vested

 awarded shares – 1,227 2,838 (4,065) – – – – – – – – – – –

Addition of non-controlling

 interests – – – – – – – – – – – – – 9,254 9,254

Transfer from retained profits – – – – – – – 54,603 – – – (54,603) – – –

2011 final dividend declared – – – – – – – – – – (167,384) (1,031) (168,415) – (168,415)

2012 interim dividend declared – – – – – – – – – – – (33,849) (33,849) – (33,849)

At 31 December 2012 1,128,290 321,330* (77,870) 37,513* 94,642* 15,250* 232,555* 275,525* (130,232)* 219,114* – 204,994* 2,321,111 1,515 2,322,626

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,270,691,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,467,753,000) 

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated 
Statement of
Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax  (188,477) 783,349
Adjustments for:
 Share of losses of associates  1,753 1,381
 Interest income 8 (213,389) (195,504)
 Dividend income from available-for-sale investments 8 (4,016) (1,477)
 Gain on disposal of prepaid land lease payments and
  affiliated buildings 8 (56,114) –
 Depreciation 9 120,557 86,055
 Prepaid land lease recognised 9 3,469 990
 Amortisation of computer software, intellectual property and
  ALCATEL brand license 9 40,244 21,211
 Amortisation of deferred development costs 9 628,321 168,135
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 9 (660) 72
 Loss on retirement and disposal of intangible assets 9 297 –
 Equity-settled share options expenses 9 36,504 33,644
 Equity-settled Share Award Scheme expenses 9 25,639 9,971
 Impairment loss of trade receivables 9 884 4,025
 Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss of other receivables 9 1,192 (10,337)
 Reversal of impairment loss of an investment in an associate 9 – (1,539)
 Deemed loss on disposal of an investment in an associate 9 – 1,210
 Finance costs 10 166,009 140,051
 Gain on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 30 (6,118) (30,370)

  556,095 1,010,867

Increase in inventories  (283,807) (191,988)
Increase in trade receivables  (243,975) (136,750)
Increase in factored trade receivables  (122,374) (278,762)
Decrease/(increase) in notes receivable  14,250 (46,379)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables  (369,801) (277,412)
Decrease in pledged deposits  – 1,178
Decrease in derivative financial instruments  12,820 18,599
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related companies  (10,162) 300
Increase in trade and notes payables  651,965 39,675
Increase in other payables and accruals  251,152 138,242
Increase in provision for warranties  48,273 12,259
Decrease in amounts due to related companies  (52,384) (1,317)
Increase/(decrease) in retirement indemnities  1,399 (23)
Increase in long service medals  471 101

Cash generated from operations  453,922 288,590
Tax paid  (52,356) (35,547)
Interest paid  (177,419) (131,345)

Net cash flows from operating activities  224,147 121,698

   continued/...
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Consolidated 
Statement of
Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Net cash flows from operating activities  224,147 121,698

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment  (246,385) (231,823)
Addition of prepaid land lease payments  – (166,774)
Acquisition of intangible assets  (1,041,757) (610,278)
Advance from disposal of prepaid land lease payments and
 affiliated buildings  – 49,320
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid land lease payments and
 affiliated buildings  27,094 –
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment  2,467 2,064
Acquisition of subsidiaries  – (121,735)
Acquisition of a new business under common control  – (143,928)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments  – (6,027)
Investment in an associate  (2,298) –
Decrease in pledged deposits  1,023 120,921
Dividends received from available-for-sale investments  1,996 1,477
Interest received  206,250 140,995

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (1,051,610) (965,788)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of new shares by exercise of share options  26,452 43,887
Addition of non-controlling interests  9,254 –
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits  1,870,263 (13,514)
Shares purchased for Share Award Scheme  – (63,641)
Shares repurchased  – (4,138)
Decrease in an amount due to the ultimate controlling
 shareholder  – (2,514)
Increase in bank advances on factored trade receivables  122,374 278,762
New bank loans  7,996,358 7,727,988
New loan from a related company 42(a) 116,382 –
Repayment of bank loans  (9,298,324) (6,992,586)
Capital element of a finance lease  – (1,103)
Dividends paid  (202,263) (336,399)

Net cash flows from financing activities  640,496 636,742

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (186,967) (207,348)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,186,637 1,345,283
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  (29,881) 48,702

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  969,789 1,186,637

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the statement of
 financial position 27 969,789 1,186,637
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  2012 2011

 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 20 1,053,679 1,288,526

Total non-current assets  1,053,679 1,288,526

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries 20 1,476,352 1,380,096

Other receivables 26 5,682 –

Cash and cash equivalents 27 3,444 3,831

Total current assets  1,485,478 1,383,927

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to subsidiaries 20 198,717 105,052

Other payables and accruals  8,900 15,164

Total current liabilities  207,617 120,216

NET CURRENT ASSETS  1,277,861 1,263,711

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,331,540 2,552,237

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest bearing bank and other borrowings 28 193,790 –

Total non-current liabilities  193,790 –

Net assets  2,137,750 2,552,237

EQUITY

Issued capital 35 1,128,290 1,114,193

Shares held for Share Award Scheme 37 (77,870) (80,708)

Reserves 38(b) 1,087,330 1,351,368

Proposed final dividend 14 – 167,384

Total equity  2,137,750 2,552,237

LI Dongsheng GUO Aiping

Director Director
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Notes to 
Financial 

Statements
31 December 2012

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 
26 February 2004 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the 
Cayman Islands. The principal office of the Company is located at Rooms 1910-12A, Tower 3, China Hong 
Kong City, 33 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the research and development, manufacture and sale 
of mobile phones and other products.

In the opinion of the directors, T.C.L. Industries Holding (H.K.) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong 
Kong, is the immediate holding company of the Company and the ultimate holding company of the Company 
is TCL Corporation, a limited liability company registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and 
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the Group’s 
forward contracts and interest rate swap, which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements 
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when 
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2012. The financial statements of the subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The 
results of subsidiaries and a Trust (“the Share Award Scheme Trust”), a controlled special purpose entity, are 
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue 
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised 
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results in 
a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 
of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value 
of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of 
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained 
profits, as appropriate.

On 3 July 2007, the board of directors (the “Board”) approved a Share Award Scheme (“Share Award Scheme 
A”) under which awarded shares may be awarded to employees of subsidiaries of the Group in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of Share Award Scheme A. Share Award Scheme A was terminated on 23 
October 2009. On 11 March 2008, the Board resolved to adopt another Share Award Scheme (“Share Award 
Scheme B”) to provide incentives to employees and to retain and encourage employees for the continual 
operation and development of the Group. Pursuant to the rules of the Share Award Schemes, the Group 
has set up the Share Award Scheme Trust for the purpose of administering the Share Award Schemes 
and holding the awarded shares before they vest. As the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the Share Award Scheme Trust and derives benefits from the contributions of the 
employees who have been awarded the awarded shares through their continued employment with the Group, 
the Group is required to consolidate the Share Award Scheme Trust under HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements.
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The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 
statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
  Financial Reporting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and 
  Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters
HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 
  Transfers of Financial Assets
HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred Tax: 
  Recovery of Underlying Assets

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of amendments to HKFRS 7, the adoption of the 
revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

The principal effect of adopting HKFRS 7 Amendments is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures about financial assets that have been transferred 
but not derecognised to enable users of the Group’s financial statements to understand the relationship of 
those assets that have not been derecognised with their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendments 
require disclosures about the entity’s continuing involvement in derecognised assets to enable users to 
evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, such involvement. Details of the transfers of financial assets, 
including the related comparative information, are included in note 44 to the financial statements.

4. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, which have been issued but are not yet 
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
  Financial Reporting Standards – Government Loans 2

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 
  Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 4

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 2

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 2

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 2

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 –
 HKFRS 12 Amendments  Transition Guidance 2

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
 HKAS 27 (2011) Amendments  (2011) – Investment Entities 3

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 2

HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – 
  Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits 2

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements 2

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 2

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – 
  Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 2

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in June 2012 2

 2009 – 2011 Cycle

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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4. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related 
arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information that is 
useful in evaluating the effect of netting arrangement on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures 
are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to 
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether they are set off in 
accordance with HKAS 32. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace 
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall 
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both 
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the classification and measurement of 
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) 
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. 
Most of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made to the 
measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option 
(“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to 
changes in credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the 
change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of 
the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been designated under the FVO are scoped 
out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance 
in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to apply. The Group expects 
to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with other phases, 
when the final standard including all phases is issued.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities 
or structured entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used to determine which entities 
are consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to exercise 
significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS 
27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial 
statements. It also addresses the issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary analyses 
performed, HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the currently held investments of the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint arrangements with joint control. 
It addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures, and removes the 
option to account for joint ventures using proportionate consideration.
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HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
structured entities previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 
31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new 
disclosure requirements for these entities.

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify 
the transition guidance in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full retrospective application of these 
standards, limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the preceding 
comparative period. The amendments clarify that retrospective adjustments are only required if the 
consolidation conclusion as to which entities are controlled by the Group is different between HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first 
time. Furthermore, for disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities, the amendments will remove 
the requirement to present comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12 is first applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012 include a definition of an investment entity and 
provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment 
entity. Investment entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than consolidate them. Consequential amendments were made to HKFRS 
12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure requirements for 
investment entities. The Group expects that these amendments will not have any impact on the Group as the 
Company is not an investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, 
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011), 
HKAS 28 (2011), and the subsequent amendments to these standards issued in July and December 2012 
from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and 
disclosure requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the circumstances in 
which the Group is required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair value should be applied 
where its use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13 
prospectively from 1 January 2013.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified 
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, net gain on hedge of a net investment, exchange 
differences on translation of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on 
available-for-sale financial assets) would be presented separately from items which will never be reclassified 
(for example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans and revaluation of land and buildings). The 
amendments will affect presentation only and have no impact on the financial position or performance. The 
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013.
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4. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range from fundamental changes to simple 
clarifications and re-wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes in the accounting for 
defined benefit pension plans including removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains 
and losses. Other changes include modifications to the timing of recognition for termination benefits, the 
classification of short-term employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group expects to 
adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 January 2013.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to setoff” for 
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the application of the offsetting 
criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems (such as central clearing houses systems) which apply gross 
settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on 
the financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2014.

The Annual Improvement to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle issued in June 2012 sets out amendments to a 
number of HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013. There are separate 
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments may result in 
changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments are expected to have a significant financial impact 
on the Group. Those amendments that are expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s policies are 
as follows:

(a) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies the difference between voluntary additional 
comparative information and the minimum require comparative information. Generally, the minimum 
required comparative period is the previous period. An entity must include comparative information 
in the related notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information 
beyond the previous period. The additional comparative information does not need to contain a 
complete set of financial statements.

 In addition, the amendments clarifies that the opening statement of financial position as at the 
beginning of the preceding period must be presented when an entity changes its accounting policies; 
makes retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change has a material effect on 
the statement of financial position. However, the related notes to the opening statement of financial 
position as at the beginning of the preceding period are not required to be presented.

(b) HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to 
equity holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes. The amendment removes 
existing income tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to apply the requirements in 
HKAS 12 to any income tax arising from distributions to equity holders.
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Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received 
and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties undertake 
an economic activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the other parties 
have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture 
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon its 
dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus assets 
are shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance 
with the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group/Company has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or 
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, 
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position to exercise 
significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or 
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor is 
in a position to exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Associates
An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a long-
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to 
exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the 
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments 
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and reserves of its associates is included in the consolidated income statement and 
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in associates, except where 
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the 
acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not individually 
tested for impairment.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (other than business combinations of entities under common control) and 
goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is 
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, 
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership 
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling 
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the 
scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or 
as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as 
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity 
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this 
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after 
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, 
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part 
of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill 
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of 
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Business combinations of entities under common control
Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted for using the pooling of interests 
method with no restatement of financial information in the consolidated financial statements for periods prior 
to the completion of the combination under common control. Under the pooling of interests method, the 
assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their existing carrying values at the date of 
combination. No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net 
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common 
control combination, which, instead, is recorded as part of equity.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required 
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, goodwill and non-current assets), the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than 
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A 
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for 
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(ii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its 
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location 
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In 
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in 
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment 
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific 
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose 
are as follows:

Buildings 2.0% to 6.0%
Plant and machinery 9.0% to 18.0%
Furniture, fixtures, office equipment and research and development equipment 18.0% to 50.0%
Motor vehicles 15.0% to 22.5%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, 
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial 
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 
on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the 
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which is stated at cost less any 
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised 
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the year of construction. Construction in progress is 
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination using the acquisition method is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite 
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the 
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset 
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to 
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group 
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 
or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is 
expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less impairment losses and are amortised on a systematic 
basis with reference to projected revenue, ranging from 12 to 24 months, upon sales of related products.

Computer software
Purchased computer software is stated at cost, less any impairment losses, and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.

Intellectual property
Purchased intellectual property is stated at cost, less any impairment losses, and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life.

Golf club membership
Golf club membership has an indefinite useful life and is stated at cost, less any identified impairment losses.

ALCATEL brand license
ALCATEL brand license is stated at cost, less any impairment losses, and is amortised on the straight-line 
basis over its contracted useful life.

Leases
Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than 
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset 
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, 
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance 
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant and 
equipment, and depreciated over the period consistent with that for depreciable assets that are owned. If 
there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset 
shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. The finance costs of such leases 
are charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Lease (continued)
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net 
of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over 
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised 
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair 
value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or 
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as 
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated 
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 
value with positive net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes 
in fair value presented as finance costs in the income statement. These net fair value changes do not include 
any dividends on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policy set out for 
“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess 
whether the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group 
is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them in the 
foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify them. The reclassification from 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets 
or held-to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any 
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option at designation, as 
these instruments cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value 
if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the 
host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded 
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash 
flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains 
in the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income statement in finance 
costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity 
investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither 
classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category 
are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to 
needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with 
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment 
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement in other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, 
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to 
the income statement in other expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale 
financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised 
in the income statement as other income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” 
below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in 
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the 
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such 
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near 
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets 
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future, 
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted 
when the financial assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability 
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category 
is permitted only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial 
asset.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)
For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the 
date of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that 
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using 
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also 
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently 
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is derecognised when:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or

•	 the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	or	has	assumed	an	obligation	
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of 
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement 
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors 
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that 
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses individually whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that 
are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future 
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 
recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying 
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written 
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been 
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is 
credited to other expenses in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument 
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that 
is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on 
these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments
For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any 
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised 
in the income statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income 
statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of what 
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the 
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where 
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the 
income statement – is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement. 
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income 
statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes payables, bank advances on factored trade 
receivables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies, derivative financial instruments 
and interest bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near 
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated 
as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives, 
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or 
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss 
recognised in the income statement does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 
finance costs in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets is determined by reference to quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), 
without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments where there is no active market, the 
fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. These techniques include using recent arm’s 
length market transactions, and/or reference to the current market value of another instrument which is 
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, 
to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments 
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the income statement, 
except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

•	 fair	 value	 hedges	 when	 hedging	 the	 exposure	 to	 changes	 in	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 a	 recognised	 asset	 or	
liability or an unrecognised firm commitment; or

•	 cash	flow	hedges	when	hedging	the	exposure	to	variability	 in	cash	flows	that	 is	either	attributable	to	a	
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, 
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment; or

•	 hedges	of	a	net	investment	in	a	foreign	operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship 
to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management objective and its strategy for 
undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item 
or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess the hedging instrument’s 
effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the 
hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly 
effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to 
determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which 
they were designated.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of hedging derivative is recognised in the income statement as other expenses. 
The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the 
carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in the income statement as other expenses.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedges (continued)
For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying value is amortised 
through the income statement over the remaining term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method. 
Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and shall begin no later 
than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being 
hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change 
in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability 
with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in the income statement. The changes in the fair value of the 
hedging instrument are also recognised in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income in the hedging reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement as other expenses.

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to the income statement when the 
hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when hedged financial income or financial expense is 
recognised or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or 
non-financial liability, the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to the income 
statement in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects the 
income statement.

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in equity is transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, the 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income remain in other comprehensive income until 
the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification
Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are classified as current or 
non-current or separated into current and non-current portions based on an assessment of the facts and 
circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

•	 Where	 the	 Group	 expects	 to	 hold	 a	 derivative	 as	 an	 economic	 hedge	 (and	 does	 not	 apply	 hedge	
accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the derivative is 
classified as non-current (or separated into current and non-current portions) consistently with the 
classification of the underlying item.

•	 Embedded	derivatives	 that	are	not	closely	 related	 to	 the	host	contract	are	classified	consistently	with	
the cash flows of the host contract.

•	 Derivative	 instruments	 that	 are	 designated	 as,	 and	 are	 effective	 hedging	 instruments,	 are	 classified	
consistently with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instruments are 
separated into current portions and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.
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Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 
average or standard costing basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises 
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on 
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a short maturity of 
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the 
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs 
in the income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain products are recognised based on 
sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as 
appropriate.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss 
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and 
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when	 the	deferred	 tax	 liability	arises	 from	 the	 initial	 recognition	of	goodwill	 or	an	asset	or	 liability	 in	a	
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in	respect	of	taxable	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	associates	and	
a joint venture, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when	 the	 deferred	 tax	 asset	 relating	 to	 the	 deductible	 temporary	 differences	 arises	 from	 the	 initial	
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in	 respect	of	deductible	 temporary	differences	associated	with	 investments	 in	subsidiaries,	associates	
and a joint venture, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, 
it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to 
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released 
to the income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or 
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the income statement by way of a reduced 
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset;
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ts 5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(c) value-added service income, upon provision of the relevant services; and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

Employee benefits
Share-based payments
The Company operates a share option scheme and one Share Award Schemes for the purpose of providing 
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. 
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by 
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external 
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 36 and 37 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents the 
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions where 
vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of 
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or 
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial 
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new 
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it 
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options and awarded shares through new issue of shares is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of (loss)/earning per share.

Shares held for the Share Award Scheme
As disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements, the Group has set up the Share Award Scheme Trust 
for the share award schemes, where the Share Award Scheme Trust purchases shares issued by the Group, 
the consideration paid by the Company, including any directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as 
“Shares held for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from the Group’s equity.
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5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Central Pension Scheme
Subsidiaries operating in Mainland China have participated in the central pension scheme (the “CPS”) 
operated by the PRC government for all of their staff. These PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a 
certain percentage of their covered payroll to the CPS to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to the CPS is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the CPS. Contributions under the 
CPS are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS.

Mandatory Provident Fund
The Company’s subsidiaries, incorporated in Hong Kong, operate a defined contribution Mandatory Provident 
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the 
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the 
Group in an independently administered fund. The employer contributions vest fully with the employees when 
contributed into the MPF Scheme except for the employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the 
Company’s subsidiaries which are incorporated in Hong Kong when an employee leaves employment prior to 
the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Retirement indemnities
TCT Mobile Europe SAS (“TCT SAS”), which was incorporated in France, operates a defined contribution 
plan (the “contribution plan”) and a defined benefit pension plan (the “pension plan”). For the contribution 
plan, TCT SAS is not liable for any legal or constructive obligations under the contribution plan beyond the 
contributions paid, and no provision as such is made. For the pension plan, corresponding to retirement 
indemnities relating to TCT SAS’s employees, liabilities and prepaid expenses are determined as follows:

•	 using	 the	projected	unit	 credit	method,	with	 the	projected	 final	 salary,	which	 takes	 into	consideration	
each period of service giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit 
separately to build up the final obligation. Actuarial assumptions comprise mortality, rates of employee 
turnover and projection of future salary levels; and

•	 actuarial	gains	and	losses	are	recognised	as	income	or	expense	when	the	net	cumulative	unrecognised	
actuarial gains and losses for the pension plan at the end of the previous period exceed 10% of the 
higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These gains 
or losses are recognised over the expected average remaining service periods of the employees 
participating in the pension plan.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of share premium or retained 
profits within the equity section of the statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the 
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and 
declared, they are recognised as a liability.
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ts 5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Dividends (continued)
Interim dividends and special dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s 
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare such dividends. 
Consequently, such dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency 
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional 
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the 
income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with 
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item 
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than the Hong 
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into 
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period 
and their income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates 
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries, which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong 
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group determines whether property, plant and equipment are impaired when there is an indication of 
impairment. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the property, 
plant and equipment were allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate 
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment at 31 December 2012 was HK$597,287,000 (31 December 2011: HK$497,132,000). More details 
are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Management carries out the impairment review on property, plant and equipment by comparing the carrying 
amount and the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment.

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment exceeds 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it 
arises. Management assesses the recoverable amount by comparing the fair value less costs to sell and the 
expected value in use which is determined by the expected useful life and the expected discounted net cash 
flows of property, plant and equipment.

Warranty claims
The Group generally offers warranties for its products for 12 to 24 months. Management estimates the 
related provision for future warranty claims based on historical warranty claim information, as well as recent 
trends that might suggest that past cost information may differ from future claims.

As the Group is continually upgrading its product designs and launching new models, it is possible that 
the past experience of the level of repairs and returns is not indicative of future claims that it will receive in 
respect of past sales. Any increase or decrease in the actual claims would affect profit or loss in future years. 
As at 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of warranty provisions was HK$187,975,000 (31 December 
2011: HK$137,574,000). Further details are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use 
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units 
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The 
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2012 and 2011 was HK$253,954,000. More details are given in 
note 19 to the financial statements.
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ts 6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables
Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables is made based on assessment of the recoverability 
of receivables due from customers. The identification of impairment requires management judgements 
and estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, 
such differences will impact on the carrying amount of the receivables and impairment losses/reversal of 
impairment losses in the period in which such estimate has been changed. The carrying amounts of trade 
receivables and other receivables at 31 December 2012 were HK$2,842,494,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$2,584,768,000) and HK$1,134,037,000 (31 December 2011: HK$771,941,000), respectively. Further 
details are given in note 24 and note 26 to the financial statements.

Provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories
The Group reviews the condition of its inventories and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving 
inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use. Management estimates the 
net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market 
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of the reporting period and makes provision 
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses the estimation at the end of the reporting 
period.

The provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories requires the use of judgements and estimates. 
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on the carrying value 
of inventories and the write-down of inventories recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been 
changed. The carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 2012 was HK$1,263,038,000 (31 December 
2011: HK$981,416,000). Further details are given in note 23 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategy. 
The carrying value of deferred tax assets at 31 December 2012 was HK$130,659,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$105,668,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2012 was HK$2,316,941,000 (31 
December 2011: HK$1,104,496,000). Further details are included in note 34 to the financial statements.

Development costs
Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy for research and development 
costs in note 5 to the financial statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management 
to make assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be 
applied and the expected period of benefits. At 31 December 2012, the best estimate of the carrying amount 
of capitalised development costs was HK$565,107,000 (31 December 2011: HK$320,327,000). Further 
details are included in note 18 to the financial statements.
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the management does not review the performance of the business in China 
and overseas segments separately, but considers that there is only one segment which is the research and 
development, manufacture and sale of mobile phones and other products. All of the Group’s products are of 
a similar nature and subject to similar risk and returns.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

China 1,615,557 1,009,687
Asia Pacific 816,902 641,317
Americas 5,117,254 5,178,700
Europe, the Middle East and Africa 4,481,499 3,823,316

Total 12,031,212 10,653,020

The revenue information of continuing operations above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets
Because majority of the Group’s non-current assets and capital expenditure were located/incurred in 
China, accordingly, no related geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers
For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, no revenue from a single customer accounted for 10% or 
more of the total revenue of the Group.
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Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of mobile phones and other 
products sold during the year, after deducting allowances for returns and trade discounts. All significant intra-
group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

 Group
  2012 2011
 Note HK$’000 HK$’000
  (Restated)
 

Revenue
Sale of mobile phones and other products  12,031,212 10,653,020

Other income and gains
Interest income  213,389 195,504
Subsidy income*  70,148 30,863
Value-added-tax (“VAT”) refunds**  172,383 102,020
Value-added service income  11,685 10,293
Exchange gains, net  – 135,040
 Including: exchange losses on derivative financial instruments  – (40,674)
       Ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges  – (3,405)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  660 –
Gain on disposal of prepaid land lease payments and 
 affiliated buildings 9 56,114 –
Dividend income from available-for-sale investments  4,016 1,477
Others  14,446 33,028

  542,841 508,225

* Subsidy income represented various government grants received by the Group in the PRC. In the opinion of the 
management, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

** During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, JRD Communication (Shenzhen) Ltd. (“JRD Shenzhen”) 
and JRD Communication Technology (Shanghai) Limited (“JRD Shanghai”) (designated as a software enterprise in 
December 2011), being designated software enterprises, were entitled to VAT refunds at the effective VAT rates in 
excess of 3% after the payment of statutory net output VAT of 17%.
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9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
 Group
 2012 2011
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
   (Restated)
 

Cost of inventories sold  9,934,637 8,324,789
Depreciation 16 120,557 86,055
Prepaid land lease recognised 17 3,469 990
Amortisation of computer software, intellectual property 
 and ALCATEL brand license* 18 40,244 21,211
Research and development costs:
 Deferred expenditure amortised 18 628,321 168,135
 Current year expenditure  111,333 291,088

  739,654 459,223

Brand management fee/TCL Brand Common Fund/ALCATEL 
 brand license fee*  18,119 35,783
Minimum lease payments under operating leases in respect of
 land and buildings  71,898 54,457
Auditors’ remuneration  7,737 8,267
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ and 
 chief executive’s remuneration (note 11))**:
 Salaries and wages  1,027,958 818,946
 Equity-settled expenses:
  Share options  36,504 33,644
  Share Award Scheme  25,639 9,971
 Pension scheme contributions:
  The contribution plan  119,322 78,480
  The pension plan 32 1,399 (23)

  1,210,822 941,018

Exchange loss/(gain), net****  88,195 (135,040)
 Including: exchange losses on derivative financial instruments  61,649 40,674
       Ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges  16,438 3,405
Finance costs of loans hedged by interest rate swap 30 47,534 45,430
Impairment loss of trade receivables 24 884 4,025
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss of other receivables 26 1,192 (10,337)
Product warranty provisions 31 214,275 180,903
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment  (660) 72
Gain on disposal of prepaid land lease payments and 
 affiliated buildings 8 (56,114) –
Loss on retirement and disposal of intangible assets  297 –
Reversal of impairment loss of an investment in an associate***  – (1,539)
Deemed loss on disposal of an investment in an associate****  – 1,210
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value  83,608 40,414
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ts 9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

* On 19 September 2011, the Group entered into the Amended License Agreement with Alcatel-Lucent as the 
licensor and a consideration of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$312,000,000) was paid in form 
of cash as the license fee for the use of the “ALCATEL” brand name for certain of its products for the period from 
1 July 2011 to 31 December 2024. The amortisation of the ALCATEL brand license represented the amortisation 
of the total consideration of US$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$312,000,000) under the Amended 
License Agreement, while the ALCATEL brand license fee represented the expense for the use of the “ALCATEL” 
brand under the original license agreement from 1 January 2011 to 30 June 2011.

** Including employee benefit expense charged to direct labor costs, overhead expense and research and 
development costs.

*** Included in “administrative expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

**** Included in “(other income and gains)/other operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

10. FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Interest on bank loans and other loans wholly repayable
 within three years 165,146 137,539
Interest on discounted notes and factored trade receivables* 4,799 2,512

 169,945 140,051

Less: interest capitalised 3,936 –

Total finance costs 166,009 140,051

* The effective interest rate of factored trade receivables is 0.17% (2011: 0.20%) per month.

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and 
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
  (Restated)
 

Fees 1,290 1,309

Other emoluments:
 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,034 5,884
 Equity-settled share option and Share Award Scheme expenses 24,350 16,455
 Pension scheme contributions 155 98

 28,829 23,746
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES (continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, certain directors and the chief executive were granted 
share options and awarded shares. The grant of share options and awarded shares was in respect of their 
services to the Group, under the share option scheme and the Share Award Scheme of the Company, further 
details are set out in notes 36 and 37 respectively to the financial statements. The fair value of such share 
options and awarded shares, which has been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, 
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current 
year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent Non-Executive Directors
  Equity- settled
   share option Total
2012 Fees  expense  remuneration
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. LAU Siu Ki 180 146 326
Mr. LOOK Andrew 180 381 561
Mr. KWOK Hoi Sing 180 480 660

 540 1,007 1,547

  Equity-settled
   share option Total
2011 Fees  expense remuneration
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. LAU Siu Ki 180 121 301
Mr. LOOK Andrew 180 814 994
Mr. KWOK Hoi Sing (appointed on 9 May 2011) 116 225 341
Mr. SHI Cuiming (resigned on 9 May 2011) 64 40 104
Mr. LIU Chung Laung (resigned on 9 May 2011) 64 40 104

 604 1,240 1,844
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ts 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 

EMPLOYEES (continued)
(b) Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, the Chief Executive and the five highest paid 

employees
   Equity-settled
  Salaries,  share option
   allowances  and Share Pension
   and benefits  Award Scheme scheme Total
2012 Fees in kind  expenses  contributions  remuneration
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:
 Mr. LI Dongsheng 130 – 4,791 7 4,928
 Mr. GUO Aiping 
  (dual appointment as chief executive) 130 1,899 8,996 52 11,077
 Mr. WANG Jiyang 130 1,135 5,692 96 7,053
Non-executive directors:
 Mr. BO Lianming 120 – 1,496 – 1,616
 Mr. HUANG Xubin 120 – 1,184 – 1,304
 Ms. XU Fang 120 – 1,184 – 1,304

 750 3,034 23,343 155 27,282

   Equity-settled
  Salaries, share option
   allowances  and Share Pension
   and benefits  Award Scheme scheme  Total
2011 Fees in kind  expenses contributions  remuneration
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     (Restated)

Executive directors:
 Mr. LI Dongsheng 130 – 4,529 7 4,666
 Mr. GUO Aiping 
  (dual appointment as chief executive) 130 5,484 7,228 33 12,875
 Mr. WANG Jiyang 
  (appointed on 9 May 2011) 84 400 1,115 59 1,658
Non-executive directors:
 Mr. BO Lianming 120 – 906 – 1,026
 Mr. HUANG Xubin 120 – 718 – 838
 Ms. XU Fang 120 – 718 – 838

 704 5,884 15,214 99 21,901

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive 
any remuneration during the year.

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2011: three (restated)) directors and 
the chief executive, details of whose remuneration are set out above.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES (continued)
(b) Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, the Chief Executive and the five highest paid 

employees (continued)
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2011: two (restated)) highest paid 
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
  (Restated)
 

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,315 11,057
Equity-settled share option and Share Award Scheme expenses 4,391 2,987
Pension scheme contributions 317 337

 10,023 14,381

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell 
within the following bands is as follows:

 Number of employees
 2012 2011
  (Restated)
 

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 –
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 –
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 – 1
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 – 1 

 2 2

During the year, share options and awarded shares were granted to two (2011: one) non-director and 
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details 
of which are included in disclosures in notes 36 and 37 respectively to the financial statements. The 
fair value of such options and awarded shares, which have been recognised in the income statement 
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the 
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-directors and non-chief executive 
remuneration disclosures.
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ts 12. INCOME TAX

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Current
 Charge for the year:
  The PRC 8,293 22,480
  France 2,291 7,585
  Mexico – 4,742
  Russia 6,935 553
  The United States 185 570
 Over provision in prior years (88) (236)

 17,616 35,694

Deferred (note 34) 13,935 (52,990)

Tax charge/(credit) for the year 31,551 (17,296)

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided (2011: nil) since no assessable profit arose in Hong Kong during 
the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the 
jurisdiction in which the Group operates.

Huizhou TCL Mobile Communication Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou TCL Mobile”) a subsidiary of the Company in the 
PRC, was given a high technology enterprise accreditation from October 2011 to October 2014 and hence is 
subject to a national income tax rate of 15% for the years 2012 and 2011.

JRD Shenzhen, a subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, was given a high technology enterprise accreditation 
from December 2008 to December 2011 and renewed such qualification to October 2014. Hence it is subject 
to a national income tax rate of 15% for the years 2012 and 2011.

TCL Communication (Ningbo) Limited (“Ningbo R&D”), a subsidiary of the Company in the PRC acquired on 
25 May 2011, was given a high technology enterprise accreditation from December 2008 to December 2011 
and renewed such qualification to November 2014. Hence it is subject to a national income tax rate of 15% 
for the years 2012 and 2011.

According to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC on the newly established high technology software 
enterprises, JRD Shanghai, a subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, was eligible for a “two-year exemption 
and three-year half reduction” tax holiday starting from its first profit-making year being a newly established 
high technology software enterprise.

Except for the subsidiaries in PRC mentioned above, the subsidiaries of the Company in PRC are subject to 
the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% for the years 2012 and 2011.

TCT SAS, a subsidiary of the Company in France, is subject to a corporate income tax rate of 33.33% for the 
years 2012 and 2011. According the new French tax policy issued in 2011, entity needs to pay income tax 
whereas the entity has tax losses carried forward. In 2012, based on the French Finance Bill for 2013 which 
was published on 30 December 2012 and effective for the fiscal years ending on or after 31 December 2012, 
the amount of the deficit that could be deducted from any subsequent profit is limited to EUR1,000,000 plus, 
if applicable, 50% of the fraction of earnings exceeding EUR1,000,000. While in 2011, based on article 2 of 
the Supplementary Budget for 2011 (“loi de finances rectificative pour 2011”) dated 19 September 2011, the 
percentage of the fraction of earnings exceeding EUR1,000,000 was 60%.
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12. INCOME TAX (continued)
TCT Mobile SA DE CV, a subsidiary of the Company in Mexico, is subject to Flat Rate Business Tax (“IETU”) 
and income tax (“ISR”). IETU applies to the sale of goods, the provision of independent services and the 
granting of use or enjoyment of goods, less certain authorised deductions. IETU payable is calculated by 
subtracting certain tax credits from the tax determined. Revenue, deductions and certain tax credits are 
determined based on cash flows generated starting from 1 January 2008. The tax rate of IETU was 17.5% for 
the years 2012 and 2011. ISR is calculated as a certain percentage of net tax income which is determined 
based on all revenues minus expenses (deductions) as defined by Income Tax Law. The ISR rate was 30% 
for the years 2012 and 2011. In all cases, the payment of IETU is required only to the extent that it exceeds 
the ISR for the same period.

“TMC Rus” Limited Liability Company, a subsidiary of the Company in Russia, is subject to corporate income 
tax rate of 20% for the years 2012 and 2011.

TCT Mobile, Inc. and TCT Mobile (US) Inc. (set up in December 2011), subsidiaries of the Company in the 
United States, are subject to the United States Federal tax rate of 34% and California State tax rate of 8.84% 
for the years 2012 and 2011.

TCT Mobile-Telefones LTDA., a subsidiary of the Company in Brazil, is subject to corporate income tax at 
a rate of 25% and social contribution tax at a rate of 9% on the same taxable income (except for certain 
specific adjustments), according to Article 17 of Law #11.727 and Article 228 of Decree #3.000 of Income 
Tax Regulation in Brazil.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before tax at the statutory rate for the countries 
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries, are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective 
tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e. the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, are as 
follows:

 2012  2011
 HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
 

(Loss)/profit before tax (188,477)  783,349

Tax at the applicable rate 15,087 8.0 160,786 20.5
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted 
 by local authorities (192,803) (102.4) (51,635) (6.6)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of 
 previous periods (88) – (236) –
Income not subject to tax (24,968) (13.2) (65,269) (8.3)
Expenses not deductible for tax 50,665 26.9 81,249 10.3
Tax effect of expenses that are entitled to 
 additional deduction (25,044) (13.3) (31,641) (4.0)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods (20,783) (11.0) (131,157) (16.7)
Tax losses not recognised 244,284 129.6 70,607 9.0
Others* (14,799) (7.9) (50,000) (6.4)

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate 31,551 16.7 (17,296) (2.2)

* Representing deferred tax asset recognised from unused tax losses arising from a subsidiary in France as 
management considered the subsidiary had commenced profit-making for some time to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which such tax losses can be utilised.
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eN
ts 13. (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2012 
includes a loss of HK$319,785,000 (2011: profit of HK$754,735,000) which has been dealt with in the 
financial statements of the Company (note 38(b)).

14. DIVIDENDS
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Interim – 3.0 HK cents (2011: 13.8 HK cents) per ordinary share 33,849 153,342
Proposed final – Nil (2011: 15.0 HK cents per ordinary share) – 167,384

 33,849 320,726

The Company does not intend to declare the payment of any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2012 to shareholders.

15. (LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earning per share are based on:

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

(Loss)/profit

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, 
 used in the basic and diluted (loss)/earning per share calculation (207,840) 799,934

 Number of shares
Shares 2012 2011
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 
 the year used in the basic (loss)/earning per share calculation 1,124,135,436 1,098,290,458

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:
 Assumed issuance upon the exercise of share options and allotment 
  and issuance of awarded shares 25,774,831 37,913,583

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 
 used in the diluted (loss)/earning per share calculation 1,149,910,267 1,136,204,041

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earning per share is based on the (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earning per share is based on the (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic (loss)/earning per share calculation, 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on 
the deemed exercise or conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group
   Furniture, fixtures,
    office equipment
    and research
  Plant and  and development Motor Construction
 Buildings machinery  equipment  vehicles  in progress Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2012

At 31 December 2011 and
 at 1 January 2012:
 Cost 113,950 842,243 246,326 15,454 6,633 1,224,606
 Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment (27,797) (529,134) (162,612) (7,931) – (727,474)

Net carrying amount 86,153 313,109 83,714 7,523 6,633 497,132

At 1 January 2012, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment 86,153 313,109 83,714 7,523 6,633 497,132
Additions 877 76,764 85,367 1,632 87,186 251,826
Disposals (18,776) (996) (391) (252) (11,436) (31,851)
Depreciation provided
 during the year (note 9) (3,886) (70,918) (43,137) (2,616) – (120,557)
Transfer (1,666) 1,788 5,500 – (5,622) –
Exchange realignment 7 185 337 (56) 264 737

At 31 December 2012, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment 62,709 319,932 131,390 6,231 77,025 597,287

At 31 December 2012:
 Cost 81,070 913,770 334,580 14,181 77,025 1,420,626
 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment (18,361) (593,838) (203,190) (7,950) – (823,339)

Net carrying amount 62,709 319,932 131,390 6,231 77,025 597,287
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ts 16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group
   Furniture, fixtures,
    office equipment
    and research
  Plant and  and development Motor Construction
 Buildings machinery  equipment  vehicles  in progress Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2011

At 1 January 2011:
 Cost 102,429 620,580 156,817 12,962 708 893,496
 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment (23,093) (454,667) (100,532) (6,088) – (584,380)

Net carrying amount 79,336 165,913 56,285 6,874 708 309,116

At 1 January 2011, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment 79,336 165,913 56,285 6,874 708 309,116
Additions 811 179,652 33,278 2,987 17,034 233,762
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 8,041 15,402 187 – 23,630
Acquisition of a new business 
 under common control – 1,766 679 51 – 2,496
Disposals – (1,416) (466) (254) – (2,136)
Depreciation provided
 during the year (note 9) (3,560) (53,184) (26,921) (2,390) – (86,055)
Transfer 6,025 2,402 2,832 – (11,259) –
Exchange realignment 3,541 9,935 2,625 68 150 16,319

At 31 December 2011, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment 86,153 313,109 83,714 7,523 6,633 497,132

At 31 December 2011:
 Cost 113,950 842,243 246,326 15,454 6,633 1,224,606
 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment (27,797) (529,134) (162,612) (7,931) – (727,474)

Net carrying amount 86,153 313,109 83,714 7,523 6,633 497,132

Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings of the Group located in Mainland China with a net 
carrying amount of HK$21,614,000 (31 December 2011: HK$22,296,000) have not yet been issued by the 
relevant PRC authorities. The Group is in the process of obtaining these certificates.
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Carrying amount at 1 January 185,444 13,149
Additions – 166,774
Disposals (5,330) –
Recognised during the year (note 9) (3,469) (990)
Exchange realignment 11 6,511

Carrying amount at 31 December 176,656 185,444

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Group’s leasehold land situated in Mainland China was held under 
long-term leases.

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group
 Deferred    ALCATEL
  development Computer Intellectual Golf club brand
  costs  software  property membership  license Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2012

Cost at 31 December 2011 
 and 1 January 2012,
 net of accumulated 
 amortisation 320,327 20,292 58,332 2,966 300,298 702,215
Additions 871,867 12,437 – 1,573 – 885,877
Retirements and disposals – (297) – – – (297)
Amortisation provided 
 during the year (628,321) (6,735)* (10,529)* –* (22,980)* (668,565)
Exchange realignment 1,234 34 32 6 – 1,306

At 31 December 2012 565,107 25,731 47,835 4,545 277,318 920,536

At 31 December 2012:
 Cost 1,628,860 59,433 65,986 4,545 311,824 2,070,648
 Accumulated amortisation (1,063,753) (33,702) (18,151) – (34,506) (1,150,112)

 Net carrying amount 565,107 25,731 47,835 4,545 277,318 920,536
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eN
ts 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Group
 Deferred    ALCATEL
  development Computer Intellectual Golf club brand
  costs  software  property membership  license Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2011

Cost at 1 January 2011,
 net of accumulated 
 amortisation 59,688 8,837 35,430 2,165 – 106,120
Additions 414,973 11,931 26,674 756 311,824 766,158
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 3,391 – – – 3,391
Amortisation provided 
 during the year (168,135) (4,237)* (5,448)* –* (11,526)* (189,346)
Exchange realignment 13,801 370 1,676 45 – 15,892

At 31 December 2011 320,327 20,292 58,332 2,966 300,298 702,215

At 31 December 2011:
 Cost 756,993 47,215 65,932 2,966 311,824 1,184,930
 Accumulated amortisation (436,666) (26,923) (7,600) – (11,526) (482,715)

 Net carrying amount 320,327 20,292 58,332 2,966 300,298 702,215

* Being the amortisation of computer software, intellectual property and ALCATEL brand license charged to the 
income statement of HK$40,244,000 (2011: HK$21,211,000) (note 9) during the year.

19. GOODWILL
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Cost at 1 January 253,954 146,927
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 107,027

Cost at 31 December 253,954 253,954

At 31 December:
 Cost and carrying amount 253,954 253,954
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19. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash-generating units 
for impairment testing:

•	 Research	and	development	of	mobile	handsets	cash-generating	unit;	and
•	 Research,	development,	manufacture	and	sale	of	mobile	handsets	and	other	products	cash-generating	

unit.

The recoverable amount of the research and development of mobile handsets cash-generating unit is 
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow 
projections is 17% (2011: 17%) and cash flows within the five-year period are extrapolated using growth rates 
of sales volume of 7%-8% from 2013-2017.

The recoverable amount of the research, development, manufacture and sale of mobile handsets and other 
products cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The discount rate 
applied to the cash flow projections is 17% (2011: 17%) and cash flows within the five-year period are 
extrapolated using growth rates of sales volume of 7%-8% from 2013-2017.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which 
the recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-generating unit’s carrying amount to exceed its 
recoverable amount.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows:

  Research, development,
 Research  manufacture and sale of
  and development   mobile handsets
 of mobile handsets and other products
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Carrying amount of goodwill 146,927 146,927 107,027 107,027

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the research and development of the mobile 
handsets cash-generating unit and the research, development, manufacture and sale of mobile handsets and 
other products cash-generating unit for 31 December 2012. The following describes each key assumption on 
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins – The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is 
the average gross margins achieved in the past years and the expectation for market development.

Discount rates – The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The value assigned to the key assumptions on market development and discount rates are consistent with 
external information sources.
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eN
ts 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

 Company
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Unlisted shares, at cost 1,661,641 1,661,641
Capital contribution in respect of employee share-based compensation 68,749 29,787
Impairment (676,711) (402,902)

 1,053,679 1,288,526

At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due from and due to subsidiaries included in the Company’s 
current assets and current liabilities of HK$1,476,352,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,380,096,000) and 
HK$198,717,000 (31 December 2011: HK$105,052,000), respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and have 
no fixed terms of repayment.

The movements in the impairment are as follows:

 Company
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

At 1 January 402,902 1,193,877
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) 273,809 (790,975)

At 31 December 676,711 402,902

Impairment loss of investments in subsidiaries is provided based on recoverable amount of the subsidiaries. 
Since the subsidiaries’ recoverable amount decreased, the Company recognised impairment loss of 
HK$273,809,000 (31 December 2011: impairment reversal of HK$790,975,000) on investments in 
subsidiaries.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

 Place and date of Nominal value
  incorporation/ of issued and Percentage of
 establishment fully paid  attributable Principal
Name and operations share capital equity interest activities
   Direct Indirect

TCL Mobile Communication (HK)  Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 – 100% Distribution of mobile
 Company Limited 21 April 1999    phone components
     and mobile handsets

Huizhou TCL Mobile (note (i)) The PRC/ US$174,600,000 – 100% Manufacture and
 Mainland China     distribution of mobile
 29 March 1999     handsets

TCT Mobile Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% – Distribution of mobile
 17 May 2004     handsets
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
 Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

 Place and date of Nominal value
  incorporation/ of issued and Percentage of
 establishment fully paid  attributable Principal
Name and operations share capital equity interest activities
   Direct Indirect

TCT SAS France EUR23,031,072 – 100% Development and
 12 August 2004     distribution of mobile
      handsets

TCT Mobile SA DE CV Mexico MXP116,594,000 – 100% Distribution of mobile
 24 May 2004    handsets

TCL Communication Technology  The PRC/ US$28,000,000 – 100% Development and
 (Suzhou) Limited (note (i)) Mainland China    distribution of mobile
 14 December 1998    handsets

TCT Mobile International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Development and
 11 May 2005     distribution of mobile
      handsets

JRD Shenzhen (note (i)) The PRC/ US$10,000,000 – 100% Software development
 Mainland China    for mobile handsets
 14 February 2006

“TMC Rus” Limited Liability Company Russia RUB10,000 – 100% Distribution of mobile
 8 April 2010    handsets

TCT Mobile Multinational Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% Distribution of mobile
 16 April 2010    handsets

JRD Shanghai (note (i)) The PRC/ US$10,000,000 – 100% Software development
 Mainland China    for mobile handsets
 18 October 2010

TCL Communication Technology  The PRC/ US$4,500,000 – 100% Software development
 (Chengdu) Limited (note (i)) Mainland China     for mobile handsets
 21 January 2011

Ningbo R&D (note (i)) The PRC/ US$3,000,000 – 100% Software development
 Mainland China     for mobile handsets
 15 December 2005

TCT Mobile-Telefones LTDA. Brazil BRL104,088,757 – 100% Distribution of mobile
 21 November 2006    handsets

TCT Mobile (US) Inc. United States US$1 – 100% Distribution of mobile
 19 December 2011    handsets

Huizhou TCL Communication Electronic  The PRC/ RMB30,000,000 – 100% Development and
 Limited Mainland China    distribution of fixed line
 9 April 2012     telephone products
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ts 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Note:

(i) This is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details 
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Share of net assets 3,502 2,352
Goodwill on acquisition 1,674 1,674

 5,176 4,026
Impairment (1,674) (1,674)

 3,502 2,352

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

   Percentage of
  Place of ownership
 Particulars of incorporation/ interest attributable Principal
Name issued shares held establishment to the Group activities

Nature Information Science and One ordinary share of RMB1 The PRC/ 37.6% Sale of financial
 Technology Ltd.*  Mainland China  software and
    provision of
    related services

* Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

The associate has been accounted for using the equity method in these financial statements and the 
reporting period of the associate is coterminous with that of the Group.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s associate extracted from its 
management accounts:

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Assets 9,315 6,255
Liabilities (1) –
Revenue 76 10
Loss for the year (4,662) (3,673)
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22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Unlisted equity investments, at cost 26,272 26,272

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which were designated as available-for-sale 
financial assets and have no fixed maturity date and coupon rate.

The unlisted equity investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses as the fair value cannot be 
reliably measured because the probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably 
assessed and used in estimating fair value. The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

23. INVENTORIES
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Raw materials 862,809 458,148
Work in progress 9,723 5,444
Finished goods 503,277 592,314

 1,375,809 1,055,906

Provision against inventory obsolescence and net realisable value (112,771) (74,490)

 1,263,038 981,416

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES
 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Trade receivables 2,861,404 2,597,338
Impairment (18,910) (12,570)

 2,842,494 2,584,768

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit period is generally 30 to 
180 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its 
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are 
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade 
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit 
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. 
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

As at the end of the reporting period, export invoices amounting to HK$568,591,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$498,891,000) were used to secure the Group’s interest bearing bank borrowings.
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An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is 
as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Within 3 months 2,413,735 2,063,443
4 to 12 months 414,531 520,606
Over 12 months 33,138 13,289

 2,861,404 2,597,338

Impairment (18,910) (12,570)

 2,842,494 2,584,768

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

At 1 January 12,570 23,652
Impairment loss recognised (note 9) 884 4,025
Amount written off as uncollectible (1,085) (15,648)
Derecognition of amount written off in previous year 6,368 –
Exchange realignment 173 541

At 31 December 18,910 12,570

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables is a provision for individually impaired 
trade receivables of HK$18,910,000 (31 December 2011: HK$12,570,000) with a carrying amount before 
provision of HK$49,224,000 (31 December 2011: HK$17,894,000). The individually impaired trade receivables 
relate to customers that were in financial difficulties.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Neither past due nor impaired 2,054,431 1,501,917
Less than 1 month past due 499,427 577,161
1 to 3 months past due 223,103 403,490
4 to 12 months past due 32,236 96,468
Over 12 months past due 2,983 408

 2,812,180 2,579,444
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for 
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Group are of the opinion 
that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

25. FACTORED TRADE RECEIVABLES
At 31 December 2012, the Group factored trade receivables to various banks on a recourse basis for cash. 
As the Group still retained the risks and rewards associated with the delay in payment by the customers, the 
financial asset derecognition conditions as stipulated in HKAS 39 have not been fulfilled. Accordingly, bank 
advances from the factoring of the Group’s trade receivables have been accounted for as liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. Maturity dates of the related trade receivables range from 30 to 
180 days. No impairment is made on the factored trade receivables.

An aged analysis of the factored trade receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

 Group
 

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 300,177 186,976
Within 3 months 132,157 114,383
4 to 12 months – 8,601

 432,334 309,960

As at 31 December 2012, the Group factored trade receivables to various banks for cash on a recourse basis 
which have not fulfilled the financial asset derecognition conditions as stipulated in HKAS 39. Accordingly, 
bank advances from the factoring of the Group’s trade receivables of HK$432,334,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$309,960,000) have been accounted for as liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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 Group Company
  2012 2011 2012 2011
 Note HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000
  

Prepayments  112,288 98,547 2,669 –
Deposits and other receivables (a) 1,142,012 778,718 3,013 –

  1,254,300 877,265 5,682 –

Impairment of other receivables (a) (7,975) (6,777) – –

  1,246,325 870,488 5,682 –

The carrying amounts of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables approximate to their respective fair 
values.

Note:

(a) The movements in provision for individually impaired other receivables are as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000  HK$’000

 

At 1 January 6,777 16,590
Recognised/(reversal of) impairment loss (note 9) 1,192 (10,337)
Amount written off as uncollectible – (33)
Exchange realignment 6 557

At 31 December 7,975 6,777

The individually impaired other receivables relate to debtors that were in financial difficulties and only a 
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other 
credit enhancements over the balances.

An aged analysis of the receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

 Group
 2012  2011
 HK$’000  HK$’000

 

Neither past due nor impaired 1,129,482 738,634

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified debtors for 
whom there was no recent history of default.
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27. PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 Group Company
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Cash and bank balances 969,789 1,186,637 3,444 3,831
Pledged deposits 4,221,125 6,092,411 – –

 5,190,914 7,279,048 3,444 3,831

Less: Pledged deposits
– for factored trade receivables 33,566 21,575 – –
– for interest bearing bank borrowings,
  banking facilities and other financial
  instruments 4,187,559 6,070,836 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 969,789 1,186,637 3,444 3,831

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances and pledged deposits of the Group 
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$2,074,775,000 (31 December 2011: HK$6,444,377,000). 
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange 
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, 
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign 
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and 
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Included in the Group’s cash and bank balances are deposits of HK$74,478,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$484,767,000) placed with TCL Group Finance Corporation Co., Ltd., a financial institution approved by 
the People’s Bank of China. The effective contractual interest rate for these deposits was 0.10% – 1.31% 
(2011: 0.15% – 1.31%) per annum, being the savings rate offered by the People’s Bank of China.

28. INTEREST BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS AND LOAN FROM A RELATED COMPANY
 Group Company
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000 Maturity HK$’000
 (Year)  (Year)  (Year)  (Year)
  

Current
 Bank borrowings- unsecured 2013 218,360 – – – – – –
 Bank borrowings- secured* 2013 5,508,030 2012 7,222,256 – – – –

  5,726,390  7,222,256  –  –

Non-current
 Bank borrowing- secured* 2014-2015 193,790 – – 2014-2015 193,790 – –
 Loan from a related company** 2015 116,274 – – – – – –

  310,064  –  193,790  –

  6,036,454  7,222,256  193,790  –
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(continued)
 Group Company
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Analysed into:
 Bank borrowings:
  Within one year or on demand 5,726,390 7,222,256 – –
  In the second year 96,856 – 96,856 –
  In the third to fifth years, inclusive 96,934 – 96,934 –

 5,920,180 7,222,256 193,790 –

 Other borrowing:
  In the third to fifth years, inclusive 116,274 – – –

* The Group’s interest bearing bank borrowings are bank advances comprising ( i ) bank borrowings of 
HK$4,055,271,000 (31 December 2011: HK$5,772,063,000) which are secured by the pledge of certain of 
the Group’s time deposits amounting to HK$4,187,559,000 (31 December 2011: HK$6,069,812,000); (ii) bank 
borrowings of HK$1,134,817,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,001,191,000) which are guaranteed by the ultimate 
holding company; and (iii) bank borrowings of HK$511,732,000 (31 December 2011: HK$449,002,000) which are 
secured by export invoices amounting to HK$568,591,000 (31 December 2011: HK$498,891,000) (note 24).

** The loan form a related company is an unsecured, interest-bearing loan from the immediate holding company with 
an effective contractual interest rate of 5% per annum and with a payment term of three years.

The effective contractual interest rates for the secured bank borrowings ranged from 0.74% to 5.48% (2011: 
0.86% to 3.74%) per annum.

HK$324,975,000 (31 December 2011: HK$478,404,000) and HK$41,228,000 (31 December 2011: Nil) of the 
interest bearing bank and other borrowings are denominated in RMB and Euro respectively, and others are 
denominated in United States dollars.

29. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES
An aged analysis of the trade and notes payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice 
date, is as follows:

 Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Within 6 months 2,410,050 1,929,172
7 to 12 months 6,578 10,463
Over 12 months 12,033 12,494

 2,428,661 1,952,129

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 90 days.
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30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 2012 2011
 Assets  Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Group HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000
 

Forward currency contracts – Euro – 36,599 17,925 –
Forward currency contracts – GBP – 350 174 –
Forward currency contracts – RUB – 10,720 – 458
Forward currency contracts – BRL – 680 13,609 –
Forward currency contracts – RMB: 
 Deliverable forward and non-deliverable 
  forward contracts 124,387 45,634 92,715 70,699
Interest rate swap – cash flow hedges 21,507 2,299 24,270 –

 145,894 96,282 148,693 71,157

Forward currency contracts – cash flow hedges
Forward currency contracts are designated as hedging instruments in respect of forecast future sales to 
customers in Europe and Americas to which the Group has firm commitments. The forward currency contract 
balances vary with the levels of expected foreign currency sales and changes in foreign exchange forward rates.

The terms of the Euro, Russian ruble and Brazil real forward currency contracts and RMB deliverable 
forward contracts match the terms of the commitments. The cash flow hedges relating to expected future 
sales monthly from January to December of 2013 were assessed to be highly effective and a net loss of 
HK$33,599,000 (2011: HK$6,570,000) was included in the hedging reserve as follows:

 Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Total fair value gains included in the hedging reserve* 46,435 70,119
Deferred tax on fair value gains** (14,780) (7,158)
Reclassification from other comprehensive income and 
 recognised in the income statement*** (76,187) (76,561)
Deferred tax on reclassification to profit or loss** 10,933 7,030

Net losses on cash flow hedges (33,599) (6,570)

Interest rate swap – cash flow hedges
At 31 December 2012, the Group held interest rate swap contracts designated as hedges in respect of 
expected interest payments for floating rate debts incurred by the Group.

 Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Total fair value losses included in the hedging reserve* (56,707) (28,773)
Reclassification from other comprehensive income and 
 recognised in the income statement (note 9)*** 47,534 45,430

Net (losses)/gains on cash flow hedges (9,173) 16,657

* The net effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging instruments arising during the year amounted to a debit 
of HK$10,272,000 (2011: a credit of HK$41,346,000).

** The net deferred tax on fair value gain amounted to HK$3,847,000 (2011: HK$128,000) during the year.

*** The total net gain on cash flow hedges reclassified from other comprehensive income amounted to HK$28,653,000 
(2011: HK$31,131,000) during the year.
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ts 30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

For non-hedging currency derivatives
In addition, the Group has entered into various forward currency contracts to manage its exchange rate 
exposures. These forward contracts are not designated for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Gains on changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives amounting 
to HK$6,118,000 (2011: HK$30,370,000) were recognised in the income statement during the year. The 
maturity dates of derivative financial instruments are within one year.

31. PROVISION FOR WARRANTIES
The movements in the provision for warranties during the year are summarised as follows:

 Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

At 1 January 137,574 127,547
Additional provision (note 9) 214,275 180,903
Amount utilised during the year (166,002) (168,644)
Exchange realignment 2,128 (2,232)

At 31 December 187,975 137,574

The Group generally provides warranties of 12 to 24 months to its customers on all products, under which 
faulty products are repaired or replaced. The amount of the provision for the warranties is estimated based 
on sales volumes and past experience of the level of repairs and return. The estimation basis is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate. During the year, the provision for warranties was not 
discounted, as the effect of discounting was not material.

32. RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES
Retirement indemnities in respect of the pension plan at 31 December 2012 amounted to HK$3,738,000 (31 
December 2011: HK$2,263,000).

 Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

Retirement indemnities:
 Present value of fund obligation 3,738 2,263

Movements in retirement indemnities are as follows:

 Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

At 1 January 2,263 2,351
Recognised/(reversal of) in the income statement (note 9) 1,399 (23)
Exchange realignment 76 (65)

At 31 December 3,738 2,263

The Group does not have any unfunded obligations.
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32. RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES (continued)
The main assumptions used in the retirement indemnity computation for the pension plan are as follows:

 Group

 2012 2011
 

Discount rate 2.8% 5.0%
Future salary increase rate per annum 3.0% 4.0%

33. LONG SERVICE MEDALS
TCT SAS provides for the probable future long service medals expected to be made to employees. The 
provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have been earned by the 
employees from their service to TCT SAS to the end of the reporting period.

34. DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Group
        Amortisation
  Promotion  Bad Provision  Impairment of in excess of
 Tax  and Product debt against Unrealised non-current amortisation
 losses accruals warranty provision inventories profit assets allowance Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 50,000 12,042 6,863 1,219 10,297 24,069 1,178 – 105,668

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the income 
 statement during the year 14,799 (7,306) (45) (113) 2,685 (21,439) – 35,573 24,154*
Exchange realignment – 552 253 – 32 – – – 837

Gross deferred tax assets recognised 
 in the consolidated statement of 
 financial position at 31 December 2012 64,799 5,288 7,071 1,106 13,014 2,630 1,178 35,573 130,659

Group
    Promotion  Bad Provision  Impairment of
  and Product debt against Unrealised non-current
 Tax losses accruals warranty provision inventories profit assets Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011 – 9,808 4,765 715 368 16,033 – 31,689

Deferred tax credited to the income 
 statement during the year 50,000 1,798 2,544 555 9,624 8,036 1,137 73,694*
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 1,557 – – – – – 1,557
Exchange realignment – (1,121) (446) (51) 305 – 41 (1,272)

Gross deferred tax assets recognised 
 in the consolidated statement of 
 financial position at 31 December 2011 50,000 12,042 6,863 1,219 10,297 24,069 1,178 105,668
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ts 34. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the 
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group had unrecognised tax losses of 
HK$43,043,000 (31 December 2011: HK$3,528,000), expiring in five years after occurrence, which were 
related to the subsidiaries in Mainland China and HK$2,273,898,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,100,968,000) 
with infinite expiration, which were related to overseas subsidiaries as at 31 December 2012 carried forward 
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as the utilisation of which is uncertain.

Deferred tax liabilities
Group
    Depreciation Changes in
    allowance fair value
 Deferred Income not  in excess of of derivative 
 development subject Cash flow related financial 
 cost to tax hedging depreciation instruments Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 25,174 2,442 5,301 – 2,115 35,032
Deferred tax charged to 
 the income statement during the year 28,393 7,496 – 1,512 688 38,089*
Deferred tax charged to the statement 
 of comprehensive income during the year – – 3,847 – – 3,847
Exchange realignment – 33 – – (43) (10)

Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised 
 in the consolidated statement of 
 financial position at 31 December 2012 53,567 9,971 9,148 1,512 2,760 76,958

Group
    Changes in 
    fair value of 
 Deferred Income not  derivative 
 development subject Cash flow financial
 cost to tax hedging instruments Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011 8,953 – 4,924 – 13,877
Deferred tax charged to the 
 income statement during the year 16,221 2,442 – 2,041 20,704*
Deferred tax charged to the 
 statement of comprehensive 
 income during the year – – 128 – 128
Exchange realignment – – 249 74 323

Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised 
 in the consolidated statement of 
 financial position at 31 December 2011 25,174 2,442 5,301 2,115 35,032

* Being the total deferred tax charge of HK$13,935,000 (2011: credit of HK$52,990,000) (note 12) to the 
consolidated income statement during the year.
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34. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)
As at 31 December 2012, the Group had not recognised any deferred tax liabilities in respect of tax 
obligations arising from the future distribution of unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes 
of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China, as the Group was exercising control over the dividend policy 
of such subsidiaries and was in the opinion that distribution in the foreseeable future of profits generated 
during the relevant period would not be probable. As at 31 December 2012, the total amount of temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities 
have not been recognised was HK$2,048,061,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,211,396,000).

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the statement of 
financial position.

35. SHARE CAPITAL
 Number of  Issued Share
 shares  share capital  premium
  HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of par value HK$1 each at 
 1 January 2011, 31 December 2011, 
 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2012 2,000,000,000 2,000,000

Issued and fully paid or credited as fully paid:
 At 1 January 2011 1,097,527,996 1,097,528 232,602
 Share options exercised 17,638,377 17,638 46,418
 Reclassification of lapsed share options – – 116
 Reclassification of vested awarded shares – – (70)
 Shares purchased for Share Award Scheme – – 7,615
 Shares repurchased (973,000) (973) (3,165)
 2010 final dividend declared – – (630)

At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 1,114,193,373 1,114,193 282,886

Share options exercised* (note 36) 12,893,452 12,894 29,284
Issue of new shares under Share Award Scheme** 1,203,280 1,203 5,435
Reclassification of lapsed share options – – 2,498
Reclassification of vested awarded shares – – 1,227

At 31 December 2012 1,128,290,105 1,128,290 321,330

* During the year, 12,893,452 share options were exercised at subscription prices ranging from HK$1.648 to 
HK$3.020 per share, resulting in the issue of 12,893,452 ordinary shares of par value HK$1 each for a total cash 
consideration of HK$26,452,000.

** During the year, 1,203,280 awarded shares vested under Share Award Scheme of the Company through new 
issuance of shares, resulting in the issue of 1,203,280 ordinary shares of par value HK$1 each at no consideration.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives rewards for eligible 
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations and eligible participants of the share 
option scheme include employees (including executive directors, non-executive directors and independent 
non-executive directors), advisers, consultants, agents, contractors, clients, suppliers and any other person(s) 
whom the Board, in its sole discretion, considers has contributed or may contribute to the Group. The share 
option scheme became effective on 13 September 2004 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and, unless otherwise 
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date. Apart from the Share Option Scheme, 
the Company has no other share option scheme currently in force.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option 
Scheme (as refreshed by shareholders’ approval in the AGM dated 10 May 2010) is an amount equivalent, 
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 10 May 2010 (i.e., up to 108,500,152 
shares). The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the 
Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at 
any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a 
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of 
their respective associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. 
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director 
of the Company, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in 
issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the 
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in 
advance in a general meeting.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the highest 
of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant of the share options, 
(ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately 
preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 15 January 2012 and 30 June 2012, the share options granted on 16 January 2006 and 30 June 2006 
expired respectively.

On 4 June 2012, a maximum of 75,000,000 share options under the Share Option Scheme were offered 
to certain individuals respectively by the Company, among which a total of 49,000,000 share options were 
accepted by and granted to the grantees. Further details of the said granted share options were set out in 
the announcement of the Company dated 4 June 2012.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
As at 31 December 2012, the Company had 110,312,369 share options outstanding under the Share Option 
Scheme. Further details of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme of the Company during the 
year:

 Number of share options
 

 At Granted Exercised Lapsed Expired At  

 1 January during during during during 31 December Exercise period Exercise price

Date of grant 2012 the year the year the year the year 2012 (both dates inclusive) per share

       (Note b) (HK$)

16 January 2006 2,341,488 – (1,535,201) – (806,287) – 17 July 2006 to 15 January 2012 1.648

30 June 2006 7,915,160 – (7,780,895) – (134,265) – 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012 1.813

5 July 2007 19,554,957 – (1,653,690) (166,270) – 17,734,997 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423

11 March 2010 20,047,003 – (1,923,666) (867,001) – 17,256,336 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016 3.020

25 May 2010 12,730,000 – – – – 12,730,000 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462

20 September 2010 400,000 – – – – 400,000 20 June 2011 to 19 September 2016 4.580

3 May 2011 8,496,105 – – (315,006) – 8,181,099 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017 7.614

9 August 2011 5,317,937 – – – – 5,317,937 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472

4 June 2012 – 49,000,000 – (308,000) – 48,692,000 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

Total 76,802,650 49,000,000 (12,893,452) (1,656,277) (940,552) 110,312,369
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Notes:

a. During the year under review, outstanding share options of the directors of the Company, employees and those 
who have contributed or may contribute to the Group are as follows:

 Number of share options
 

  At Granted Exercised Lapsed Expired At
 1 January during during during during 31 December  Exercise period Exercise price
 2012 the year the year the year the year 2012 Date of grant (both dates inclusive) per share
        (Note b) (HK$)

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Dongsheng 639,500 – (639,500) – – – 30 June 2006 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012 1.813
 1,414,252 – – – – 1,414,252 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 5,000,000 – – – – 5,000,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 1,547,368 – – – – 1,547,368 3 May 2011 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017 7.614
 – 4,454,545 – – – 4,454,545 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 8,601,120 4,454,545 (639,500) – – 12,416,165

Mr. GUO Aiping 454,045 – (454,045) – – – 16 January 2006 17 July 2006 to 15 January 2012 1.648
 831,350 – (831,000) – (350) – 30 June 2006 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012 1.813
 1,234,258 – – – – 1,234,258 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 1,980,000 – – – – 1,980,000 11 March 2010 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016 3.020
 3,094,737 – – – – 3,094,737 3 May 2011 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017 7.614
 – 8,909,091 – – – 8,909,091 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 7,594,390 8,909,091 (1,285,045) – (350) 15,218,086

Mr. WANG Jiyang 1,320,000 – – – – 1,320,000 11 March 2010 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016 3.020
 – 7,256,498 – – – 7,256,498 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 1,320,000 7,256,498 – – – 8,576,498

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. BO Lianming 719,987 – – – – 719,987 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 669,000 – – – – 669,000 9 August 2011 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472
 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 2,388,987 1,000,000 – – – 3,388,987

Mr. HUANG Xubin 102,320 – (102,320) – – – 30 June 2006 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012 1.813
 349,806 – – – – 349,806 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 418,100 – – – – 418,100 9 August 2011 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472
 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 1,870,226 1,000,000 (102,320) – – 2,767,906

Ms. XU Fang 93,367 – – – – 93,367 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 418,100 – – – – 418,100 9 August 2011 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472
 – 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 1,511,467 1,000,000 – – – 2,511,467
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Notes: (continued)

a. During the year under review, outstanding share options of the directors of the Company, employees and those 
who have contributed or may contribute to the Group are as follows (continued):

 Number of share options
 

 At Granted Exercised Lapsed Expired At   Exercise
 1 January during during during during 31 December  Exercise period price per
  2012 the year the year the year the year 2012 Date of grant (both dates inclusive) share
        (Note b) (HK$)

Independent
Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Siu Ki 300,000 – – – – 300,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 – 200,000 – – – 200,000 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 300,000 200,000 – – – 500,000

Mr. LOOK Andrew 400,000 – – – – 400,000 20 September 2010 20 June 2011 to 19 September 2016 4.580
 – 200,000 – – – 200,000 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 400,000 200,000 – – – 600,000

Mr. KWOK Hoi Sing 300,000 – – – – 300,000 9 August 2011 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472
 – 200,000 – – – 200,000 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

 300,000 200,000 – – – 500,000

Directors 454,045 – (454,045) – – – 16 January 2006 17 July 2006 to 15 January 2012 1.648
 1,573,170 – (1,572,820) – (350) – 30 June 2006 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012 1.813
 3,811,670 – – – – 3,811,670 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 3,300,000 – – – – 3,300,000 11 March 2010 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016 3.020
 8,300,000 – – – – 8,300,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 400,000 – – – – 400,000 20 September 2010 20 June 2011 to 19 September 2016 4.580
 4,642,105 – – – – 4,642,105 3 May 2011 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017 7.614
 1,805,200 – – – – 1,805,200 9 August 2011 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472
 – 24,220,134 – – – 24,220,134 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

Sub-total 24,286,190 24,220,134 (2,026,865) – (350) 46,479,109

Employees and those 1,887,443 – (1,081,156) – (806,287) – 16 January 2006 17 July 2006 to 15 January 2012 1.648
 who have contributed 6,341,990 – (6,208,075) – (133,915) – 30 June 2006 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012 1.813
 or may contribute 15,743,287 – (1,653,690) (166,270) – 13,923,327 5 July 2007 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013 2.423
 to the Group 16,747,003 – (1,923,666) (867,001) – 13,956,336 11 March 2010 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016 3.020
 4,430,000 – – – – 4,430,000 25 May 2010 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016 3.462
 3,854,000 – – (315,006) – 3,538,994 3 May 2011 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017 7.614
 3,512,737 – – – – 3,512,737 9 August 2011 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017 6.472
 – 24,779,866 – (308,000) – 24,471,866 4 June 2012 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018 2.740

Sub-total 52,516,460 24,779,866 (10,866,587) (1,656,277) (940,202) 63,833,260

Total 76,802,650 49,000,000 (12,893,452) (1,656,277) (940,552) 110,312,369
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ts 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

b. During the year under review, the following share options were effective under the Share Option Scheme of the 
Company:

Date of grant

Exercise 
price per 

share Exercise period Remark

(HK$)

(i) 16 January 2006 1.648 17 July 2006 to 15 January 2012: one-third of these 
share options are exercisable after the expiry of 6 
months from the date of grant, a further one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 12 months from 
the date of grant, and the remaining one-third are 
exercisable after the expiry of 18 months from the 
date of grant.

On 15 January 2012, the 
said share options expired.

(ii) 30 June 2006 1.813 1 April 2007 to 30 June 2012: one-third of these 
share options are exercisable after the expiry of 9 
months from the date of grant, a further one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months from 
the date of grant, and the remaining one-third are 
exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from the 
date of grant.

On 30 June 2012, the said 
share options expired.

(iii) 5 July 2007 2.423 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013: one-third of these 
share options are exercisable after the expiry of 9 
months from the date of grant, a further one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months from 
the date of grant, and the remaining one-third are 
exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from the 
date of grant.

(iv) 11 March 2010 3.020 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016: one-third of 
these share options are exercisable after the expiry 
of 9 months from the date of grant, a further one-
third are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months 
from the date of grant, and the remaining one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from 
the date of grant.

(v) 25 May 2010 3.462 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016: one-third of 
these share options are exercisable after the expiry 
of 9 months from the date of grant, a further one-
third are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months 
from the date of grant, and the remaining one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from 
the date of grant.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Notes: (continued)

b. During the year under review, the following share options were effective under the Share Option Scheme of the 
Company (continued):

Date of grant

Exercise 
price per 

share Exercise period Remark

(HK$)

(vi) 20 September 2010 4.580 20 June 2011 to 19 September 2016: one-third 
of the said share options are exercisable after the 
expiry of 9 months from the date of grant, a further 
one-third are exercisable after the expiry of 18 
months from the date of grant, and the remaining 
one-third are exercisable after the expiry of 27 
months from the date of grant.

(vii) 3 May 2011 7.614 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017: one-third of the 
said share options are exercisable after the expiry of 
9 months from the date of grant, a further one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months from 
the date of grant, and the remaining one-third are 
exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from the 
date of grant.

(viii) 9 August 2011 6.472 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017: one-third of the said 
share options are exercisable after the expiry of 9 
months from the date of grant, a further one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months from 
the date of grant, and the remaining one-third are 
exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from the 
date of grant.

(ix) 4 June 2012 2.740 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018: one-third of these 
share options are exercisable after the expiry of 9 
months from the date of grant, a further one-third 
are exercisable after the expiry of 18 months from 
the date of grant, and the remaining one-third are 
exercisable after the expiry of 27 months from the 
date of grant.

A maximum of 75,000,000 
share opt ions under the 
Share Option Scheme were 
offered by the Company, 
where the grantees have 
an option to choose from 
share opt ions, awarded 
shares or a combination 
of both (if appropriate). A 
total of 49,000,000 share 
op t i ons  we re  accep ted 
by  and g ran ted  to  t he 
grantees, among which a 
total of 24,220,134 share 
options were granted to the 
Directors of the Company. 
Further details of the said 
share options were set out 
in the announcement of 
the Company dated 4 June 
2012.
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ts 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

c. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was HK$3.33 
(2011: HK$6.56) per share.

d. The fair value of the options granted during the year ended 31 December 2012 was HK$50,960,000 (HK$1.04 
each) (2011: HK$49,353,000 in total, HK$2.85 each), of which the Group recognised a share option expense of 
HK$23,648,000 (2011: HK$17,757,000) during the year.

The following assumptions were used to derive the fair value, using the binomial model:

Options granted on 16 January 2006

    Modification on 
 At grant date Modification on 30 June 2006 Modification on 3 July 2007 11 March 2010
    

(i) Exercise period 17 October 2006 to 17 July 2006 to 17 July 2006 to 17 July 2006 to 17 July 2006 to 17 July 2006 to
   15 July 2009  15 January 2008  15 April 2010  15 January 2011  15 January 2011  15 January 2012

(ii) Expected volatility 50% per annum 50% per annum 55% per annum 39% per annum 38% per annum 91.75% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 1.72 years 1.25 years 2.46 years 1.08 years 1.13 years 1.85 years

(iv) Average risk-free 3.66% per annum 4.48% per annum 4.56% per annum 4.44% per annum 4.44% per annum 0.56% per annum
  interest rate

(v) Early exercise When the share price When the share price When the share price When the share price When the share price When the share price
  assumption  is at least 175% of   is at least 175% of  is at least 210% of  is at least 150% of  is at least 150% of  is at least 150% of
   the exercise price the exercise price  the exercise price  the exercise price  the exercise price  the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 0% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of 20% per annum for 20% per annum for the first year after 30% per annum for the first year after N/A
  leaving service  the first year after   the grant date and 15% per annum  the grant date and 25% per annum
   the grant date and   thereafter  thereafter
   15% per annum 
   thereafter

Options granted on 30 June 2006

   Modification on
 At grant date Modification on 3 July 2007 11 March 2010
   

(i) Exercise period 1 April 2007 to  1 April 2007 to  1 April 2007 to 1 April 2007 to 1 April 2007 to 1 April 2007 to 1 April 2007 to
   31 December 2009  30 September 2010  30 June 2008  30 June 2011  30 June 2011  30 June 2011  30 June 2012

(ii) Expected volatility 55% per annum 55% per annum 50% per annum 39% per annum 39% per annum 39% per annum 85.38% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 2.87 years 3.22 years 1.64 years 1.15 years 1.15 years 1.81 years 2.31 years

(iv) Average risk-free 4.59% per annum 4.61% per annum 4.50% per annum 4.48% per annum 4.48% per annum 4.48% per annum 0.72% per annum
  interest rate

(v) Early exercise When the share When the share When the share When the share When the share When the share When the share
  assumption  price is at least  price is at least  price is at least  price is at least  price is at least  price is at least  price is at least
   210% of the   210% of the  175% of the  150% of the  150% of the  150% of the  150% of the
   exercise price  exercise price  exercise price  exercise price  exercise price  exercise price  exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend  1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 1% per annum 0% per annum
  yield

(vii) Estimated rate of  20% per annum for the first year after the grant date 30% per annum for the first year after the grant date N/A
  leaving service  and 15% per annum thereafter  and 25% per annum thereafter
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Notes: (continued)

d. The following assumptions were used to derive the fair value, using the binomial model (continued):

Options granted on 5 July 2007

  At grant date Modification on 11 March 2010
   

(i) Exercise period 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2012 5 April 2008 to 4 July 2013

(ii) Expected volatility 41% per annum 77.56% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 1.16 years 3.32 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 4.60% per annum 1.08% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least  When the share price is at least
   150% of the exercise price  150% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 1% per annum 0% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 30% per annum for the first  N/A
   year after the grant date and 
   25% per annum thereafter

Options granted on 11 March 2010

  At grant date
  

(i) Exercise period 11 December 2010 to 10 March 2016

(ii) Expected volatility 69.69% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 6 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 1.98% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least 150% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 0% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 0% per annum
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ts 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

d. The following assumptions were used to derive the fair value, using the binomial model (continued):

Options granted on 25 May 2010

  At grant date
  

(i) Exercise period 25 February 2011 to 24 May 2016

(ii) Expected volatility 70.05% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 6 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 1.82% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least 150% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 0% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 0% per annum

Options granted on 20 September 2010

  At grant date
  

(i) Exercise period 20 June 2011 to 19 September 2016

(ii) Expected volatility 69.31% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 6 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 1.47% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least 280% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 2.51% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 0% per annum

Options granted on 3 May 2011

  At grant date
  

(i) Exercise period 3 February 2012 to 2 May 2017

(ii) Expected volatility 71.49% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 6 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 1.96% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least 180% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 3.99% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 0% per annum
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Notes: (continued)

d. The following assumptions were used to derive the fair value, using the binomial model (continued):

Options granted on 9 August 2011

  At grant date
  

(i) Exercise period 9 May 2012 to 8 August 2017

(ii) Expected volatility 69.559% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 6 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 1.105% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least 180% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 4.313% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 0% per annum

Share options granted on 4 June 2012

  At grant date
  

(i) Exercise period 4 March 2013 to 3 June 2018

(ii) Expected volatility 70.841% per annum

(iii) Estimated average life 6 years

(iv) Average risk-free interest rate 0.514% per annum

(v) Early exercise assumption When the share price is at least 180% of the exercise price

(vi) Expected dividend yield 7.811% per annum

(vii) Estimated rate of leaving service 0% per annum

The volatility rate of the share price of the Company was determined with reference to the historical volatilities of 
the share prices of the Company as extracted from Bloomberg.

BMI Appraisals Limited has been appointed to perform the valuation of the share options newly granted on 4 June 
2012.

As at 31 December 2012, the Company had 110,312,369 share options outstanding under the Share Option 
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of the 
Company, result in the issue of 110,312,369 additional ordinary shares of the Company. Total funds raised from 
the exercise of the outstanding share options would be HK$371,114,000 which represents additional share capital 
of HK$110,312,000 and share premium of HK$260,802,000 (before issue expenses).
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Share Award Scheme A adopted by the Company on 3 July 2007 was terminated on 23 October 2009, and 
the Board resolved to adopt another share award scheme, Share Award Scheme B, on 11 March 2008. 
Share Award Scheme B aims to provide incentives to employees and to retain and encourage employees 
to contribute to the continual operation and development of the Group, pursuant to which existing shares 
will be purchased by the trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in the 
Share Award Scheme Trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares vest with the relevant 
selected employees in accordance with the provisions of Share Award Scheme B. On 17 March 2011, Share 
Award Scheme B was amended by the Group, pursuant to which, as an alternative to purchase of shares 
on the market for any awards made under Share Award Scheme B, the Board may allot and issue shares 
as awarded shares and has the discretion to decide whether the awarded shares are to be purchased or 
subscribed.

The trustee purchased 105,898,000 shares of the Company at a total cost (including related transaction 
costs) of HK$33,469,000 during the year ended 31 December 2008, and 15,778,000 shares of the Company 
at a total cost (including related transaction costs) of HK$71,256,000 during the year ended 31 December 
2011.

Under the Share Award Scheme B of the Company, shares of the Company would be transfered to the 
employees by the trustee or through allotment and issurance of shares at nil consideration upon vesting. 
During the year under review, the trustee transferred a total of 2,100,932 shares to the awardees and a total 
of 1,203,280 shares were allotted and issued to awardees upon vesting of those shares awarded under 
Share Award Scheme B. The total cost of the related vested shares was HK$2,838,000. As at 31 December 
2012, the carrying amount of shares held for the Share Award Scheme was HK$77,870,000 (31 December 
2011: HK$80,708,000).

The following awarded shares were outstanding under Share Award Scheme B of the Company during the 
year:

 Number of awarded shares
 

 At Granted Vested Lapsed At Remaining
 1 January during during during 31 December vesting period Fair value 
Date of grant 2012 the year the year the year  2012 (both dates inclusive) per share
      (Note b) (HK$)

11 March 2010 500,000 – (500,000) – – N/A 3.02

3 May 2011 1,923,482 – (633,806) (160,671) 1,129,005 1 January 2013 to 7.10
      3 May 2014

9 August 2011 596,479 – (198,826) – 397,653 1 January 2013 to 5.75
      9 August 2014

29 August 2011 2,305,000 – (768,300) (60,001) 1,476,699 1 January 2013 to 4.62
      1 May 2014

4 June 2012 – 27,000,000 – (378,000) 26,622,000 1 January 2013 to 2.74
      4 June 2015

Total 5,324,961 27,000,000 (2,100,932) (598,672) 29,625,357
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37. SHARE AWARD SCHEMES (continued)
Notes:

a. During the year under review, outstanding awarded shares of the directors of the Company, employes and those 
who have contributed to the Group are as follows:

 Number of awarded shares 

 At Granted Vested Lapsed At  Remaining
 1 January during during during 31 December  vesting period Fair value
 2012 the year  the year the year 2012 Date of grant (both dates inclusive) per share 
       (Note b) (HK$)

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Aiping 500,000 – (500,000) – – 11 March 2010 N/A 3.02
Mr. WANG Jiyang 596,479 – (198,826) – 397,653 9 August 2011 1 January 2013 to 5.75
       9 August 2014

Sub-total 1,096,479 – (698,826) – 397,653

Employees and those 
 who have 1,923,482 – (633,806) (160,671) 1,129,005 3 May 2011 1 January 2013 to 7.10
 contributed or may       3 May 2014
 contribute to the 
 Group 2,305,000 – (768,300) (60,001) 1,476,699 29 August 2011 1 January 2013 to 4.62
       1 May 2014 
 – 27,000,000 – (378,000) 26,622,000 4 June 2012 1 January 2013 to 2.74
       4 June 2015 

Sub-total 4,228,482 27,000,000 (1,402,106) (598,672) 29,227,704

Total 5,324,961 27,000,000 (2,100,932) (598,672) 29,625,357

b. During the year under review, the following awarded shares were effective under the Share Award Scheme B of the 
Company:

Date of grant
Number of awarded 
shares granted Vesting period Remark

11 March 2010 The grant of 6,300,000 awarded shares 
approved by the Board to be awarded to 
designated employees.

10 September 2010 to 31 December 2012.

3 May 2011 A maximum of 11,500,000 awarded shares 
offered by the Board to be awarded to 
designated employees under Share Award 
Scheme B, among which a total of 1,962,482 
awarded shares were accepted by the 
awardees.

3 May 2012 to 3 May 2014; one-third of the said 
awarded shares would be vested after the expiry of 1 
year from the date of grant, a further one-third would be 
vested after the expiry of 2 years from the date of grant, 
and the remaining one-third would be vested after the 
expiry of 3 years from the date of grant.

Further details of the said awarded 
s h a r e s  w e r e  s e t  o u t  i n  t h e 
announcements of the Company 
dated 3 May 2011 and 4 August 
2011 respectively.

9 August 2011 The grant o f  596,479 awarded shares 
approved by the Board to be awarded to a 
Director.

9 August 2012 to 9 August 2014; one-third of the said 
awarded shares would be vested after the expiry of 1 
year from the date of grant, a further one-third would be 
vested after the expiry of 2 years from the date of grant, 
and the remaining one-third would be vested after the 
expiry of 3 years from the date of grant.

Further details of the said awarded 
s h a r e s  w e r e  s e t  o u t  i n  t h e 
announcement of the Company 
dated 9 August 2011.

29 August 2011 The grant of 2,305,000 awarded shares 
approved by the Board to be awarded to 
designated employees.

1 May 2012 to 1 May 2014; one-third of the said awarded 
shares would be vested after the expiry of 8 months from 
the date of grant, a further one-third would be vested after 
the expiry of 20 months from the date of grant, and the 
remaining one-third would be vested after the expiry of 32 
months from the date of grant.

4 June 2012 A maximum of 40,000,000 awarded shares 
offered by the Board to be awarded to 
designated employees, among which a total 
of 27,000,000 awarded shares were accepted 
by the awardees.

4 June 2013 to 4 June 2015; one-third of the said 
awarded shares would be vested after the expiry of 1 
year from the date of grant, a further one-third would be 
vested after the expiry of 2 years from the date of grant, 
and the remaining one-third would be vested after the 
expiry of 3 years from the date of grant.

Further details of the said awarded 
s h a r e s  w e r e  s e t  o u t  i n  t h e 
announcement of the Company 
dated 4 June 2012.
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(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 84 and 85 of the financial 
report.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value of the shares and the 
share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation prior to the 
listing of the Company’s shares, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange 
therefor.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain portion of the profits of the Group’s 
subsidiaries established in the PRC should be transferred to the statutory reserve which are restricted 
as to use.

The Group’s other reserve represents the excess of the consideration over the carrying amount of net 
asset acquired in business combination under common control.

(b) Company
       Shares   
          held for    (Accumulated
   Share Share Awarded Share Proposed losses)/ 
  Contributed premium Award share option final retained
  surplus account Scheme reserve reserve dividend profits Total
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011  669,907 226,411 (11,032) 1,499 56,653 184,805 (109,215) 1,019,028

Profit for the year 13 – – – – – – 754,735 754,735

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year  – – – – – – 754,735 754,735
Exercise of share options  – 46,418 – – (20,169) – – 26,249
Reclassification of lapsed 
 share options  – 116 – – (116) – – –
Equity-settled share option 
 arrangements  – – – – 33,644 – – 33,644
Share Award Scheme 
 arrangements  – – – 9,971 – – – 9,971
Reclassification of vested 
 awarded shares  – (70) 1,580 (1,510) – – – –
Shares purchased for Share 
 Award Scheme  – 7,615 (71,256) – – – – (63,641)
Shares repurchased  – (3,165) – – – – – (3,165)
2010 final dividend declared  – (630) – – – (184,805) – (185,435)
2011 interim dividend declared 14 – – – – – – (153,342) (153,342)
Proposed 2011 final dividend 14 – – – – – 167,384 (167,384) –

At 31 December 2011  669,907* 276,695* (80,708) 9,960* 70,012* 167,384 324,794* 1,438,044
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38. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (continued)

       Shares 
        held for    Retained 
   Share Share Awarded Share Proposed profits/
  Contributed premium Award share option  final (accumulated
  surplus account Scheme reserve reserve dividend losses) Total
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012  669,907 276,695 (80,708) 9,960 70,012 167,384 324,794 1,438,044

Loss for the year 13 – – – – – – (319,785) (319,785)

Total comprehensive loss 
 for the year  – – – – – – (319,785) (319,785)
Exercise of share options  – 29,284 – – (15,726) – – 13,558
Issue of new shares under 
 Share Award Scheme  – 5,435 – (6,638) – – – (1,203)
Reclassification of lapsed 
 share options  – 2,498 – – (2,498) – – –
Equity-settled share option 
 arrangements  – – – – 42,854 – – 42,854
Share Award Scheme 
 arrangements  – – – 38,256 – – – 38,256
Reclassification of vested 
 awarded shares  – 1,227 2,838 (4,065) – – – –
2011 final dividend declared  – – – – – (167,384) (1,031) (168,415)
2012 interim dividend declared 14 – – – – – – (33,849) (33,849)

At 31 December 2012  669,907* 315,139* (77,870) 37,513* 94,642* – (29,871)* 1,009,460

* These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of HK$1,087,330,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,351,368,000) 
in the statement of financial position.

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value of the shares and the 
share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the 
listing of the Company’s shares, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange 
therefor.

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2012, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

 Group Company
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Guarantees given to banks in connection 
 with facilities granted to subsidiaries – – 16,907,624 13,393,623

As at 31 December 2012, the banking facilities granted to the subsidiaries subject to guarantees given 
to the banks by the Company were utilised to the extent of HK$11,993,964,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$8,531,097,000).
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The Group leases certain of its office premises, warehouses and staff dormitories under operating lease 
arrangements. Leases for these properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2012, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases falling due as follows:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Within one year 25,186 48,641
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 25,004 35,668

 50,190 84,309

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2012, the Group had the following capital commitments:

 Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Property, plant and equipment:
 Contracted, but not provided for 106,885 4,311
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the 
following material transactions with related parties during the year.
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
  (Restated)
 

Transactions with the ultimate holding company:
 Brand management fee/TCL Brand Common Fund* 18,119 5,636
 Fees and commission 2,447 556
 Interest expenses – 350
 Purchases of raw materials** 883,847 623,896
 Administration fee for purchases of raw materials** 3,775 2,305
 Short-term loan obtained – 974,070
 Technology service expense 521 114
 Sales of products 14 –

Transactions with the immediate holding company:
 Long-term loan obtained*** 116,382 –
 Interest expenses 3,845 –

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
 Purchases of raw materials** 577,484 441,796
 Interest income 2,594 3,645
 Rental charges** 24,142 16,593
 Fees and commission 11 28
 Sales of raw materials** 2,434 629
 Sales of products and spare parts** 8,466 2,397
 Purchase of products** 57 85
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment** 328 2,562
 Value-added service income – 642
 Purchase of intangible assets** – 7,251
 Transportation expenses 1,884 1,134
 Service expenses 4,863 –

* The brand management fee/TCL Brand Common Fund was charged on a certain percentage of sales of 
products with “TCL” brand. The percentage was mutually agreed between the two parties.

** The sales, purchases, administration fee for purchases of raw materials and leasehold transactions with the 
related parties were made according to prices mutually agreed between two parties.

*** The long-term loan obtained from the immediate holding company is unsecured, bears interest at the 
effective contractual interest rate of 5% per annum and with a payment term of three years.

(b) Other transaction with related parties
i. The Company’s ultimate holding company has guaranteed certain bank loans made to the 

Group of up to HK$1,134,817,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,001,191,000) as at the end of 
the reporting period, as further detailed in note 28 to the financial statements.

ii. On 17 October 2012, Huizhou TCL Mobile entered into a transfer agreement with TCL King 
Electrical Appliances (Huizhou) Co., Ltd. (“TCL King”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
TCL Corporation) to transfer a land located Huizhou, Guangdong Province, The PRC, together 
with affiliated buildings. The total consideration of the transferred land and affiliated buildings 
was RMB13,008,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$15,870,000).
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(c) Commitments with related parties
i. On 9 August 2012 and 17 December 2012, Huizhou TCL Mobile entered into construction 

management agreements with Huizhou TCL Real Estate (Huizhou) Co., Ltd, a non-wholly owned 
subsidiary of TCL Corporation, pursuant to which Huizhou TCL Mobile appoints TCL Real 
Estate (Huizhou) Co., Ltd. to provide construction management services on its two construction 
projects. The service fees are expected not to exceed RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to 
HK$7,380,000) and RMB11,000,000 (equivalent to HK$13,530,000), respectively. The service 
fees are determined on normal commercial terms and are reached after arm-length negotiation. 
During the year, Huizhou TCL Mobile paid HK$2,703,000 under the said construction 
management agreements.

ii. On 17 October 2012, a tripartite construction agreement on a land located in Huizhou, 
Guangdong Province, the PRC (Land No. 38) was entered into among Huizhou TCL Mobile, 
TCL King and TCL Technoly Electronics (Huizhou) Co., Ltd. (“TCL Technoly”, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of TCL Corporation), pursuant to which Huizhou TCL Mobile, as the owner of the 
land use rights of Land No. 38, shall execute various contracts in relation to the construction 
projects on Land No. 38 on behalf of TCL King and TCL Technoly. Once those relevant 
conditions in relation to the relevant portion of Land No. 38 of each of TCL King and TCL 
Technoly have been satisfied, Huizhou TCL Mobile shall enter into a transfer agreement 
with each of them to transfer the relevant portion of Land No. 38 together with the buildings 
thereon to each of TCL King and TCL Technoly according to the agreed proportion. The total 
consideration for the transfer is RMB72,921,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$88,964,000), 
comprising of RMB42,212,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$51,499,000) to be paid by 
TCL King and RMB30,709,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$37,465,000 to be paid by TCL 
Technoly. During the year, no consideration was paid by Huizhou TCL Mobile under the tripartie 
construction agreement.

(d) Outstanding balances with related parties
Group
 Due from related  Due to related 
 companies companies
 2012 2011 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Current:
 The ultimate holding company 14,599 12,219 9,008 3,950
 Fellow subsidiaries 14,913 1,459 103,818 161,260

 29,512 13,678 112,826 165,210

Non-current:
 The immediate holding company – – 116,274 –

 29,512 13,678 229,100 165,210

The balances are mainly trading balances which are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed 
terms of repayment, except for a long-term loan from the immediate holding company amounting 
to HK$116,274,000 (31 December 2011: Nil) which is unsecured, bears interest at the effective 
contractual interest rate of 5% per annum and with a payment term of three years.
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(e) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000
  (Restated)
 

Short-term employee benefits 13,135 25,483
Post-employment benefits 1,922 2,069
Equity-settled share option and Share Award Scheme expenses 22,312 14,337

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 37,369 41,889

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 11 to the 
financial statements.

The transactions with related parties above also constitute continuing connected transactions or connected 
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

2012
Financial assets
 Group
 Financial
 assets at
 fair value   Available-
 through  for-sale
 profit or Loans and financial 
 loss receivables assets Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments (note 22) – – 26,272 26,272
Trade receivables (note 24) – 2,842,494 – 2,842,494
Factored trade receivables (note 25) – 432,334 – 432,334
Notes receivable – 39,220 – 39,220
Financial assets included in prepayments, 
 deposits and other receivables – 726,747 – 726,747
Due from related companies (note 42(d)) – 29,512 – 29,512
Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 145,894 – – 145,894
Pledged deposits (note 27) – 4,221,125 – 4,221,125
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) – 969,789 – 969,789

 145,894 9,261,221 26,272 9,433,387
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The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows (continued):

2012
Financial liabilities
 Group
 Financial
 liabilities Financial 
 at fair value liabilities
 through at amortised 
 profit or loss cost Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest bearing bank and other borrowings (note 28) – 5,920,180 5,920,180
Trade and notes payables (note 29) – 2,428,661 2,428,661
Bank advances on factored trade receivables
 (note 25) – 432,334 432,334
Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 96,282 – 96,282
Financial liabilities included in other 
 payables and accruals – 909,372 909,372
Loan from a related company (note 42(d)) – 116,274 116,274
Due to related companies (note 42(d)) – 112,826 112,826

 96,282 9,919,647 10,015,929

2011
Financial assets
 Group
 Financial
 assets at
 fair value   Available-
 through  for-sale
 profit or Loans and financial 
 loss receivables assets Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments (note 22) – – 26,272 26,272
Trade receivables (note 24) – 2,584,768 – 2,584,768
Factored trade receivables (note 25) – 309,960 – 309,960
Notes receivable – 53,470 – 53,470
Financial assets included in prepayments, 
 deposits and other receivables – 449,416 – 449,416
Due from related companies (note 42(d)) – 13,678 – 13,678
Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 148,693 – – 148,693
Pledged deposits (note 27) – 6,092,411 – 6,092,411
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) – 1,186,637 – 1,186,637

 148,693 10,690,340 26,272 10,865,305
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows (continued):

2011
Financial liabilities
 Group
 Financial
 liabilities Financial 
 at fair value liabilities
 through at amortised
 profit or loss cost Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest bearing bank and other borrowings (note 28) – 7,222,256 7,222,256
Trade and notes payables (note 29) – 1,952,129 1,952,129
Bank advances on factored trade receivables
 (note 25) – 309,960 309,960
Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 71,157 – 71,157
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals – 619,397 619,397
Due to related companies (note 42(d)) – 165,210 165,210

 71,157 10,268,952 10,340,109

Financial assets
 Company
 2012 2011
 Loans and Loans and
 receivables receivables
 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Due from subsidiaries (note 20) 1,476,352 1,380,096
Other receivables (note 26) 5,682 –
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) 3,444 3,831

 1,485,478 1,383,927

Financial liabilities
 Company
 2012 2011
 Financial Financial
 liabilities at liabilities at
 amortised amortised
 cost cost
 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Due to subsidiaries (note 20) 198,717 105,052
Other payables and accruals 8,900 15,164
Interest bearing bank and other borrowings (note 28) 193,790 –

 401,407 120,216
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Financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety
As part of its normal business, the Group factored trade receivables to banks on a recourse basis for cash. 
In the opinion of the directors, as the Group still retained the risks and rewards associated with the delay in 
payment by the customers, the financial asset derecognition conditions as stipulated in HKAS 39 have not 
been fulfilled. The Group continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the factored trade receivables, 
and accordingly, bank advances from the factoring of the Group’s trade receivables have been accounted 
for as liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. Subsequent to the transfer, the Group 
does not retain any rights on the use of the trade receivables, including sale, transfer or pledge of the trade 
receivables to any other third parties. The aggregate carrying amount of trade receivables transferred as at 
31 December 2012 amounted to HK$470,324,000 (31 December 2011: HK$369,538,000) and the carrying 
amount of bank advances on factored trade receivables as at 31 December 2012 was HK$432,334,000 (31 
December 2011: HK$309,960,000) (note 25).

45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments approximate to their fair 
values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could 
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, notes receivable, 
factored trade receivables, trade and notes payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits 
and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amounts due from/to 
related companies, current interest bearing bank and other borrowings and bank advances on factored 
trade receivables approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments.

The fair value of the non-current interest bearing bank and other borrowings and loan from a related company 
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for 
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

At 31 December 2012, the available-for-sale investments of HK$26,272,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$26,272,000) (note 22) were unlisted equity investments and stated at cost less any impairment losses as 
the fair value cannot be reliably measured because the probabilities of the various estimates within the range 
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value.

The Group enters into Euro, GBP, RUB and BRL forward contracts and interest rate swap transactions with 
international banks with A and B credit ratings with Moody’s. The RMB deliverable forward contracts involving 
derivative financial instruments are mainly with the biggest national banks in Mainland China. The RMB non-
deliverable forward contracts are mainly with international banks with A and B credit ratings with Moody’s. 
Derivative financial instruments, including forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, are measured 
using valuation techniques similar to forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. 
The models incorporate various market observable inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, 
foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. The carrying amounts of forward currency 
contracts and interest rate swaps are the same as their fair values.

As at 31 December 2012, the market to market value of the derivative asset position is net of a credit 
valuation adjustment attributable to derivative counterparty default risk. The changes in counterparty credit 
risk had no material effect on the hedge effectiveness assessment for derivatives designated in hedge 
relationship and other financial instruments recognised at fair value.
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45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (continued)
Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which all inputs which have a significant 
effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which any inputs which have a significant 
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

As at 31 December 2012, the financial instruments measured at fair value held by the Group only include the 
derivative financial instruments which belong to Level 2.

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise interest bearing bank and 
other borrowings, loan from a related company and cash and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these 
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial 
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swaps and forward 
currency contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s 
operations and its sources of finance.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial 
instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. The 
Group also enters into forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps so as to manage the currency risk 
arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance. The Group does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments except for forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps for trading purposes. The 
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised as follows:

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest 
bearing bank borrowings with a combination of fixed and floating rate debts. The Group also held interest 
rate swap contracts designated as hedges in respect of expected interest payments for floating rate debts 
incurred by the Group.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the United States dollar 
interest rate of the Group’s bank loans and interest rate swap, with all other variables held constant, of the 
Group’s (loss)/profit before tax and the Group’s equity.

  Increase/
 Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
 (decrease) in (loss)/profit (decrease)
 in basis points before tax in equity*
  HK$’000 HK$’000

2012
United States dollar 25 1,148 2,096
United States dollar (25) (1,148) (1,915)

2011
United States dollar 25 (800) 1,065
United States dollar (25) 800 (1,108)

* Excluding retained profits
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Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales or purchases by 
operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies, where the revenue is predominately in 
Euro, United States dollars, Brazil real, Russian ruble and RMB. The Group uses forward currency contracts 
to reduce the foreign currency exposures.

It is the Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the hedging instruments to match the terms of the hedged 
item to maximise hedge effectiveness.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 
change in the Euro and RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s (loss)/
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities and non-hedging forward 
currency contracts) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in the fair value of hedging forward currency 
contracts).

   Increase/
 Increase/ (decrease)
 (decrease) in (loss)/ Increase/
 in exchange profit (decrease)
 rate before tax in equity*
  HK$’000 HK$’000

2012
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against Euro (5%) (6,633) (58,841)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against Euro 5% 6,633 58,841
If RMB weakens against United States dollar (5%) 197,922 (187,450)
If RMB strengthens against United States dollar 5% (197,922) 187,450

2011
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against Euro (5%) 1,817 (10,058)
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against Euro 5% (1,817) 10,058
If RMB weakens against United States dollar (5%) 66,819 (257,256)
If RMB dollar strengthens against United States dollar 5% (66,819) 257,256

* Excluding retained profits

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, other 
receivables, amounts due from related companies, and trade receivables, arises from default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. The Company is 
also exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed 
in note 39 to the financial statements.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount 
of each individual trade receivable to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable 
amounts. Besides, the Group also utilises factoring facilities and credit insurance to minimise credit risk. In 
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is minimal.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Concentration of credit risk is analysed by customer/counterparty and by geographical region. There is no 
significant concentration of credit risk with the Group.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and 
other receivables are disclosed in note 24 and note 26 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers 
the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash 
flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use 
of interest bearing bank and other borrowings. The maturity profiles of the Group’s borrowings and derivative 
financial instruments are disclosed in notes 28 and 30 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2012, other financial liabilities excluding interest bearing bank and borrowings, 
derivative financial instruments and a loan from a related company of HK$18,611,000 (31 December 2011: 
HK$22,957,000) and HK$3,864,582,000 (31 December 2011: HK$3,023,739,000), would be on demand and 
would mature within one year respectively.

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new 
shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years 
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.
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Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net 
debt. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at an appropriate level. Net debt includes interest 
bearing bank and other borrowings, trade and notes payables, bank advances on factored trade receivables, 
other payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies and loan from a related company, less cash 
and cash equivalents and pledged deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the parent. The 
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

Group
 2012 2011
 HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Interest bearing bank and other borrowings 5,920,180 7,222,256
Trade and notes payables 2,428,661 1,952,129
Bank advances on factored trade receivables 432,334 309,960
Other payables and accruals 1,620,401 1,431,091
Due to related companies 112,826 165,210
Loan from a related company 116,274 –
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 969,789 1,186,637
    Pledged deposits 4,221,125 6,092,411

Net debt 5,439,762 3,801,598

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 2,321,111 2,668,622

Equity attributable to owners of the parent and net debt 7,760,873 6,470,220

Gearing ratio 70% 59%

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No significant events occurred after the end of the reporting period and up to the approval date of the 
financial statements.

48. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with the current year’s 
presentation for better presentation of the financial statements.

49. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 26 February 2013.
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Five Years 
Financial 

Summary
31 December 2012

 Year ended 31 December
 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

RESULTS

REVENUE 12,031,212 10,653,020 8,700,694 4,360,886 4,538,281
Cost of sales (9,934,637) (8,324,789) (6,752,342) (3,412,196) (3,726,663)

Gross profit 2,096,575 2,328,231 1,948,352 948,690 811,618
Other income and gains 542,841 508,225 278,179 169,964 273,391
Research and development costs (739,654) (459,223) (357,179) (247,113) (262,924)
Selling and distribution expenses (1,153,653) (866,262) (619,627) (366,084) (389,388)
Administrative expenses (657,535) (558,074) (436,299) (340,366) (393,191)
Other operating expenses (109,289) (28,116) (5,317) (25,601) (1,588)
Finance costs excluding interest on 
 convertible bonds (166,009) (140,051) (62,976) (39,139) (28,393)
Share of losses of associates (1,753) (1,381) (1,388) (1,455) –
Share of profit/(loss) of
 a jointly-controlled entity – – 1,130 59 (1,399)

 (188,477) 783,349 744,875 98,955 8,126

Changes in fair value of the derivative 
 component of convertible bonds – – – (58,037) 68,078
Interest on convertible bonds – – – (6,839) (39,959)

(Loss)/profit before tax (188,477) 783,349 744,875 34,079 36,245
Income tax (31,551) 17,296 (43,105) (11,074) (7,754)

(Loss)/profit for the year (220,028) 800,645 701,770 23,005 28,491

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
 Owners of the parent (207,840) 799,934 701,884 23,005 28,491
 Non-controlling interests (12,188) 711 (114) – –

 (220,028) 800,645 701,770 23,005 28,491

 As at 31 December
 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND 
 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Total assets 13,320,833 14,026,819 12,253,648 6,765,926 4,564,436
Total liabilities (10,998,207) (11,353,748) (10,031,464) (5,671,225) (3,499,633)
Non-controlling interests (1,515) (4,449) (3,738) – –

 2,321,111 2,668,622 2,218,446 1,094,701 1,064,803
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